THESIS ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES B192

B-plexins Regulate the Maturation of Neurons Through Microtubule Dynamics

PIRET LAHT



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Faculty of Science Department of Gene Technology

Dissertation was accepted for the defence of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Gene Technology on 24.08.2015.

- Supervisor: Associate professor **Andres Veske**, PhD, Department of Gene Technology, Faculty of Natural and Exact Sciences, Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia
- Opponents: Professor Dr. Udo Bartsch, Department of Ophthalmology, University Medical Center Hamburg, Eppendorf, Germany

Associate professor **Sulev Ingerpuu** PhD, Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Defense of the thesis: 09.10.2015 at 12:00, Akadeemia tee 15-109, Tallinn

Declaration:

Hereby I declare that this doctoral thesis, my original investigation and achievement, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology has not been submitted for any academic degree. /Piret Laht/

The studies described in this thesis were performed at the Department of Gene Technology of Tallinn University of Technology. The research in this thesis was supported by grant 0140143 from Estonian Ministry of Education and Research, Estonian Research Council institutional research funding IUT 19-18 and Competence Centre for Cancer Research (CCCR).





Copyright: Piret Laht, 2015 ISSN 1406-4723 ISBN 978-9949-23-838-5 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-23-839-2 (PDF)





LOODUS- JA TÄPPISTEADUSED B192

B-pleksiinid mõjutavad mikrotorukeste liikumise kaudu närvirakkude küpsemist

PIRET LAHT



CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
ABBREVIATIONS	9
1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	11
1.1 History of Plexinology	11
1.2 Ligands and co-receptors of plexins	13
1.3 Plexins and semaphorins in the nervous system	15
1.3.1 Proliferation and migration of cells	15
1.3.2 Axon guidance and dendrite growth	17
1.3.3 Synaptogenesis	17
1.3.4 Plexins and semaphorins in neuropsychiatric disorders	19
1.4 Plexins in different organs	21
1.5 Plexin structure	22
1.6 Plexin signalling	25
1.6.1 The superfamily of small GTPases	25
1.6.2 RasGAP activity	27
1.6.3 Rho GTPases	29
1.6.4 Membranes, endocytosis and receptor trafficking	31
1.6.5 Cytoskeleton	32
1.7 Microtubule dynamics and neurons	33
1.8 Microtubule end binding EB/MAPRE family of proteins	34
1.8.1 Role of EBs in neurons	35
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	37
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	38
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	39
4.1 Semaphorins and plexins in different organisms	39
4.2 Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins	41
4.2.1 Yeast two-hybrid screen (publication I)	41
4.2.2 EB homology domain binds to the SxIP motif in the NTS of plex	ins
(publication I and unpublished)	41
4.3 Plexins influence microtubule dynamics (publication II)	44
4.3.1. B-plexins control movement of microtubule tips	44
4.3.2 Sema4D increases microtubule plus end dynamics in neurons	45
4.4 Plexin-B2 and B3 localization in neurons (publication III a	nd
unpublished)	46
4.5 B-plexins in dendrite growth (publication II)	47
4.6 B-plexins and synapses (publication III)	48
4.6.1 B-plexins are negative regulators of excitatory synapses	48
4.6.2 Plexin-B1 and B3 promote the formation of inhibitory synapses	49
4.7 Concluding remarks	51
CONCLUSIONS	52
REFERENCES	53

PUBLICATION I	
PUBLICATION II	
PUBLICATION III	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
ABSTRACT	
KOKKUVÕTE	
CURRICULUM VITAE	
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- Laht P, Pill K, Haller E, Veske A.
 Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Jul;1820(7):888-93.
- II. Laht P, Otsus M, Remm J, Veske A.
 B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendrite morphology of hippocampal neurons.
 Exp Cell Res. 2014 Aug 1;326(1):174-84.
- III. Laht P, Tammaru E, Otsus M, Rohtla J, Tiismus L, Veske A. Plexin-B3 suppresses excitatory and promotes inhibitory synapse formation in rat hippocampal neurons. Exp Cell Res. 2015 Jul 15;335(2):269-78.

INTRODUCTION

Development and functioning of the mammalian central nervous system (CNS) is a complicated multilevel task. A delicate balance has to be maintained between proliferation and apoptosis, migration and settling, neurite growth and pruning, attraction and repulsion, excitation and inhibition. It is like driving a car: you have to accelerate in order to get moving but you also need functional brakes to avoid crashing. Regulation of these processes is governed by a multitude of signalling molecules that are expressed by specific subsets of cells. Semaphorins and their receptors plexins and neuropilins are a group of guidance proteins that participate in all stages of CNS development: proliferation, migration, axon guidance, dendritic orientation, synaptogenesis, neuron survival and synaptic plasticity; and are thus important mediators of intercellular relations. Although class B plexins are widely expressed in the brain, certain aspects of their biology have remained poorly characterized.

The aim of this study was to identify novel protein-protein interactions of Plexin-B3 intracellular part and their functional significance. Since we found that Plexin-B1 and B3 can bind to microtubule end binding proteins (EB1, EB2 and EB3) we hypothesized that B-plexins regulate microtubule dynamics and through that also dendritogenesis and synaptogenesis.

Microtubule cytoskeleton is a key determinant in generating and maintaining neuronal morphology and function. Remodelling and reorganization of microtubules is required for the recognition of guidance cues, neurite growth as well as formation of synapses. EB proteins are central adaptors at microtubule tips that have been shown to form complexes with a variety of other proteins, but among these only a few transmembrane receptors have been described so far. To my best knowledge, no signalling pathways of class B-plexins have been described, that connect them directly to microtubule regulation. In this study, the role of all three B-type plexins was systematically analysed in the regulation of microtubule tip dynamics by following the behaviour of EB3-GFP reporter in live cells. Rat hippocampal neurons and different immunocytochemistry approaches were used to assess the importance of B-plexins in dendritic arbour development and synaptogenesis.

As a result we provide a novel insight into molecular mechanisms how semaphorin signals are transmitted to the cytoskeleton. Overall, our findings demonstrate that among their other functions B-plexins regulate microtubule growth, dendrite elongation and synapse formation, and hence could be connected to the pathogenesis of neurological disorders.

ABBREVIATIONS

+TIP – microtubule plus-end binding protein AMPA – α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid APC – adenomatosis polyposis coli protein ARHGEF - Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor ASD – autism spectrum disorders BDNF - brain-derived neurotrophic factor BTBD3 – BTB (POZ) domain containing 3 CAP-Gly - cytoskeleton associated proteins Gly-rich domain CH – calponin homology domain CLASP - CLIP-associated protein CNS - central nervous system CRMP - collapsin response mediator protein DCC - deleted in colorectal carcinoma, netrin 1 receptor DIV - days in vitro DLG – discs large homolog DRG - dorsal root ganglion EB – microtubule end binding protein ERBB-2 – erb-b2 receptor tyrosine kinase 2 (HER-2) F-actin – filamentous actin FARP – FERM, RhoGEF (ARHGEF) and pleckstrin domain protein FN - fibronectin repeat $GABA - \gamma$ -aminobutyric acid GAD65 – glutamate decarboxylase 2, 65kDa GAP – GTPase activating protein GDI - guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors GDNF – glial cell derived neurotrophic factor GDP – guanosine diphosphate GEF – guanine nucleotide exchange factors GFP – green fluorescent protein GnRH – gonadotropin-releasing hormone GPI – glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor GRB2 – growth factor receptor bound protein 2 GST – glutathione S-transferase GTP – guanosine triphosphate GTPase – guanosine triphosphate hydrolase GWAS – genome wide association study HGF - hepatocyte growth factor IC - intracellular domain Ig – immunoglobulin IP – immunoprecipitation IPT – immunoglobulin-like fold shared by plexins and transcription factors L1CAM – L1 cell adhesion molecule

LTD – long-term depression

LTP – long-term potentiation

MACF – microtubule actin crosslinking factor

MAP – microtubule associated protein

MAPRE – microtubule-associated protein, RP/EB family

MCAK – mitotic centromere associated kinesin (KIF2C - kinesin family member 2C)

 $\rm MICAL$ – microtubule associated monooxygenase, calponin and LIM domain containing; molecule interacting with CasL

MTip - microtubule plus-end

NGF – neurotrophic growth factor

NMDA – N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid

NRP – neuropilin

NTS – N-terminal segment

OPC – oligodendrocyte precursor cell

PAK – p21 protein (Cdc42/Rac)-activated kinase

PDZ – postsynaptic density protein (PSD95), Drosophila discs large tumor suppressor (Dlg1), and zonula occludens-1 protein (zo-1)

PDZ-BM – PDZ domain binding motif

PI3K – phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase

PIP5K – phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate 5-kinase

PKC – protein kinase C

PLC – phospholipase C

PLXN – plexin

PSD95 – post-synaptic density 95 kDa protein (DLG4)

PSI – protein domain found in plexins semaphorins and integrins

PTEN – phosphatase and tensin homolog

RanBP9 – Ran binding protein 9

RhoBD – Rho GTPase binding domain

ROCK – Rho-associated coiled-coil containing protein kinase

SEMA – semaphorin, Sema domain

TIRF – total internal reflection fluorescence

Trk – neurotrophic tyrosine kinase receptor

TSP – thrombospondin repeats;

VEGFR - vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

wt – wild type

1. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1 History of Plexinology

First plexin was discovered when a Japanese group screened for molecules that govern specific neuronal recognition between retinal axons and optic tectum in *Xenopus* tadpoles (Takagi et al., 1987). One of the obtained monoclonal antibodies recognized a 220 kDa neuronal cell surface protein in plexiform layers (Ohta et al., 1992) and from that the plexin family got its name. Subsequently plexin cDNAs were characterized in humans (Maestrini et al., 1996) and mice (Kameyama et al., 1996a, Kameyama et al., 1996b). The human family was initially named SEX family as the first cDNA mapped on the sex chromosome X and the gene was named *SEX* (Maestrini et al., 1996) (now we know this gene as *PLXNA3*). Both groups noticed that plexins had a significant similarity in their extracellular portion with Met-like receptor tyrosine kinases especially in cysteine-rich PSI domains.

The science of semaphorins started in the beginning of the 1990s. Alex Kolodkin, Corey Goodman and others studied factors regulating axon guidance in grasshopper and *Drosophila* and they described both transmembrane (Sema1a) and secreted semaphorins (Sema2a) in insects, and the first human semaphorin (SEMA3A) (Kolodkin et al., 1992, Kolodkin et al., 1993). Concurrently a secreted semaphorin (Sema3A) was discovered from chick that was called collapsin at the time since it caused collapse of sensory ganglion growth cones (Luo et al., 1993). The first grasshopper semaphorin was initially called Fascilin IV as it regulated axon fasciculation. Soon the name "semaphorins" became widely used for all proteins of that family. The name comes from the Greek word "*semaphora*" – showing the way.

First evidence that plexins are functional receptors for semaphorins emerged from the studies of vaccinia virus semaphorin A39R that bound to a transmembrane receptor on human B lymphocytes that belonged to the plexin family (Comeau et al., 1998). It was named virus-encoded semaphorin protein receptor (VESPR) and is now better known as Plexin-C1. This finding was supported by evidence from *Drosophila* that Plexin-A is a neuronal receptor for class 1 semaphorins (Winberg et al., 1998). The role of neuropilins as mediators of secreted (class 3) semaphorin signals was known before (Kolodkin et al., 1997, He and Tessier-Lavigne, 1997). Later it was shown that physiologic Sema3A receptors consist of plexin and neuropilin stable complexes (Takahashi et al., 1999).

In 1999 the names and nomenclature of semaphorins and plexins were unified (Semaphorin nomenclature committee, 1999, Tamagnone et al., 1999). Semaphorins were divided into eight classes according to the organisms and structure. Class 1 – transmembrane invertebrate semaphorins; class 2 – secreted invertebrate semaphorins; class 3 secreted vertebrate semaphorins; class 4 – transmembrane vertebrate semaphorins with Ig-like domain; class 5 –

transmembrane semaphorins with thrombospondin repeats; class 6 – transmembrane semaphorins with larger cytoplasmic domain; class 7 – semaphorins with a GPI anchor; class V – semaphorins encoded by different viruses. Plexins were grouped to four types: A, B, C and D (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Semaphorin and plexin families. Protein domain names: SEMA – semaphorin; PSI – plexins semaphorins integrins; Ig – immunoglobulin; TSP – thrombospondin repeats; GPI – glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor; IPT - immunoglobulin-like fold shared by plexins and transcription factors; NTS – N-terminal segment; GAP – GTPase activating protein; RhoBD – Rho GTPase binding domain; PDZ-BM – PDZ binding motif. Based on Tamagnone et al., 1999 and Perälä et al., 2012.

1.2 Ligands and co-receptors of plexins

The main ligands of plexins are semaphorins. Plexins can interact with semaphorins in *trans* or in *cis* and also reverse signalling is possible, where transmembrane semaphorins act as receptors and plexins as ligands (Toyofuku et al., 2004). Besides, plexins may interact homophilically in *trans* (Hartwig et al., 2005). Only recently it was found that plexins could use molecules without Sema domain as a ligand. Namely, Slit C-terminal fragment signals through Plexin-A1 in commissural axon guidance in the spinal cord (Delloye-Bourgeois et al., 2014). It has been known for longer that at different locations and development stages semaphorins may utilize different plexins and co-receptors, or some alternative receptors. Of greater interest are integrins, L1CAM, and receptor tyrosine kinases VEGFR, Met, Ron and ErbB-2 (reviewed in Perälä et al., 2012). Plexin-B2 interacts also with GDNF receptor Ret during kidney development (Perälä et al., 2011). In general class 3 and 6 semaphorins use class A or D plexins and class 4 semaphorins use B-plexins. Neuropilins are obligatory co-receptors of A-plexins for class 3 semaphorins. As neuropilins were identified first, they are often referred to as the primary receptors and plexins are considered to be co-receptors. In the light of structural studies (Janssen et al., 2012) I think that plexins are more important with their Sema domains and neuropilins act as co-receptors to stabilize the complex. For a detailed overview of different mammalian semaphorin receptors see Table 1.

Table 1: Semaphorin receptors

Semaphorin	Receptors	References	
Sema3A	Plexin-A1/Nrp1 or Nrp2	(Takahashi et al., 1999)	
	Plexin-A3/Nrp1	(Cheng et al., 2001)	
	Plexin-A4/Nrp1	(Suto et al., 2005)	
Sema3B	Plexin-A2/Nrp1 or Nrp2	(Sabag et al., 2014)	
	Plexin-A4/Nrp1 or Nrp2	(Sabag et al., 2014)	
Sema3C	Plexin-D1/Nrp1	(Toyofuku et al., 2008)	
Sema3D	Plexin-A2/Nrp1	(Aghajanian et al., 2014)	
Sema3E	Plexin-D1	(Watakabe et al., 2006)	
Sema3F	Plexin-A1/Nrp2	(Claudepierre et al., 2008)	
	Plexin-A2/Nrp1	(Takahashi and Strittmatter, 2001)	
	Plexin-A3/Nrp2	(Cheng et al., 2001)	
Sema4A	Plexin-B1	(Yukawa et al., 2005)	
	Plexin-B2	(Yukawa et al., 2005)	
	Plexin-B3	(Yukawa et al., 2005)	
	Plexin-D1	(Toyofuku et al., 2007)	
	Tim2	(Kumanogoh et al., 2002)	
Sema4B	?		
Sema4C	Plexin-B2	(Deng et al., 2007)	
Sema4D Plexin-B1		(Tamagnone et al., 1999)	
	Plexin-B2	(Masuda et al., 2004)	
	Plexin-B3	(Maier et al., 2011)	
	Plexin-C1	(Chabbert-de Ponnat et al., 2005)	
	CD72	(Kumanogoh et al., 2000)	
Sema4F	?		
Sema4G	Plexin-B2	(Maier et al., 2011)	
Sema5A	Plexin-A1	(Matsuoka et al., 2011a)	
	Plexin-A2	(Duan et al., 2014)	
	Plexin-A3	(Matsuoka et al., 2011a)	
	Plexin-B3	(Artigiani et al., 2004)	
Sema5B	Plexin-A1	(Matsuoka et al., 2011a)	
	Plexin-A3	(Matsuoka et al., 2011a)	
Sema6A	Plexin-A2	(Suto et al., 2005)	
	Plexin-A4	(Suto et al., 2005)	
Sema6B Plexin-A2 (Tawarayama et al., 2010		(Tawarayama et al., 2010)	
	Plexin-A4	(Suto et al., 2005)	
Sema6C	Plexin-A1	(Yoshida et al., 2006)	
Sema6D	Plexin-A1	(Toyofuku et al., 2004)	
Sema7A	Plexin-C1	(Tamagnone et al., 1999)	
	β1-integrin	(Pasterkamp et al., 2003)	

1.3 Plexins and semaphorins in the nervous system

1.3.1 Proliferation and migration of cells

Plexins mediate semaphorin signals in the nervous system on multiple levels and in all developmental stages. In embryogenesis and postnatally they participate in the proliferation and migration of neuronal progenitor cells as well as glial cells.

Class 3 semaphorins can have different functions depending on the cell type. New-born neurons are attracted by Sema3A, which is expressed in a descending gradient across the cortical layers, whereas its receptor Nrp1 is highly expressed in neurons during their radial migration in the cortex (Chen et al., 2008). Migrating interneurons lacking neuropilins go to the striatum (Marín et al., 2001). Sema3E is a natural negative regulator of the migration of Plexin-D1 positive Cajal-Retzius cells that are important coordinators of the growth of the neocortex (Bribián et al., 2014). Sema3F acts in the ventral tangential migration stream, confining the migrating neurons on the telencephalon surface by repelling from the deeper domain (Ito et al., 2008). In cerebellum development, Sema6A-Plexin-A2 control granule cell migration through nucleus-centrosome coupling. Sema6A is selectively expressed by postmitotic granule cells during their tangential migration, but not during their radial migration (Renaud et al., 2008, Renaud and Chédotal, 2014). Sema6A-deficient mice have granule cell migration defects in cerebellum, neocortex and hippocampus (Kerjan et al., 2005, Rünker et al., 2011).

While Plexin-B1 and B3 knockout mice are normal in the aspect of brain development (Deng et al., 2007, Worzfeld et al., 2009) in Plexin-B2 mutant mice proliferation and migration of neuron progenitors is compromised resulting in neural tube closure defects and exencephaly, which leads to neonatal lethality. The penetrance of this phenotype depends on genetic background (Deng et al., 2007, Friedel et al., 2007, Hirschberg et al., 2010). Excitatory cortical neurons are born in the ventricular zone of the telencephalon and Plexin-B2 is expressed in them. Sema4D is expressed next to the migration routes and enhances radial and tangential migration of developing neurons in a Plexin-B2-dependent manner. Sema4D enhances also migration of GABAergic neurons from the ganglionic eminence toward their correct destination zones in the cortical plate (Hirschberg et al., 2010). Cortical neuron migration is regulated by Plexin-B2 through RhoA activation and interaction with Rnd3 (Hirschberg et al., 2010, Azzarelli et al., 2014). Plexin-B2 is required also for normal cerebellar granule cell proliferation and migration. Plexin-B2^{-/-} mice have smaller cerebellums with severely altered morphology in foliation as well as organization of cell layers (Friedel et al., 2007). The expression of Plexin-B2 ceases in cells that have completed migration into inner granular layer (Deng et al., 2007). In the cerebellum the ligands for Plexin-B2 are Sema4C and Sema4G (Maier et al., 2011). In the hippocampus migrating granule cell precursors express Plexin-B2 and after they reach their target and differentiate Plexin-B2 is downregulated. In the hippocampus Sema4D may serve as a ligand (Deng et al., 2007). In addition, Plexin-B2 deficient mice have lamination defects in the olfactory bulbs that results from migration defects (Deng et al., 2007). Plexin-B2 regulates proliferation and migration of neuroblasts also postnatally in the forebrain subventricular zone (Saha et al., 2012). Taken together, Plexin-B2 is required for normal neuron migration in several parts of the brain.

Primary gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH-1) positive neurons coexpress Plexin-B1 and Met receptors and Sema4D is used as an attractive signal along their migration route. PlexinB1-deficient mice exhibit a migratory defect of GnRH-1 neurons, resulting in reduction of this cell population in the adult brain (Giacobini et al., 2008). Also Sema7A promotes the migration of GnRH-1 positive neurons in the brain but does it mainly through β 1-integrin receptor rather than Plexin-C1 (Messina et al., 2011). Still, Plexin-C1 is highly expressed in different subsets of migrating neurons as well as oligodendrocytes (Pasterkamp et al., 2007).

In the spinal cord boundary cap cells express Sema6A. That signal is recognized by migrating motor neurons that have Plexin-A2/Nrp2 complexes on their surface and this confines their bodies to the spinal cord (Bron et al., 2007). Plexin-A4 together with Sema6D act as gatekeepers only at the dorsal root entry site to organize the segregation of dorsal roots (Mauti et al., 2007). Sema3A-Plexin-A3 regulate the number of dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons by inducing apoptosis during development. Besides, Plexin-A3 and Plexin-A4 are essential for normal cell migration and axon guidance in sympathetic nervous system (Ben-Zvi et al., 2008).

Oligodendrocytes express all semaphorins and use them in migration (Cohen et al., 2003). Sema3A-Plexin-A4 act as repellents for oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs) while Sema3F-Plexin-A3 signalling is attractive and also mitogenic (Spassky et al., 2002, Okada and Tomooka, 2012, Xiang et al., 2012). In Sema4D mutant mice the number of mature oligodendrocytes is increased in thus Sema4D is used to limit the number of differentiated brain. oligodendrocytes. Sema4D is expressed by OPCs and mature oligodendrocytes, while its receptors Plexin-B1 and CD72 are expressed by multiple cell types and are especially numerous on astrocytes (Taniguchi et al., 2009, Smith et al., 2015). Sema4F is expressed by OPCs and it regulates their migration in the developing brain and promotes oligodendrocyte differentiation (Armendáriz et al., 2012). In the peripheral nervous system Sema4F is expressed by both Schwann cells and the nerve fiber (axons) throughout development and is required for their normal contact. When Ras/Raf/MEK pathway is too active, Sema4F expression is downregulated or lost altogether and the contact between Schwann cells and axons loosens. This may lead to generation of neurofibromas (Parrinello et al., 2008).

1.3.2 Axon guidance and dendrite growth

Semaphorins are classical guidance molecules and one of their main functions is to ensure that axons find their proper targets. They also participate in dendrite arbour growth and orientation. Often it is complicated to discriminate the processes of neurite guidance and synaptogenesis. Different subsets of neurons utilize different molecular codes of ligand-receptor pairs to find their way. Surprisingly few studies deal with the role of B-plexins and class 4 semaphorins in the establishment of specific connections between neurons, especially when compared to A-plexins and class 3 and class 6 semaphorins. Here, I concentrate on class B plexins and their potential ligands. For other plexins and semaphorins I suggest a review by J. Pasterkamp dealing with neuronal connections (Pasterkamp, 2012).

Sema4A and Sema4D deficient mice have no obvious brain defects even in the double knock-out (Friedel et al., 2007). Sema4D is expressed throughout the CNS white matter by myelinating oligodendrocytes and inhibits strongly the growth of postnatal sensory and cerebellar granule cell axons (Moreau-Fauvarque et al., 2003). Besides, Sema4A and Sema4D induce growth cone collapse of hippocampal neurons by activating Plexin-B1 (Yukawa et al., 2005, Swiercz et al., 2002). In contrast, Sema4D stimulates axonal outgrowth of embryonic DRG neurons (Masuda et al., 2004) and cortical neurons (Worzfeld et al., 2004). Endogenously produced NGF and the activation of Trk receptor are required for Sema4D action on DRG neurons. These neurons express Sema4D as well as possible receptors Plexin-B1 and Plexin-B2 and this implies that Sema4D acts in autocrine or paracrine manner (Masuda et al., 2004).

Although Plexin-B2 deletion causes severe morphological defects in the cerebellum the specific connectivity between neuronal subtypes is maintained and these mice that survive have no obvious behavioural or motor deficits (Friedel et al., 2007). No defects of axon guidance nor behaviour have been reported for Plexin-B1 and Plexin-B3 knock-out mice either (Fazzari et al., 2007, Deng et al., 2007, Hirschberg et al., 2010, Worzfeld et al., 2009). Plexin-B3 and Plexin-B2 stimulate neurite (axon) outgrowth of cerebellar neurons in trans (Hartwig et al., 2005) suggesting a positive role in axon guidance.

Reports regarding the influence of Sema4D on dendritic arborisation have been contradictory. While Saito and colleagues observed Plexin-B1-mediated inhibitory effect of Sema4D on cortical neuron dendrite growth, Vodrazka et al reported that Sema4D potentiated the formation of higher order branches in hippocampal neurons (Saito et al., 2009, Vodrazka et al., 2009). The role of other class 4 semaphorins or B-plexins in dendritogenesis has not been studied.

1.3.3 Synaptogenesis

Neurons are linked in a functional network through synapses that may be electrical or chemical. Chemical synapses are usually classified on the basis of neurotransmitters that they use and consequent electrophysiological effect. Altogether there are at least 100 different neurotransmitters. The majority of excitatory synapses are situated on dendritic spines and utilize glutamate or acetylcholine for transmission. Inhibitory synapses are assembled on preexisting axon and dendrite or axon and cell soma cross points and use mainly GABA or glycine. Signal is transduced from the presynaptic axon terminal to postsynaptic cell dendrite, soma or axon (Purves et al., 2008).

Semaphorins and plexins were discovered as axon guidance molecules but a growing number of genetic as well as cellular and molecular studies have shown their role also in synaptogenesis. Semaphorins are usually negative regulators of dendritic spine and glutamatergic synapse formation. An elegant work in C. *elegans* showed that locally enriched PLX-1 inhibits synapse formation, and its subcellular localization is regulated by SMP-1 in cis (Mizumoto 2013). In adult mouse hippocampal neurons Sema3A application reduced the density of synapses (Bouzioukh et al., 2006). Sema3A and Sema7A mediate retrograde signals for elimination of climbing fiber to Purkinje cell synapses in the cerebellum (Uesaka et al., 2014). Sema3F-Plexin-A3 signalling is necessary for the elimination of inappropriate synapses during hippocampal development. Sema3F null mice have increased number of spines and are prone to epileptic seizures (Liu et al., 2005, Sahay et al., 2005, Tran et al., 2009). Sema5A regulates dendritic spine density and glutamatergic synapses in *cis* through Plexin-A2 RasGAP activity in a cell autonomous manner. Sema5A^{-/-} and Plexin-A2^{-/-} mice display an increase in hippocampal glutamatergic synapses and social behavior similar to autism spectrum disorders (Duan et al., 2014). Sema5B is a negative regulator of glutamatergic synapse formation in hippocampal neurons as well (O'Connor et al., 2009).

In contrast, semaphorins have positive effect on inhibitory synapse formation, and occasionally in the case of excitatory synapses. In animal and cellular models it has been shown that Sema3A plays a critical role in regulating the spine maturation of the layer V cortical neurons (Morita et al., 2006). Sema4D promotes the formation of GABAergic synapses through Plexin-B1 (Kuzirian et al., 2013). Both Sema4D and its receptor Plexin-B1 localize to postsynaptic membranes (Raissi et al., 2013, Lin et al., 2007). Sema4D does not use its intracellular domain to induce GABAergic synapse formation, but can signal as a membrane bound molecule. Therefore it is likely that Sema4D acts in *cis* through Plexin-B1 (Raissi et al., 2013). Also Sema4B colocalizes with postsynaptic markers and is involved in inhibitory as well as excitatory synapse formation (Burkhardt et al., 2005, Paradis et al., 2007), and Sema7A is required for normal inhibitory synapse maturation (Carcea et al., 2014).

Sema4B interacts with PSD95 through a PDZ-binding motif at the C-terminus. A similar motif can be found in Sema4C, 4G and 4F but not in Sema4A or 4D (Burkhardt et al., 2005, Inagaki et al., 2001). Sema4F is enriched in post-synaptic density fractions and colocalizes with PSD95 and synapsin1 at glutamatergic synapses (Schultze et al., 2001). It is theoretically

possible that those class 4 semaphorins that bind to PSD95 modulate glutamatergic synapses through reverse signalling mechanisms. Further studies are needed to clarify this question.

Taken together, different semaphorins and plexins are necessary for generation or elimination of a variety of synapses, but not all of them have been studied in that aspect.

1.3.4 Plexins and semaphorins in neuropsychiatric disorders

After birth precise connectivity between neurons is refined depending on their activity. Those neurons that are not connected to circuits die through apoptosis, supernumerary neurite branches and synapses are pruned and eliminated. Balanced synaptic plasticity is necessary for learning and memory formation. Dysregulated synaptogenesis underlies a variety of neuropsychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, autism spectrum disorders (ASD) and mental retardation. Most neurodevelopmental disorders are characterized by loss of certain neurons or reduced connectivity between neurons. In contrast, ASD are a result of defective synapse elimination and consequently there are too many dendritic spines and excitatory synapses. Also the balance between excitatory and inhibitory signals is very important for normal functioning of the brain (Penzes et al., 2011, Bernardinelli et al., 2014). Very often no gross abnormalities are observed with only one mutated or dysregulated gene, because the functions are redundant and compensated by other proteins. But still sometimes things go wrong and the results vary from subtle behavioural abnormalities with no detectable morphological symptoms to severe defects in CNS morphology and mental retardation.

Certain genotypes or deregulation of Plexin-A2 and its ligands Sema3A and Sema3D have been linked with susceptibility to schizophrenia (Mah et al., 2006, Takeshita et al., 2008, Fujii et al., 2011). Blocking Sema4D with monoclonal antibodies led to cognitive improvement in Huntington disease mouse model (Southwell et al., 2015). Sema5A has been associated with autism (Melin et al., 2006, Weiss et al., 2009) and Parkinson's disease (Yu et al., 2014). Besides, Sema5A and one of its receptors Plexin-B3 have been associated with brain volume parameters and performance in intelligence tests (Zhu et al., 2013, Rujescu et al., 2007). PLXNB2 gene is located at 22q13 and deletion of this region has been linked to autistic-like features and abnormalities in cerebellar structures (Hannachi et al., 2013, Aldinger et al., 2013). Sema6A and its receptor Plexin-A4 regulate neuronal connectivity and their depletion results in disorders that resemble schizophrenia and autism (Matsuoka et al., 2011a, Rünker et al., 2011, Suda et al., 2011). Microdeletions of chromosome 15q24 which include SEMA7A are associated with a syndrome characterized by autism, developmental delay, and abnormalities in somatosensation (McInnes et al., 2010). See also table 2.

Gene	Connection to psychiatric disease	References
SEMA3A	Downregulated in schizophrenic cortex	(Arion et al., 2010)
SEMA3A	Upregulated in schizophrenic cerebellum	(Eastwood et al., 2003)
SEMA3C	Risk locus for autism spectrum disorders	(Walker and Scherer, 2013)
SEMA3C	Downregulated in schizophrenic cortex	(Arion et al., 2010)
SEMA3D	Susceptibility to schizophrenia in	(Fujii et al., 2011)
	Japanese population	
SEMA3E	Downregulated in schizophrenic cortex	(Arion et al., 2010)
SEMA3F	Downregulated in schizophrenic cortex	(Arion et al., 2010)
Sema3F	Altered dendritic spine density (mouse	(Demyanenko et al., 2014)
	model)	
SEMA4D	Downregulated in schizophrenic cortex	(Arion et al., 2010)
SEMA4D	Autism GWAS	(Hussman et al., 2011)
Sema4D	Huntington disease (mouse model)	(Southwell et al., 2015)
SEMA5A	Downregulated in autism	(Melin et al., 2006), (Weiss
		et al., 2009)
SEMA5A	Autism GWAS	(Hussman et al., 2011)
SEMA5A	Parkinson's disease	(Yu et al., 2014)
Sema5A	Autism (mouse model)	(Duan et al., 2014)
SEMA6A	Autism GWAS	(Hussman et al., 2011)
Sema6A	Psychiatric disorders resembling	(Rünker et al., 2011)
	schizophrenia and autism (mouse model)	
SEMA6D	Downregulated in schizophrenic cortex	(Arion et al., 2010)
SEMA7A	Autism and other mental disorders	(McInnes et al., 2010)
PLXNA2	Susceptibility to schizophrenia in	(Mah et al., 2006),
	Japanese and American population	(Takeshita et al., 2008)
PlxnA2	Autism (mouse model)	(Duan et al., 2014)
PLXNA4	Downregulated in autism	(Suda et al., 2011)
PLXNB2	Cerebellum abnormal structure	(Aldinger et al., 2013)
PLXNB2	Behavioral abnormalities and autistic-like	(Hannachi et al., 2013)
	features	
PLXNC1	Autism GWAS	(Hussman et al., 2011)
Nrp2	Autism and epilepsy (mouse model)	(Gant et al., 2009)

 Table 2. Semaphorins and their receptors in neuropsychiatric disorders that are caused by defects in connectivity between neurons.

1.4 Plexins in different organs

Plexins were initially identified in the nervous system but piling evidence shows that they have important functions also in other organs.

In cardiovascular development secreted class 3 semaphorins are important inhibitory regulators of angiogenesis. Together with class 6 semaphorins and plexins A1, A2, A4 and D1 they also guide the formation of heart chambers and tracts. Conversely, class 4 semaphorins and B-plexins promote angiogenesis through activation of Rho GTPases (reviewed in Epstein et al., 2015).

Expression of semaphorins and plexins is characteristic for organs that comprise epithelial tubular structures like kidney, lung and liver. Plexin-B1 and B2 have antagonistic functions in kidney development Sema4D-Plexin-B1 pathway inhibits branching (Korostylev et al., 2008) but Sema4C-Plexin-B2 signalling promotes it (Perälä et al., 2011). Sema3A is secreted by podocytes (Villegas and Tufro, 2002) and is required for normal patterning of the ureteric bud tree and glomerular filtration barrier development (Reidy et al., 2013). During lung development Sema3A-Plexin-A1/Nrp1 pathway is crucial for normal alveolarization (Becker et al., 2011). Class 4 semaphorins and B-plexins are expressed in bronchial epithelial and smooth muscle cells (Smith et al., 2011, Korostylev et al., 2008, Zielonka et al., 2010). Several semaphorins are connected to various pulmonary diseases including asthma and cancer. Plexin-B1 is strongly expressed in the developing liver but its levels decrease in adulthood. Plexin-B2 expression is retained in adult liver sinusoids (Zielonka et al., 2010), and Sema3A has been associated with liver regeneration (Fu et al., 2012).

Recently, significant advances have been made in understanding of the roles of semaphorins in bone homeostasis and remodelling. Plexin-A1 is required for normal bone and cartilage development. It can use Sema3A or Sema6D as ligands. Sema4D-Plexin-B1 are negative regulators of bone mass formation and this is regulated by ovarian hormones (reviewed in Kang and Kumanogoh, 2013). Many semaphorins and plexins are involved also in tooth development (Lillesaar and Fried, 2004).

In the context of immune system Sema7A, Plexin-C1 and Plexin-D1 come first to my mind. Sema4A and Sema4D (CD100) and their receptor Plexin-B1 have also been addressed extensively in that aspect. Plexins and semaphorins mediate many cell processes critical for the immune system including cell-cell contact, migration, and cytokine secretion. For reviews see (Roney et al., 2013, Takamatsu and Kumanogoh, 2012).

1.5 Plexin structure

Plexins are type I transmembrane proteins (Figure 2). Human full-length plexins range in length from 1541 to 2108 aa. They are synthesized as precursor proteins containing a signal peptide, a Sema domain, three cysteine rich PSI domains (plexins, semaphorins, integrins), six glycine and proline rich IPT domains (immunoglobulin-like fold shared by plexins and transcription factors), a transmembrane domain (TM), a NTS (N-terminal segment), a bipartite RasGAP domain (Ras GTPase acticvating protein) that is split by a RhoBD (Rho GTPase binding domain) (Siebold and Jones, 2013). B-plexins have PDZ-binding motif at their C-terminus. Plexin-C1 lacks the domains that correspond to IPT2, PSI3 and IPT3 rendering it shorter than other plexins (see Figure 1).

The structure of full-length plexin has not been resolved but available are crystal structures of partial extracellular domains (Janssen et al., 2010, Nogi et al., 2010, Liu et al., 2010) and intracellular domains (He et al., 2009, Tong et al., 2009, Wang et al., 2013).

The *Sema domain* comprises approximately 500 residues and on the level of primary structure does not have significant conserved regions. Besides plexins, Sema domain can be found in semaphorins and Met and Ron receptor tyrosine kinases (Tamagnone et al., 1999). Crystal structures of different Sema domains have revealed that structurally it is a 7-blade beta propeller with extrusions in the first and fifth blade. Like most known propeller structures, Sema domain uses "loop and hook" system to close the circle between the first and the last blades. The structure is further stabilized by disulfide bridges (Antipenko et al., 2003). For semaphorin binding most important regions are within blade 1 and 3 and the extrusion in the fifth blade. They vary between different plexins enabling specific recognition of semaphorins (Janssen et al., 2010, Nogi et al., 2010). Unlike semaphorin Sema domains, plexin Sema domains do not form stable dimers (Siebold and Jones, 2013).

PSI domains are short 50-60 aa motifs that are characterized by conserved cysteine residues that form three disulfide bonds and its overall structure is a cysteine knot. PSI1 makes contacts with the Sema domain and stabilizes its orientation (Kozlov et al., 2004). PSI domains have also been called MRS motifs (Met related sequences) (Maestrini et al., 1996).

Little is known about the function of *IPT domains*. They are about 90 residues long and have immunoglobulin-like fold with two β -sheets. They are rich in glycine and proline and are therefore sometimes referred to as GP-rich domains. Together with PSI domains IPT domains form a flexible stalk between Sema domain and the cell membrane. According to Yvonne Jones IPT6 interacts with the Sema domain and the extracellular part of plexins assembles in a ring-like structure (Y. Jones Semaphorin meeting 2013 personal communication) (Figure 2A).

Plexins have one *transmembrane* helix and this region may contribute to specific interactions within the plexin dimer or with co-receptors like

neuropilins (Sawma et al., 2014). Plexin-B1 and B3 TM helixes are regular and tend to form dimers whereas other plexins have residues in their TM region that distort association. Modelling showed that Plexin-B1 TM and juxtamembrane region can form trimers as well (Zhang et al., 2015).



Figure 2. Structure of the plexin dimer. (A) Side view of a putative plexin structure. Extracellular part is based on Yvonne Jones personal communication and intracellular part is based on (Wang et al., 2013). See text for protein domains. (B) Top view of intracellular part.

The intracellular portion of plexins starts with the *NTS* that is also called juxtamembrane segment. It is about 70 residues in length and structurally consists of one longer and one shorter α -helix that are separated by a loop. In

monomeric crystal structures NTS adopts a kinked conformation with both the N-terminal and C-terminal halves interacting with the RasGAP domain (He et al., 2009, Wang et al., 2012). In dimeric structure the juxtamembrane helixes form a bundle with helixes 11 and 11' from the RasGAP domains and this bundle in essential for active dimer conformation (Wang et al., 2013). Conserved hydrophobic residues in the juxtamembrane helix stabilize the dimer (Barton et al., 2015).

Plexins have a characteristic bipartite *RasGAP domain* that is split by the RhoBD (He et al., 2009, Tong et al., 2009). Structurally the GAP domain of plexins is similar to canonical RasGAPs (such as p120GAP) and dual-activity GAPs (SynGAP and GAP1 family) that can inactivate Ras subfamily small GTPases (Wang et al., 2012). In primary structure the RasGAP domain of plexins is interrupted by the RhoBD, but it forms a separate module and minimally interferes with the GAP domain in tertiary structure (Wang et al., 2012). RasGAP domain consists of 18 α -helixes, and the overall shape resembles a bowl with the active site on the bottom of it, containing two conserved arginines that are essential for GAP activity (Tong et al., 2009).

The *RhoBD* extends out of the RasGAP domain and adopts an independent ubiquitin-like fold (Tong et al., 2007, He et al., 2009, Tong et al., 2009). Switch I and II regions of Rho GTPases interact with the hydrophobic patch on the plexin RhoBD that is distal to RasGAP domain and this does not cause any major conformational changes nor directly influences GAP activity (Wang et al., 2012).

The C-termini of B-plexins contain *PDZ-binding motif* TDL. It specifically interacts with PDZ domains of RhoGEFs (Swiercz et al., 2002, Perrot et al., 2002), but it does not bind PSD95 or other DLG family PDZ domains (Hirotani et al., 2002). This motif is essential for targeting plexins to the cell membrane and ligand induced cytoskeleton collapse (Artigiani et al., 2003).

Plexins are posttranslationally modified by different enzymes. Extracellular domains are glycosylated (Maestrini et al., 1996) and processed proteolytically. This cleavage by proteases converts plexins into heterodimeric receptors. Such receptors have increased semaphorin binding and functional response (Artigiani et al., 2003). Several intracellular tyrosine and serine/threonine residues are phosphorylated by different kinases regulating protein-protein interactions (Franco and Tamagnone, 2008, Yang and Terman, 2012).

Extracellular Sema domains of plexins are monomeric and are brought together by semaphorin dimers (Siebold and Jones, 2013). Deletion of the Sema domain is sufficient to shift the conformation towards the active state and induce cell or growth cone collapse. Soluble Sema domain can interact with the rest of the ectodomain and inhibit it (Takahashi and Strittmatter, 2001). So Sema domains keep plexins in inactivated state. Plexins are generally thought to form dimers mainly through their NTS helixes. Dimer conformation changes upon ligand binding enabling the activation of the GAP domain (Wang et al., 2013). There have also been suggestions that the intracellular domains of Plexin-B1 could form trimers that are stabilized by Rac GTPase molecules that bind between RhoBD of one monomer and C-terminal half of the RasGAP domain of the next monomer (Bell et al., 2011). According to this model each semaphorin dimer would bind two separate plexin trimers inducing clustering of receptors.

1.6 Plexin signalling

In order to regulate cell migration, axon guidance and synaptogenesis plexins have to transmit extracellular signals to the machinery of cytoskeleton dynamics and membrane trafficking. Regulation of the activity of small GTPases is central in plexin signalling. Different plexins bind with different affinities to GTPases leading to specialized functional outcomes. In addition many other signalling pathways have been identified, but here I would be describing only those that are connected to GTPases, membranes and cytoskeleton (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Main signalling pathways of plexins.

1.6.1 The superfamily of small GTPases

Small GTPases of the Ras superfamily act as molecular switches in cellular signalling. They cycle between an inactive GDP-bound state and an active GTP-bound form (Figure 4). The GDP/GTP cycle is promoted by the activity of two classes of molecules, guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs) and GTPase activating proteins (GAPs). GEFs induce the dissociation of GDP and assembly of the GTP-bound form, which is able to interact with downstream effectors. GAPs promote the hydrolysing activity of small GTPases, tilting the balance

toward GDP-bound inactive form. In addition, small GTPases can bind to proteins known as guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitors (GDIs). GDIs sequester GTPases in their inactive state and protect them from degradation. The activity of GTPases is regulated also on transcriptional level and by posttranslational lipidation and phosphorylation that determines their subcellular localization (Rojas et al., 2012, Azzarelli et al., 2015).



Figure 4: Small GTPases cycle between active GTP-bound form and inactive GDP-bound form. This cycle is regulated by different factors: GEF - guanine nucleotide exchange factor, GAP - GTPase activating protein, GDI - guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor. Modified from (Bento et al., 2013).

The Ras superfamily is divided into five major families: Ras, Rho, Arf, Ran, and Rab (Figure 5). Members of the Ras family act as regulators between receptors at the plasma membrane and effectors in the cytosol and they are missing in plants. Plants lack plexins and semaphorins as well. In general Ras GTPases regulate cell proliferation, differentiation, morphology, and apoptosis. The Rho family is involved in signalling networks that regulate cytoskeleton dynamics and cell polarity. The Rab family is by far the largest family of the Ras superfamily due to gene duplication. Rab family proteins regulate intracellular vesicular transport and the trafficking of proteins between different organelles via endocytotic and secretory pathways. In contrast, only one member of the Ran family is found in all eukaryotic lineages, with the exception of plants. Ran GTPase is ubiquitous in the cell and is involved in nuclear transport. Finally, the Arf family of proteins comprises the most divergent proteins, which, like the Rab family proteins, are involved in vesicle trafficking (Wennerberg et al., 2005, Iwashita and Song, 2008, Rojas et al., 2012).



Figure 5: The superfamily of human small GTPases based on (Rojas et al., 2012). The number of members in each family is below the name. GTPases that have been implicated in plexin signalling are highlighted in separate bubbles.

1.6.2 RasGAP activity

Ras family proteins have different roles in regulating cytoskeleton dynamics, cell adhesion, migration, neuron polarization and neurite growth. There are 38 members in Ras family in humans (Rojas et al., 2012).

RasGAP domain of plexins constitutes the largest part of the intracellular domain and is the key signalling module during development. Transgenic mice with mutated GAP domains of Plexin-B2 or Plexin-D1 recapitulate the phenotypes of the respective null mutants in the developing nervous, vascular, and skeletal system (Worzfeld et al., 2014). Plexin RasGAP activity is required for semaphorin-induced cytoskeleton collapse (Oinuma et al., 2004), and regulation of dendritic spine density by Sema5A-Plexin-A2 (Duan et al., 2014). In *C. elegans* it has been shown that PLX-1 inhibits presynaptic formation via its RasGAP activity but it is dispensable for subcellular localization of PLX-1 (Mizumoto and Shen, 2013).

Two conserved catalytic arginine residues (Rohm et al., 2000) and semaphorin-induced dimerization (Wang et al., 2012) are essential for plexin GAP activity. In monomers RasGAP domain is in a closed conformation and inaccessible to small GTPases. Plexin dimerization induces relocation of the activation segment (GAP domain helixes 15-17) that in the resting state blocks the active site. This results in an open conformation with the active site oriented towards the plasma membrane leaving enough space for membrane-bound small GTPases to fit in between (Wang et al., 2013) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Activated plexins bind Rap and Rnd GTPases. (A) side view, (B) intracellular part from top. Based on (Wang et al., 2013).

At first it was suggested that plexins might be GAPs for Rho family GTPase Rnd (Rohm et al., 2000). Following biochemical and cellular studies by Oinuma and colleagues showed that plexins form complexes with R-Ras and M-Ras and act as GAPs for them decreasing the GTP-bound forms (Oinuma et al., 2004, Saito et al., 2009). R-Ras is important for axon growth (Oinuma et al., 2004) whereas M-Ras is in dendrites (Saito et al., 2009). However, later studies by other groups have failed to confirm direct GAP activity towards R-Ras and M-

Ras (Sakurai et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2012, Worzfeld et al., 2014). We have not been able to detect any GAP activity towards Ras family GTPases Rit and Rin (Rit2) either, although plexins interact with them (personal unpublished observations). Rit and Rin are atypical members of the Ras family with extended N- and C-termini and they have been implicated in neurite growth and neuron survival (Shi et al., 2013). Instead, plexins act directly as GAPs for the Rap branch of the Ras family. Plexin-B1 has GAP activity towards Rap1A and Rap1B but not Rap2A (Wang et al., 2012). Rap GTPases often act antagonistically to other Ras proteins (Ye and Carew, 2010). The initial confusion occurred because plexins inactivate R-Ras and M-Ras through an indirect mechanism. Active Rap inhibits p120 RasGAP and inactivation of Rap by plexins activates p120 RasGAP that in turn leads to enhanced GTP hydrolysis of R-Ras and M-Ras (Okada et al., 2015).

Recruitment of Rnd promotes GAP activity of most plexins in cells, only Plexin-C1 can do without them (Zanata et al., 2002, Oinuma et al., 2004, Uesugi et al., 2009, Okada et al., 2015). Controversially, in solution Rac1 addition had no positive effect on GAP activity (Wang et al., 2012) and mutating Rac1 binding residues (that greatly overlap with Rnd binding amino acids) did not abolish plexin GAP activity (Bell et al., 2011). Structurally Rac1 binds exclusively to the RhoBD and does not form any contacts with the GAP domain, nor does it induce notable conformational changes (Bell et al., 2011, Wang et al., 2012). Thus it is likely that Rnd or Rac binding to the RhoBD is required only in the cellular context for targeting plexin to the right location to enhance the possibility to meet Rap GTPases.

Furthermore, the GAP activity of plexins can be regulated by PKA phosphorylation of a serine residue in a close proximity to the second catalytic arginine. This generates a binding site for 14-3-3 ϵ that prevents plexin interactions with Ras and Rap (Yang and Terman, 2012). Another RasGAP neurofibromin (NF1) is inhibited by a similar mechanism (Feng et al., 2004). In addition, 14-3-3 proteins are able to bind to Rnd and Rap1A C-terminal parts and inhibit them by translocating them from the plasma membrane (Riou et al., 2013).

Taken together, the RasGAP domain of plexins regulates directly the activity of Rap GTPases and indirectly R-Ras and M-Ras.

1.6.3 Rho GTPases

Mammalian Rho GTPases comprise a family of 22 proteins that regulate actin and microtubule components of the cytoskeleton. The best characterized members are RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42. Different Rho GTPases are required for cell migration and protrusion formation. RhoA has a role in the initial events of protrusion and is activated at the cell edge. Rac1 and Cdc42 are activated behind the edge and with a temporal delay. They operate antagonistically to RhoA and activate pathways implicated in reinforcement and stabilization of newly

expanded protrusions (Machacek et al., 2009). In dendritic spine formation the situation is similar, RhoA-ROCK pathway is needed for initial spine growth and Cdc42-PAK pathway is required for sustained spine stabilization (Murakoshi et al., 2011).

Rnd1, Rnd2 and Rnd3 form a branch of atypical Rho GTPases. In contrast to classical GTPases, Rnd proteins do not show any intrinsic or stimulated GTPase activity. Rnd activity is controlled through gene expression, protein post-transcriptional modifications and subcellular localization. Interestingly, Rnd proteins evolved relatively recently and they are present only in vertebrates, indicating that they might be involved in more specialized neuronal functions than the other Rho GTPases (reviewed in Azzarelli et al., 2015). Rnd1 is involved in activity-dependent dendrite growth and dendritic spine formation (Ishikawa et al., 2006, Ishikawa et al., 2003).

Plexins are linked to Rho GTPases in multiple ways. The RhoBD of plexins interacts with certain members of the Rho family directly. Besides, plexins can recruit RhoGEFs, GAPs and GDIs.

The role of RhoBD

Several evidences indicate that preferential interactions occur between certain members of the plexin and the Rho families. Rac1 specifically interacts with the cytosolic domain of Plexin-B1 and B2, but not with that of Plexin-A1, A3, C1 or D1 (Vikis et al., 2000, Rohm et al., 2000, Driessens et al., 2001). In addition, the RhoBD of plexins can interact with other Rho family GTPases: Rnd1 binds to Plexin-A1, Plexin-B1 and Plexin-B3; Rnd2 with Plexin-B2, Plexin-B3 and Plexin-D1; Rnd3 with Plexin-B2; and RhoD with Plexin-A1 and Plexin-B1 (Vikis et al., 2000, Zanata et al., 2002, Oinuma et al., 2003, Uesugi et al., 2009, Fansa et al., 2013, Azzarelli et al., 2014, and personal unpublished observations).

Rac or Rnd binding to the RhoBD of plexins helps to target plexins to the plasma membrane and stabilize them there (Vikis et al., 2000, Swiercz et al., 2004). Rnd binding enhances plexin RapGAP activity in cells and also interaction with RhoGEFs and activation of RhoA. Besides, active Rac1 enhances Plexin-B1 binding to its ligand Sema4D. Sema4D in turn stimulates the interaction between plexin-B1 and active Rac1 (Vikis et al., 2000). On the other hand plexins compete with other proteins for Rnd and Rac binding and thus antagonize several signalling pathways. For example, Plexin-B1 competes with Rac1 binding with PAK (p21 activated kinase) that has a role in mediating cytoskeletal changes and axon guidance (Vikis et al., 2002), and Plexin-B2 inhibits Rac1-mediated cell motility (Roney et al., 2011).

Plexins and Rho GEFs, GAPs and GDIs.

Besides direct interaction with Rho family GTPases plexins can interact with different Rho regulators. B-plexins have a PDZ-binding motif TDL at their C-terminus that was shown by five different groups in 2002 to interact with PDZ-

domains of PDZ-RhoGEF (ARHGEF11) and LARG (leukemia-associated RhoGEF, ARHGEF12) (Swiercz et al., 2002, Perrot et al., 2002, Aurandt et al., 2002, Hirotani et al., 2002, Driessens et al., 2002). B-plexins are necessary to recruit RhoGEFs to the plasma membrane and activation of plexins with semaphorins leads to localized RhoA activation, cytoskeleton remodelling, and promotion of cell migration. A-plexins interact with FARP1 and FARP2, GEFs that activate Rac1, that are important for neurite remodelling (Toyofuku et al., 2005, Cheadle and Biederer, 2014, Mlechkovich et al., 2014).

RasGAP activity and regulation of RhoA function independently of each other (Oinuma et al., 2004, Sun et al., 2012). Rnd binding to the RhoBD promotes the interaction between plexins and RhoGEFs and thereby stimulates RhoA activity (Oinuma et al., 2003, Azzarelli et al., 2014). Another component of the RhoA regulation system is receptor tyrosine kinases. ErbB-2 of the EGF receptor family forms a complex with Plexin-B1 extracellular part (Plexin-B2 and B3 as well) and phosphorylates conserved tyrosine residues in the intracellular domain, generating binding sites for PLCy. PLCy facilitates interaction between B-plexins and RhoGEFs and activates RhoGEFs independently of its lipase activity. (Swiercz et al., 2004, Swiercz et al., 2009). In contrast, when Plexin-B1 is phosphorylated by HGF receptor Met, an adaptor protein Grb2 is bound and it recruits p190 RhoGAP to the complex leading to RhoA inactivation and inhibition of cell migration (Sun et al., 2012). Interestingly, tyrosine residues that are used to generate binding sites for PLC γ and Grb2 are conserved in all human plexins except for Plexin-B3. That statement is true for other organisms as well. This suggests that Plexin-B3 utilizes different mechanisms for regulation of Rho GTPases. Indeed, Sema5A activated Plexin-B3 interacts directly with RhoGDIa and promotes Rac1 binding to RhoGDIa thereby preventing Rac1 activation (Li and Lee, 2010).

A different mechanism for RhoA activation has been described for Plexin-B2 that competes with p190 RhoGAP for Rnd3 binding and fine-tunes the level of RhoA activity. p190 RhoGAP is recruited to the plasma membrane by Rnd3 and RhoA activity is inhibited. When Rnd3 is sequestered by Plexin-B2 it can no longer bind p190 RhoGAP and RhoA remains active (Azzarelli et al., 2014).

1.6.4 Membranes, endocytosis and receptor trafficking

Plexins are transmembrane receptors that can complex with various coreceptors. They regulate the activity of small GTPases that in general are associated with membranes. Very often the existence of the membrane is forgotten and its part in the assembly of protein complexes and as a source of lipid second messengers is discarded. The balance between membrane addition and removal dictates bidirectional axon guidance. Growth cone attraction involves asymmetric exocytosis while locally applied repellents like Sema3A facilitate endocytosis at that side only (Tojima et al., 2010). Sema3A induces a coordinated rearrangement of its receptors, Rac1 and F-actin during growth cone collapse (Fournier et al., 2000). In response to negative guidance molecules, the function of Rac1 changes from promoting actin polymerization associated with axon growth to driving endocytosis of the plasma membrane, resulting in growth cone collapse (Jurney et al., 2002).

Upon Sema3E activation Plexin-D1 recruits PIP5K and Arf6 GEF GEP100/Brag2a facilitating the activation of Arf6 and subsequent retraction of cell protrusions (Sakurai et al., 2011). Arf6 participates in clathrin-independent endocytosis of different receptors including glutamate AMPA receptors and integrins (Vidal-Quadras et al., 2011, Scholz et al., 2010, Eva et al., 2012).

Plexin-A1 associates with Rab5, a small GTPase protein that regulates the motility and fusion of early endosomes. The interaction is mediated by the membrane fusion protein Rabaptin-5. Sema3A application stimulates Rab5 activation and endocytosis from axon growth cones (Wu et al., 2014).

semaphorins lipid Additionally. regulate kinases such as phosphatidylinositol-3-kinases (PI3Ks) (Basile et al., 2005) and phosphatidylinositol-4-phosphate 5-kinases (PIP5Ks) (Halstead et al., 2010, Binmadi et al., 2011). These kinases phosphorylate phosphatidylinositol in cellular membranes increasing locally negative charge (Goldenberg and Steinberg, 2010) that is important for targeting positively charged small GTPases to the plasma membrane (Heo et al., 2006). The action of lipid kinases is balanced by the lipid phosphatase PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog). Plexin-B1 activates PTEN and this promotes hippocampal neuron growth cone collapse (Oinuma et al., 2010).

1.6.5 Cytoskeleton

One of the main functions of plexins is to translate extracellular signals to cytoskeleton dynamics within the cell. Mammalian cytoskeleton consists of three main components: microfilaments of actin, intermediate filaments and microtubules consisting of tubulins. During cell motility different components of cytoskeleton are well co-ordinated. Activation of plexins, upon binding with their ligands semaphorins or by overexpressing some of the key components of the downstream signalling cascade can result in the collapse of the cytoskeleton or in contrast, promote cell adhesion or migration.

Plexins influence actin cytoskeleton largely through regulation of small GTPases. Integrin-based focal adhesive structures are disassembled within minutes upon plexin activation; this is followed by actin depolymerisation and, eventually, by cellular collapse (Barberis et al., 2004). Apart from signalling pathways of small GTPases some other mechanisms for actin regulation have been described. Plexin-B3 interacts with Fascin-1 an actin binding and bundling protein. Sema5A stimulation induces Fascin-1 phosphorylation by PKC, redistribution of Fascin-1 from the cytosol to protrusions, the disassembly of Factin stress fibers and alterations in cell morphology (Li et al., 2012).

The cytoplasmic part of A-plexins associates with MICAL family enzymes. MICAL binds F-actin and oxidizes the methionine 44 residue within the D-loop of actin. This leads to disassembly of actin filaments as well as bundles (Hung et al., 2010, Hung et al., 2011). MICAL-induced actin remodelling is involved in the targeting of secretory vesicles containing immunoglobulin superfamily cell adhesion molecules (IgCAMs) to the neuronal growth cone membrane (Van Battum et al., 2014). Semaphorin activation promotes the formation of Plexin/MICAL/CRMP complex that releases MICAL enzymatic autoinhibition. In addition to actin regulation MICAL influences CRMP (collapsin response mediating protein) activity (Schmidt et al., 2008). CRMPs are well-known downstream components of semaphorin-plexin signalling that regulate microtubule cytoskeleton dynamics. Plexins do not interact directly with CRMPs, but rather plexins modulate small GTPases, which in turn activate kinases that phosphorylate CRMPs (Uchida et al., 2005, Ito et al., 2006). The effects of CRMP4 on axon growth and growth cone morphology are dependent on microtubule assembly, whereas filopodial extension relies on actin bundling (Khazaei et al., 2014). So MICALs and CRMPs have a dual role regulating both microtubules and actin.

A multi-domain scaffolding protein RanBP9 (Ran binding protein 9) interacts with Plexin-A1 intracellular domain and with α -tubulin (Togashi et al., 2006, Salemi et al., 2015). This complex may be involved in regulating microtubule dynamics. In addition, RanBP9 overexpressing transgenic mice have decreased levels of phosphorylated cofilin, an actin binding protein, and this correlates with reduced numbers of dendritic branches and dendritic spines (Wang et al., 2014).

1.7 Microtubule dynamics and neurons

Modulation of the cytoskeleton is essential for a variety of cellular processes. In post-mitotic neurons microtubules participate in migration, axon guidance, growth of dendrites and formation of synapses. In neuronal migration the leading edge microtubule plus-ends are captured at the actin cortex through calcium-dependent mechanisms and promote the translocation of the nucleus (Hutchins and Wray, 2014). One of the most important functions of microtubules is to establish a trafficking route for cellular cargos to sites where resources are needed the most, like growth cones of neurons. Microtubules in the growth cone are oriented with their plus-ends towards the periphery and switch between phases of growth and shortening. Asymmetric stabilization or destabilization of microtubules induces growth cone turning (Liu and Dwyer, 2014). Direct link between guidance cues and microtubules have recently been demonstrated for Netrin-1 receptor DCC that binds to neuron-specific β -tubulin isotype III (TUBB3) during axon attraction (Qu et al., 2013). Extracellular guidance cues modulate microtubule dynamics in axon growth cone steering also more indirectly influencing microtubule-associated proteins (MAPs) and microtubule plus-end binding proteins +TIPs (reviewed in Liu and Dwyer, 2014).

In recent years, more attention has been paid to the role of microtubules in the formation and maintenance of connections between neurons. Microtubules are essential for dendritic spine maturation and synaptic plasticity, which are prerequisites for learning and memory formation (Gu et al., 2008). The morphology of dendritic spines depends on bidirectional interplay between actin and microtubule dynamics. Microtubule tips enter activated spines and promote their enlargement accompanied by increased excitatory synapse strength. Spine invasion by dynamic microtubules is relatively infrequent and transient (Jaworski et al., 2009). Microtubules enter spines from highly localized sites at the base of spines in response to synapse-specific calcium transients. Local actin polymerization and drebrin, a protein known to mediate interactions between Factin and microtubules, act as positive regulators of microtubule entry into spines (Merriam et al., 2013). BDNF activation of its TrkB receptors prolonged the average dwell time of microtubules in dendritic spines and increased the amount of postsynaptic PSD95. Accumulation of PSD95 is associated with LTP (Hu et al., 2011). Synaptic NMDA receptor activation and subsequent LTP promoted microtubule spine invasions and lasting increases in spine size (Merriam et al., 2011). Conversely, NMDA-dependent LTD suppresses microtubule entry in dendritic spines and induces spine shrinkage (Kapitein et al., 2011).

1.8 Microtubule end binding EB/MAPRE family of proteins

End binding proteins (EBs) are highly conserved core components of microtubule plus-end tracking protein network. Mammalian cells express three members of the EB/MAPRE family—EB1, EB2, and EB3. EBs are relatively small proteins: EB1 268 aa, EB2 327 aa, EB3 281 aa. Overall their amino acid sequence is similar. EB2 has additional 43 aa at its N-terminus that may be omitted due to inefficient translation starting at the first methionine. An inframe alternative splice variant of EB3 lacks codons 142-156 resulting in a 15 aa deletion in calponin homology domain (Juwana et al., 1999, Su and Qi, 2001). EB1 and EB2 are ubiquitously expressed, yet EB3 is found predominantly in the CNS and muscle (Nakagawa et al., 2000).

EBs consist of N-terminal calponin homology (CH) domain, responsible for the interaction with microtubules, a proline-rich linker region, and a C-terminal coiled coil domain (EB homology domain) that extends into a four-helix bundle, required for dimer formation and binding to various partners. It forms a hydrophobic pocket where +TIPs with the conserved SxIP motif bind. In the extreme C-terminus EB-s have a EEY motif that resembles alfa-tubulin Cterminus and interacts with CAP-Gly domain containing proteins (Akhmanova and Steinmetz, 2008, Slep, 2010). The overall shape of EB dimer resembles a asymmetric golf club (Buey et al., 2011) (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Schematic structure of EB dimer based on Akhmanova and Steinmetz, 2008 and Buey et al., 2011.

EBs interact with most other known +TIPs and recruit many of them to the growing microtubule ends (Bu and Su, 2003, Akhmanova and Steinmetz, 2008). EB1 and EB3, but not EB2, promote persistent microtubule growth by suppressing catastrophes. While dimerization is not essential for microtubule tip tracking by EBs it is a prerequisite for +TIP partner binding and anti-catastrophe activity in cells (Sen et al., 2013, Komarova et al., 2009).

1.8.1 Role of EBs in neurons

In the CNS EB1 and EB3 are important for neuron maturation. EB1 protein levels increase during axon formation (Morrison et al., 2002) and EB1 accumulates at the axonal endings in cultured rat hippocampal neurons (Gu et al., 2006). While EB1 is more abundant in young neurons and glial cells, EB3 characteristically concentrates at the microtubule tips in the dendrites and dendritic spines of mature neurons (Jaworski et al., 2009, Stepanova et al., 2003). *In vivo* EB3 expression levels are higher in the adult hippocampus and cortex than during embryonic and postnatal stages, and EB3 is required for normal dendritic spine maturation and plasticity (Gu et al., 2008, Jaworski et al., 2009).

EB1 and EB3 associate with members of the spectraplakin family, conserved scaffolding proteins that link different cytoskeleton components, and this is needed for vesicular transport and axon growth (Poliakova et al., 2014, Alves-Silva et al., 2012). Besides, EB3 interacts with different proteins that regulate the actin cytoskeleton, such as drebrin in advancing growth cones (Geraldo et al., 2008) and p140Cap in dendritic spines (Jaworski et al., 2009). EB3 interacts

also with PSD95, contributing to the regulation of microtubule dynamics during dendrite formation (Sweet et al., 2011).

Tau, MAP1B, and MAP2 are classical microtubule associating proteins (MAPs) that promote microtubule nucleation, polymerization, dynamics and stabilization in neurons. While MAP1B and Tau mainly localize to axons, MAP2 is present in dendrites (Savas and Avila, 2014). It has been shown that EBs interact directly with all three classical neuronal MAPs. Tau is required for the proper accumulation of EBs at stretches of microtubule bundles at the medial and distal regions of the axon (Savas et al., 2015). MAP1B inhibits EB binding to microtubule plus-ends (Tortosa et al., 2013) maintaining direct microtubule growth that suppresses axon branching and enhances axon elongation (Tymanskyj et al., 2012). The interaction of EB3 with MAP2 in adult neurons is modulated by neuronal activity. Under basal conditions, EB3 and MAP2 are both abundantly present in dendrites but they interact with different populations of microtubules; EB3 binds to the plus-ends of dynamic microtubules and MAP2 decorates stable microtubules. Induction of LTD by NMDA leads to the rapid removal of EB3 from microtubule plus-ends in dendritic spines leading to their shrinkage. EB3 is recruited along microtubule bundles in the dendritic shaft through direct interaction with MAP2 (Kapitein et al., 2011).
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

In 2003 when I started my PhD studies very little was known about Plexin-B3. The original aim of this study was to characterize downstream signalling pathways of Plexin-B3 and their functional significance, concentrating on its previously identified interaction with a small GTPase Rin (Rit2). Later my focus shifted to microtubule end binding proteins (EBs) that came up in a yeast two-hybrid screen as potential interactors of Plexin-B3.

The aims of the current study were to:

- 1) verify the interaction between Plexin-B3 and microtubule end binding proteins EB1, EB2 and EB3;
- 2) study how B-plexins regulate microtubule dynamics;
- 3) describe subcellular localization of B-plexins in neurons;
- 4) characterize the influence of B-plexins on dendrite growth in rat hippocampal neurons;
- 5) analyse the role of B-plexins in synaptogenesis.

While concentrating on my main tasks I got interested also in the aspects of plexin and semaphorin phylogeny. An overview of this is provided as a bonus.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Following methods were used in this study.

- Standard molecular cloning procedures to generate necessary plasmids for expression of different proteins (publication I, II)
- Site-directed mutagenesis with PCR (publication I and III)
- Cell culture and transfections (publications I, II, III)
- Bacterial expression and purification of proteins (publication I)
- GST pull-down assay (publication I)
- Co-immunoprecipitation (publication I)
- Western blot (publication I, III)
- Bioinformatic analysis (publication I and unpublished)
- Neurite outgrowth assay with neuroblastoma cell line Neuro2A (publication I)
- Recombinant Sema4D-Fc production in 293FT cell line (publication II)
- RNA extraction and quantitative PCR (publication II)
- Immunocytochemistry and confocal microscopy (publication II, III)
- Live cell imaging with total internal reflection (TIRF) microscopy (publication II)
- Analysis of microtubule tip dynamics (publication II)
- Analysis of dendrite growth including Scholl analysis (publication II)
- Analysis of synapse volume (publication III)
- Statistical analysis (publication I, II, III)

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Semaphorins and plexins in different organisms

In addition to my main objectives I studied the phylogeny of semaphorins and plexins (Figure 8) as no thorough descriptions on this subject have been published, and recently several full genomes of interesting organisms have become available. For reference protein sequences I used NCBI gene database (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene) and for searching and comparing protein sequences of semaphorins and plexins of different organisms I used NCBI protein blast (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov).

			Semaphorins (classes) notes	Plexins (classes) notes
		Mammalia Homo sapiens	19 (3,4,5,6,7)	9 (A,B,C,D)
Deuterostomia		Aves Gallus gallus	16 (3,4,5,6,7)	7 (A,B,C,D)
	-data	Osteihchtyes Danio rerio	24 (3,4,5,6,7)	10 (A,B,C,D)
	Choi	Chondrihchtyes Callorhinchus milii	15 (3,4,5,6,7)	6 (A,B,C,D)
		Agnatha Petromyzon marinus	2 (3,4)	2 (A)
		Cephalochordata Branchiostoma floridae	3 (3,5,6)	1 (A/B)
		Urochordata Ciona intestinalis	4 (3,6,?)	2 (A/B)
		Echinodermata Strongylocentrotus	5	1
otostomia		Mollusca Aplysia californica	3 (1,2,5)	1+1 without Sema
	Г	Annelida Capitella teleata	2 (1,5)	1+1 TM+IC
		Arthropoda Drosophila melanogaster	5 (1,2,5)	2
<u>م</u>		Nematoda Caenorhabditis elegans	2 (1,2)	2
		Anthozoa Nematostella vectensis	1 (5)	1
	П	Hydrozoa Hydra vulgaris	0	1 without Sema
Г			0	2 without Sema
		Placozoa Trichoplax adhaerens	2 (1,5)	2
		Porifera Amphimedon queenslandica	1 (1) FN repeats	1
		Choanoflagellata Monosiga brevicollis	1 (1) FN repeats	1 only IC

Figure 8: Semaphorins and plexins in different phylogenetic groups.

TM - transmembrane domain, IC - intracellular domain, FN - fibronectin.

Semaphorins and plexins are characteristic for multicellular animals as would be expected for proteins that mediate cell-cell communication. No plexins and semaphorins are known from prokaryotes, unicellular organisms, plants or fungi. Exceptional is a single cell choanoflaggellate Monosiga *brevicollis*, who forms colonial structures and in many aspects is similar to higher organisms. This little creature has a 441 aa protein XP 001744227 that is remarkably similar to the intracellular domain of plexins. It has a RasGAP domain that is split by a Rho-binding domain. Monosiga has also Sema and PSI domains containing 1764 aa transmembrane protein XP 001747329 that can be the ancestor of semaphorins and extracellular domains of plexins. In sponge Amphimedon queenslandica there is a protein similar to full-length plexins XP 003382745 and also one transmembrane semaphorin XP 003384929 that is similar to *Monosiga* protein as it contains fibronectin repeats. No semaphorins could be detected from ctenophores and hydras, and they have plexins without the Sema domain. Similar plexins devoid of the Sema domain are present in the genomes of annelids and snails as well. This implies that plexins could function as receptors through a mechanism that does not involve semaphorins. Nematode C. elegans has two transmembrane semaphorins whereas Drosophila has five semaphorins (1a, 1b, 2a, 2b and 5c), and both have two plexins. It appears that transmembrane semaphorins (most similar to class 6 vertebrate semaphorins) are more ancient than secreted ones. Also class 5 semaphorins, characterized by thrombospondin repeats, have emerged quite early in evolution being present in placozoas, corals and most other invertebrate groups.

Primitive chordates resemble invertebrates in the aspect of semaphorin and plexin gene numbers. Their plexins are most similar to vertebrate A-plexins but at the same time, share multiple characteristic features with B-plexins. In sea lamprey Petromyzon marinus, who occupies a key position close to the root of the vertebrate phylogenetic tree, two semaphorins (Sema3 and Sema4) and two plexins (similar to PlxnA1 and PlxnA4) were identified (Shifman and Selzer, 2006). The gene duplication event that gave rise to different semaphorin and plexin subfamilies must have occurred after the divergence of jawed vertebrates from jawless fish. Invertebrates and lamprey do not have any neuropilins, they are used as co-receptors for A-plexins only in vertebrates (Fujisawa, 2004, Shifman and Selzer, 2006). Vertebrates have usually nine plexins. Fish have more due to an additional duplication in their genomes and birds have only seven as they lack the X-chromosome that harbours PlxnA3 and PlxnB3 (Mauti et al., 2006). Humans (and other mammals) have nine plexins A1-A4, B1-B3, C1 and D1, and 19 semaphorins 3A-3F, 4A-4G (mammals lack Sema4E), 5A and 5B, 6A-6D and 7A.

4.2 Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins

4.2.1 Yeast two-hybrid screen (publication I)

In order to find novel interaction partners for Plexin-B3 intracellular part a yeast two hybrid screen was performed by Kaie Pill. Cytotrap system (Stratagene) was selected as it screens protein-protein interactions at the plasma membrane versus a conventional GAL4 system that is localized to the nucleus. With a GAL4-based yeast two-hybrid screen Nakayama and colleagues had identified seven potential interactors of Plexin-B3 intracellular domain: PDZ domain containing RhoGEF ARHGEF11 (a well-known binding partner of Plexin-B1), ubiquitin ligase complex proteins cullin 7 and cullin 9, scaffolding molecules MAGI2 and MAGI3 that are associated with cell adhesion sites, BTBD3 that controls dendrite orientation (Matsui et al., 2013), and extracellular matrix protein SPOCK2 (Nakayama et al., 2002, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene).

Since Plexin-B3 is prominently expressed in the brain (Hartwig et al., 2005), we performed the yeast two-hybrid screen using human foetal brain cDNA library and Plexin-B3IC (amino acids 1274-1909) as a bait. 14 putative positive clones were isolated. Sequencing revealed that only three of those were in frame and encoded C-terminal domains of microtubule end binding proteins EB1 and EB3, and small GTPase Rin. Interaction between Plexin-B3 and Rin has been described (Hartwig et al., 2005). The clones containing EB1 and EB3 were further analysed in the yeast system to verify the interaction. Control experiments were performed also with EB2, which showed weaker binding affinity towards Plexin-B3IC. Plexin-B2IC construct failed to give positive results with any of the EB-family proteins in the yeast two-hybrid assay, indicating the specificity of the interaction.

Cytotrap is based on Ras activation pathway and this may be one of the reasons why we got relatively few positive clones. Plexins influence Ras pathway and could somehow interfere with the screening system. However, we obtained two interesting candidates for Plexin-B3 binding – microtubule end binding proteins EB1 and EB3.

4.2.2 EB homology domain binds to the SxIP motif in the NTS of plexins (publication I and unpublished)

To verify the interaction between EBs and Plexin-B3 we used GST pulldown assay. GST-tagged EB1, EB2 and EB3 were all able to form complexes with overexpressed 3xFLAG-Plexin-B3IC as well as endogenous full-length Plexin-B3 from rat cerebellum lysate. Co-immunoprecipitation experiments of endogenous proteins were not successful due to the fact that neither EB3 nor Plexin-B3 antibodies that we used work in IP. Deletion of the N-terminal calponin homology domain of EBs had no adverse effects, thus the C-terminal EB homology domain is the one interacting with Plexin-B3.

To map the EB-binding site on Plexin-B3IC a series of deletion constructs were generated and their ability to bind to EBs was assessed. I tried several Plexin-B3 mutants with little success to map the EB-binding site. However, my luck turned in 2009 when EB-binding consensus sequence SxIP was described by Honnappa and colleagues (Honnappa et al., 2009). Notably, the NTS of Plexin-B3IC (amino acids 1283-1364) contains this motif. Mutations affecting RasGAP domain or RhoBD had little or no effect on EB binding, whereas deletion of the NTS of Plexin-B3IC abrogated the interaction. Later a point mutation was introduced in the SxIP motif, where residues Ile1328 and Pro1329 were replaced by Asn and Ala respectively. GST-EB3 only weakly interacted with this mutant (Figure 9) confirming our hypothesis that SxIP motif residing between Plexin-B3IC NTS helixes 1 and 2 is responsible for the interaction with EBs.



Figure 9. GST-EB3 interacts with wild type (wt) Plexin-B3IC but not ANTS and weakly with SxIP mutant. Plexin-B3IC constructs in p3xFLAG were overexpressed in 293FT cells and subjected to GST pull-down with affinity purified GST-EB3. Plexin-B3IC proteins were detected with anti FLAG.

Comparison of Plexin-B3 protein sequences of different mammals indicated that the EB-binding motif and the surrounding region are well conserved. The same applies for Plexin-B1. EB-binding motif is also present in some plexins of lower vertebrates and *Drosophila* Plexin-B, strongly suggesting that this interaction may be evolutionarily conserved. The EB-binding motif corresponding to the consensus sequence SxIP was found in human Plexin-A2, B1 and B3 but not others. GST pull-down with different plexins showed that EB1 formed complexes with Plexin-A2, B1 and B3. At the same time Plexin-B2 failed to interact with any of the EB-family proteins. This could be explained by the Ser>Ala substitution in the EB-binding motif in Plexin-B2 (Figure 10), and

is consistent with yeast two-hybrid results. Sequences that bind EBs have been thoroughly analysed (Buey et al., 2012, Leśniewska et al., 2014), and it has become clear that critical for EB binding are the SxIP motif, one to two preceding amino acids, and four to seven that follow. Within the SxIP motif serine can be substituted for threonine, isoleucine for leucine, and proline is irreplaceable. In the position of x positively charged Lys and Arg residues are preferred, but other amino acids are also tolerated. In plexins there is glycine that by Buey et al is considered to be unfavourable (Buey et al., 2012), but other studies show that SGIP sequence effectively binds to EBs (Jiang et al., 2012, Leśniewska et al., 2014). In general negatively charged Asp and Glu in the surroundings of the SxIP motif diminish EB binding and hydrophobic or positively charged ones favour it. The composition of Plexin-B1 and B3 EBbinding regions suggests that they bind with moderate affinity to EBs and Plexin-B1 should bind better as in -2 position it has a hydrophobic Leu and Plexin-B3 has a negatively charged Glu. EB-binding can be abolished by phosphorylation that adds negative charge (Buey et al., 2012). In Plexin-B3 EBbinding region there are two Ser, one Thr and two Tyr residues that potentially might be targets of protein kinases, but their phosphorylation analysis awaits further investigation.

	-5	-4	-3-	-2-	-1	S	х	Ι	P	+1-	+2-	+3-	+4-	+5-	-6-	+7
Plexin-B1	S	D	L	L	G	S	G	I	Р	F	L	D	Y	к	v	Y
Plexin-B2	N	D	v	Η	Ε	A	G	I	Ρ	v	L	D	Y	ĸ	т	Y
Plexin-B3	S	D	L	E	G	S	G	I	Ρ	F	L	D	Y	R	т	Y

Figure 10. EB-binding motifs and their surroundings in human B-plexins. Residues that bind EBs with high affinity are in black, weakly binding residues in grey and residues that abrogate interaction with EBs in red.

Single SxIP motifs bind relatively weakly to EBs, but this can be significantly enhanced by forming protein oligomers (Buey et al., 2012), and plexins may form dimers (Wang et al., 2013).

Other proteins with the SxIP motif (APC, MACF2, CLASP2, MCAK etc.) bind to the highly conserved hydrophobic cleft in the C-terminal domain of EBs. The EB-binding region is relatively unstructured in described proteins (Honnappa et al., 2009). Similar situation is in Plexin-B1, and presumably also in Plexin-B3, as the SxIP motif resides in a loop between two NTS helixes at the bottom of the RasGAP domain (Tong et al., 2009, Wang et al., 2013), and should be accessible for other proteins. It is very likely that EB-plexin

interaction is conformation dependent and the availability of EB-binding motif is dynamically regulated by semaphorins.

In conclusion, the interaction between EBs and plexins takes place between the EB homology domain and the SxIP motif in the NTS, and is restricted to certain plexins.

4.3 Plexins influence microtubule dynamics (publication II)

4.3.1. B-plexins control movement of microtubule tips

What is the functional meaning of EB-plexin interaction? EB1 and EB3 are important for microtubule growth in neurons and also in other cells. They stabilize MTips and promote microtubule polymerization (Akhmanova and Steinmetz, 2008). Plexins are guidance molecules that influence cytoskeleton dynamics so that the growth cone of an axon or a dendrite turns and follows the right path. They also govern fasciculation and branching (Pasterkamp, 2012). Localized changes in microtubule dynamics are an important component of the growth cone response to extracellular signals. Positive cues promote microtubule growth but repellents reduce microtubule polymerization rate (Kelly et al., 2010). In epithelial cells HGF induces reorganization of cytoskeletal structures and increases microtubule growth rate EB1 dependently (Gierke and Wittmann, 2012). In Myoblasts EB3 is necessary for the regulation of microtubule dynamics and microtubule capture at the cell cortex, which in turn regulates the formation of polarized membrane protrusions and cell fusion (Straube and Merdes, 2007). It is possible that plexin activation by semaphorins alters microtubule dynamics to generate cellular response. Another option is that vesicles containing plexins are transported to the plasma membrane during exocytosis and afterwards recycled to endosomes in a manner that is mediated by EBs and microtubules.

So we decided to investigate how plexins influence microtubule dynamics and whether the interaction with EBs makes any difference. To follow microtubule tips in live NIH3T3 cells we used EB3-GFP that had been used in previous studies as a reliable microtubule plus end marker (Stepanova et al., 2003). Single cells were imaged with TIRF microscopy with a 0.5 second interval. Ten longest EB3-GFP tracks per cell were manually selected and converted to kymographs. Microtubule growth rate (velocity) and characteristics of MTip dynamics (the number of rescues, catastrophes and pauses) were measured.

Plexin-B1IC treatment generated characteristic jagged kymographs with short phases of growth interrupted by catastrophes or pauses indicating increased dynamic instability of microtubule tips. Plexin-B2IC and Plexin-B3IC slightly increased the number of rescues, but to a lesser extent than Plexin-B1IC. As Plexin-B3 should bind to EBs with lower affinity compared to PlexinB1, it is reasonable that it had a milder effect. Plexin-B2 influence on microtubule tips may be indirect or mediated by other yet unidentified factors. Recently it was shown that Plexin-B2 regulates the orientation of the mitotic spindle (a structure based on microtubules) in kidney epithelium through its RasGAP activity and Cdc42 (Xia et al., 2015). When the interaction between Plexin-B3 and EBs was disturbed using Δ NTS-B3IC, we observed a reduction of the effect of Plexin-B3IC on microtubule tip behaviour.

When we analysed the growth rate of microtubules, then it appeared that Bplexins that are unable to bind to EB-s (B2IC and Δ NTS-B3IC) accelerated MTips, whereas Plexin-B1IC and wild type B3IC were similar to the control group. Thus plexins can promote microtubule growth via pathways that are not dependent on direct EB interaction, indicating that additional factors are involved. Possible candidates are certainly RhoA (Azzarelli et al., 2014), Rnd1 (Li et al., 2009) or other Rho-family GTPases that function as regulators of cytoskeleton.

It appears that plexins can affect microtubule dynamics in different ways. Bplexins can increase the velocity of microtubules through EB-independent pathways, but when they are able to bind to EBs plexins induce more catastrophes and pauses at microtubule tips thereby slowing them down. This demonstrates that plexins regulate the balance between microtubule growth and dynamic instability. We propose a model that upon semaphorin binding the conformation of plexin changes, enabling it to transiently sequester EB1 or EB3 from microtubule tips resulting in destabilization and retraction of microtubules (Figure 11).

4.3.2 Sema4D increases microtubule plus end dynamics in neurons

To further verify the role of B-plexins in regulating microtubule dynamics, rat hippocampal neurons were treated with the ligand of B-plexins – Sema4D. EB3-GFP was imaged and tracked in axons as well as dendrites. Consistent with earlier studies (Stepanova et al., 2003) the growth rate of EB3-GFP comets was twofold smaller in neurons than in fibroblasts. At the same time microtubule tips were more dynamic, having more catastrophes, pauses and rescues. This could be explained by the more confined space in neurites than in the fibroblast cell body. Sema4D treatment had a similar effect as Plexin-B1IC overexpression – the number of dynamic events increased and as a consequence microtubule velocity declined. It is very likely that Sema4D influences microtubule tips in neurons through Plexin-B1, as it is the high-affinity receptor for Sema4D (Tamagnone et al., 1999).

Taken together, Sema4D modulates the dynamic behaviour of microtubule tips both in axons and dendrites.



Figure 11. Plexin-EB interaction induces depolymerization of microtubule plus ends. (A) EBs are captured by activated Plexin-B3. (B) EBs can no longer bind to microtubules and the plus end of a microtubule is disassembled.

4.4 Plexin-B2 and B3 localization in neurons (publication III and unpublished)

In order to better understand the function of B-plexins in neurons we wanted to clarify the issue of their subcellular localization. Plexin-B1 localization in rat hippocampal neurons has been described previously (Lin et al., 2007). Plexin-B1 immunoreactivity was seen in neuronal cell bodies and along dendritic shafts as punctate structures that co-localized with PSD95 indicating its presence in excitatory synapses. Plexin-B2 is expressed widely throughout the nervous system and also in other organs (Worzfeld et al., 2004, Zielonka et al., 2010). Plexin-B3 is prominently expressed in CNS neurons (Hartwig et al., 2005) and oligodendrocytes (Worzfeld et al., 2004), and in contrast to other B-plexins its levels are low prenatally and rise after birth during the period of neurite growth and synaptogenesis. Detailed subcellular localization of Plexin-B2 and B3 in neurons has not been described in previous publications.

Our attempts to confirm the results regarding Plexin-B1 failed, as the purchased polyclonal antibody was unable to recognize Plexin-B1 in any of the

methods we tested. Suzanne Paradis has encountered similar problems (personal communication) and this sheds some doubt on the original publication of Plexin-B1 localization (Lin et al., 2007). To visualize Plexin-B2 and B3 we performed immunocytochemistry of rat hippocampal neurons with antibodies against different neuronal markers and plexins. We followed Plexin-B2 and B3 expression patterns through the development of neurons in culture at 7 DIV, 14 DIV and 21 DIV. Plexin-B2 and B3 expression levels varied in different neurons from very weak to moderate. Both were also visible in different MAP2 negative non-neuronal cells. Plexin antibody signals were strongest in neuronal cell bodies, diffuse in dendrites and occasionally they were detected also along axons. Plexin-B2 signal was stronger in younger cultures concentrating in the cell body membranes and at branching points of dendrites. Later in development Plexin-B2 levels in dendrites declined. In contrast to Plexin-B2, Plexin-B3 intensity in dendrites increased during maturation, which is consistent with the rise of mRNA levels in brain after birth. These results suggest that Plexin-B2 and B3 may regulate dendrite branching.

At 21 DIV we monitored co-localization of plexins with different synaptic markers. This time point was selected as most synapses have matured by then. Immunoreactivity of both plexins exhibited a punctuate distribution along dendrites partially co-localizing with the dendrite microtubule marker MAP2, but surrounding it rather than directly associating with it. Generally strong signals of plexins and synaptic proteins excluded each other, on rare occasions co-localization with presynaptic markers Synaptophysin1 and GAD65 could be observed. In conclusion, Plexin-B2 and B3 proteins appear in dendrites as puncta along the dendritic shaft, but there is no enrichment in synaptic compartments. Such extrasynaptic localization in dendrites has also been observed in the case of Plexin-A2, Plexin-A3, Sema5A (Duan et al., 2014) and Sema5B (O'Connor et al., 2009).

4.5 B-plexins in dendrite growth (publication II)

As B-plexins localize to dendrites and influenced microtubule dynamics that is an important mechanism behind dendrite growth, their role in dendritogenesis was examined. At 6 DIV rat hippocampal neurons were transfected with siRNAs targeting all three B-plexins, and dendritic arbours were analysed at 9 DIV. Depletion of B-plexins individually suppressed dendrite growth decreasing total dendritic length by 15-20%. Influence of B-plexin siRNAs on dendrite arborisation correlated with the ability of corresponding plexins to promote microtubule growth – Plexin-B1 did not accelerate microtubule tips and its knockdown had relatively mild consequences, whereas Plexin-B2 that increased microtubule velocity turned out to be most important of B-plexins for dendritogenesis. Plexin-B3 had an intermediate effect. As different plexins are likely to compensate for each other, we assessed the influence of double and triple knockdowns as well. Indeed, the combinations of siRNAs had an additive effect, reaching the reduction of dendritic length by one third when the expression of all three B-plexins was suppressed. From these results it can concluded that all B-plexins positively regulate dendrite growth in a cooperative manner.

Plexin-B1, that in the microtubule tip speed aspect was indistinguishable from the control, was not very important for dendrite elongation. Our results are different from previous observations regarding the role of Plexin-B1 in dendritogenesis, where Plexin-B1 was described as a negative regulator (Saito et al., 2009). In our system overexpression of intracellular domains of B-plexins did not alter dendrite length or branching. Previous reports regarding the influence of Plexin-B1 ligand Sema4D on dendritic arborisation have also been contradictory (Saito et al., 2009, Vodrazka et al., 2009). While the first group observed Plexin-B1 mediated inhibitory effect of Sema4D on dendrite growth, the latter reported that Sema4D potentiated the formation of higher order branches. Actually both are in agreement with our observation that activated increases microtubule dynamic instability. Plexin-B1 More dynamic microtubule tips promote branch formation but at the same time increased number of catastrophes and pauses slows elongation.

Plexin-B2 overexpression increased microtubule velocity and its depletion individually had the most adverse effect on dendrite growth. Lack of Plexin-B2 has been associated with a small decrease in neurite length of olfactory bulb neurons (Saha et al., 2012). However, dendrite morphology was not examined in detail in that study. Still, it can be concluded that Plexin-B2 is a positive regulator of dendrite growth. Besides, Plexin-B2 and B3 promoted neurite growth of murine cerebellar neurons *in trans* (Hartwig et al., 2005) that can be explained by the homophilic interaction between plexins or they interfere with the signalling by class 4 semaphorins. Plexin-B3 can influence dendrites also via interaction with BTBD3 (Nakayama et al., 2002), a protein that regulates dendrite orientation in the neocortex in response to neuronal activity (Matsui et al., 2013), but this aspect has not been studied.

4.6 B-plexins and synapses (publication III)

4.6.1 B-plexins are negative regulators of excitatory synapses

Although Plexin-B2 and B3 localization did not overlap with synaptic markers in hippocampal neurons, we still decided to study whether they influence formation of different synapses. Previous works have shown that Plexin-B1 (Kuzirian et al., 2013) and several other plexins and semaphorins play a part in normal synaptogenesis. We chose the strategy of overexpressing the intracellular domains of B-plexins that are known to functionally mimic ligand-activated full-length plexins. Rat hippocampal neurons were transfected

at 16 DIV and analysed at 21 DIV. First, we assessed the impact of B-plexins on excitatory synapses that were visualized by staining presynaptic Synaptophysin1 or postsynaptic PSD95. All three B-plexins significantly reduced the amount of excitatory synapses. We further studied which domain of the intracellular part of Plexin-B3 is responsible for it. We found that mutants Δ NTS and SxIPmut, that are defective for EB3 binding, lacked the negative effect on glutamatergic synapse volume. EB3 is required for normal dendritic spine and synapse formation (Jaworski et al., 2009), and PSD95 is able to interact with EB3 (Sweet et al., 2011). It could be suggested that Plexin-B3 sequesters EB3 from its other interaction partners and thus interferes with its positive role in stabilizing postsynaptic structures in dendritic spines. That in turn leads to disassembly of the synapse and dissociation of presynaptic compartment as well.

Overall, our results indicate that activated B-plexins reduce the number of glutamatergic synapses and in the case of Plexin-B3 regulation of microtubule dynamics is involved in this process. In general our results agree with the study performed by Kuzirian and colleagues (Kuzirian et al., 2013), who described a transient decrease of glutamatergic synapses in response to Sema4D. The negative effect of B-plexins on glutamatergic synapses corroborates with multiple studies where the addition of semaphorins has been shown to reduce the number of synapses, or depletion of semaphorins or plexins has led to excessive formation of dendritic spines or excitatory synapses. Such observations have been made in case of class 3 semaphorins whose signals are mediated by A or D class plexins (Tran et al., 2009, Demyanenko et al., 2014, Ding et al., 2012), and Sema5A and Sema5B that use A-plexins as receptors (Duan et al., 2014, O'Connor et al., 2009, Matsuoka et al., 2011b).

4.6.2 Plexin-B1 and B3 promote the formation of inhibitory synapses

Next we determined how different B-plexins influence GABAergic synapse formation. As technically it is easier to count and measure the synapses around the cell soma, we focused on neuron bodies, based on the fact that Sema4Dinduced inhibitory synapse formation is not dependent on subcellular localization (Kuzirian et al., 2013). Our results showed that Plexin-B1IC and Plexin-B3IC, but not Plexin-B2IC, acted in a positive manner on inhibitory synapses. In contrast to excitatory synapse formation, EB-binding does not seem to be of crucial importance for Plexin-B3IC as the SxIP mutant was still able to increase the volume of inhibitory synapses. Instead, activation of plexin RasGAP domain and Rho GTPases are necessary for the process. Taken together, Plexin-B1 and B3 positively regulate GABAergic synapse density and downstream signalling cascades involve Rap GTPase as well as Rho GTPase activity regulation.

It has been shown that Plexin-B1 is absolutely necessary for mediating the positive Sema4D signals in inhibitory synapse assembly (Kuzirian et al., 2013).

Thus it was anticipated that Plexin-B1IC over-expression would enhance the formation of GABAergic synapses. As Plexin-B3 resembles Plexin-B1 in many aspects it did not come as a surprise that it acted in a similar manner.

Plexin-B2IC overexpression did not influence inhibitory synapse assembly and it could not be explained by the difference in binding to EB proteins. Largest variability between our B-plexin constructs lies in the transmembrane and Rho binding domains and the explanation should be there. As the transmembrane domain of Plexin-B2 contains residues that do not favour dimer formation it has been suggested that its activation mechanisms are different from Plexin-B1 and B3 (Zhang et al., 2015). Positive effect of Plexin-B3 on inhibitory synapses required RasGAP activity that is dependent on plexin dimerization. Plexin-B2 is not able to form dimers spontaneously and therefore requires additional factors for RasGAP activation that were missing in our system.

Besides, Rnd1 may be the reason behind the contradictory role of Plexin-B2 in regulating inhibitory synapses. Rnd1 is highly expressed during synaptogenic period in the brain (Ishikawa et al., 2003) and may participate in inhibitory synapse formation. The Rnd1-binding loop in the RhoBD of Plexin-B2 is substantially different from other B-plexins and thus likely does not interact with Rnd1 unlike Plexin-B1 and B3 (Oinuma et al., 2004 and personal unpublished observations).

Taken together, Plexin-B1 and B3 are positive regulators of inhibitory synapse assembly while Plexin-B2 is not involved in this process.

4.7 Concluding remarks

The pattern of connections between neurons determines the functionality of the brain. Increasing evidence has established the importance of semaphorins and plexins in various aspects of CNS development including dendritogenesis and formation of synapses. This study significantly elaborates the knowledge of the role of Plexin-B3 and other B-plexins in those processes.

The results presented here indicate that Plexin-B1 and B3 interact with EB proteins and this makes microtubules more dynamic enabling the dendrites to find the correct path. On the other hand, plexins promote microtubule growth and dendrite elongation through alternative signalling pathways. Besides, our current results show that Plexin-B2 and B3 are located in dendrites of hippocampal neurons mostly extrasynaptically and mediate inhibitory signals of semaphorins to avoid excitatory synapse formation in wrong places. At the same time Plexin-B1 and B3 promote the formation of inhibitory synapses further regulating the balance of excitation and inhibition. We conclude that B-plexins play an important role in directly mediating semaphorin signals to the microtubule cytoskeleton thereby modulating dendrite growth and formation of synapses, and hence are participating in guiding and connecting the neurons in the brain.

So what?

My work is not going to bring peace to the world nor provide a cure for all diseases. Scientists have tried to figure out how the human body works for a long time, but there are still gaps in our knowledge. Every cell is a nanoscale four-dimensional puzzle. I have enjoyed solving puzzles since I was a child, only the nature of them has changed over the years. During the years of my PhD studies I have managed to find some missing pieces in the puzzle of human body and put them together. I know that it is not much but in the end every little bit counts. Contemporary methods of all kinds of omics enable to produce masses of datasets, but in order to understand all that big data little people like me, who study single proteins, are also needed.

CONCLUSIONS

- 1. Plexin-B3 intracellular portion interacts with microtubule end binding proteins EB1, EB2 and EB3.
- 2. Plexin-B3IC N-terminal segment contains the conserved EB-binding motif SxIP and it is essential for plexin-EB interaction. The same motif can be found in Plexin-A2 and B1 as well.
- 3. B-plexins alter microtubule tip dynamics in two ways:
 - Plexin-B1IC and B3IC that can bind to EBs induce more catastrophes and pauses at microtubule tips thereby slowing them down.
 - Plexin-B2IC and Δ NTS-B3IC that do not bind to EBs increase microtubule growth rate.
- 4. Plexin-B1 high-affinity ligand Semaphorin 4D increases microtubule plus end dynamics in dendrites of rat hippocampal neurons.
- 5. Plexin-B2 and B3 proteins are present in neuronal cell bodies and dendrites, but do not colocalize with synapses. Also glial cells are positive for Plexin-B2 and B3.
- 6. Depletion of B-plexins inhibits dendrite growth.
 - The impact on dendrite length correlates with the ability of plexins to promote microtubule growth.
 - B-plexins promote dendrite growth in a cooperative manner.
- 7. B-plexins are negative regulators of excitatory synapses.
 - Plexin-B3 interaction with EBs participates in the elimination of excitatory synapses.
- 8. Plexin-B3 promotes inhibitory synapse assembly by regulating activity of Ras and Rho GTPases.

REFERENCES

- Aghajanian, H., Choi, C., Ho, V.C., Gupta, M., Singh, M.K., and Epstein, J.A. (2014). Semaphorin 3d and semaphorin 3e direct endothelial motility through distinct molecular signaling pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 17971–17979.
- Akhmanova, A., and Steinmetz, M.O. (2008). Tracking the ends: a dynamic protein network controls the fate of microtubule tips. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *9*, 309–322.
- Aldinger, K.A., Kogan, J., Kimonis, V., Fernandez, B., Horn, D., Klopocki, E., Chung, B., Toutain, A., Weksberg, R., Millen, K.J., et al. (2013). Cerebellar and posterior fossa malformations in patients with autismassociated chromosome 22q13 terminal deletion. Am. J. Med. Genet. A. 161A, 131–136.
- Alves-Silva, J., Sánchez-Soriano, N., Beaven, R., Klein, M., Parkin, J., Millard, T.H., Bellen, H.J., Venken, K.J.T., Ballestrem, C., Kammerer, R.A., et al. (2012). Spectraplakins promote microtubule-mediated axonal growth by functioning as structural microtubule-associated proteins and EB1dependent +TIPs (tip interacting proteins). J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32, 9143–9158.
- Antipenko, A., Himanen, J.-P., van Leyen, K., Nardi-Dei, V., Lesniak, J., Barton, W.A., Rajashankar, K.R., Lu, M., Hoemme, C., Püschel, A.W., et al. (2003). Structure of the semaphorin-3A receptor binding module. Neuron 39, 589–598.
- Arion, D., Horváth, S., Lewis, D.A., and Mirnics, K. (2010). Infragranular gene expression disturbances in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia: signature of altered neural development? Neurobiol. Dis. 37, 738–746.
- Armendáriz, B.G., Bribian, A., Pérez-Martínez, E., Martínez, A., de Castro, F., Soriano, E., and Burgaya, F. (2012). Expression of Semaphorin 4F in neurons and brain oligodendrocytes and the regulation of oligodendrocyte precursor migration in the optic nerve. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 49, 54–67.
- Artigiani, S., Barberis, D., Fazzari, P., Longati, P., Angelini, P., van de Loo, J.-W., Comoglio, P.M., and Tamagnone, L. (2003). Functional regulation of semaphorin receptors by proprotein convertases. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 10094–10101.
- Artigiani, S., Conrotto, P., Fazzari, P., Gilestro, G.F., Barberis, D., Giordano, S., Comoglio, P.M., and Tamagnone, L. (2004). Plexin-B3 is a functional receptor for semaphorin 5A. EMBO Rep. 5, 710–714.
- Aurandt, J., Vikis, H.G., Gutkind, J.S., Ahn, N., and Guan, K.-L. (2002). The semaphorin receptor plexin-B1 signals through a direct interaction with the Rho-specific nucleotide exchange factor, LARG. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99, 12085–12090.

- Azzarelli, R., Pacary, E., Garg, R., Garcez, P., van den Berg, D., Riou, P., Ridley, A.J., Friedel, R.H., Parsons, M., and Guillemot, F. (2014). An antagonistic interaction between PlexinB2 and Rnd3 controls RhoA activity and cortical neuron migration. Nat. Commun. 5, 3405.
- Azzarelli, R., Guillemot, F., and Pacary, E. (2015). Function and regulation of Rnd proteins in cortical projection neuron migration. Front. Neurosci. 9, 19.
- Barberis, D., Artigiani, S., Casazza, A., Corso, S., Giordano, S., Love, C.A., Jones, E.Y., Comoglio, P.M., and Tamagnone, L. (2004). Plexin signaling hampers integrin-based adhesion, leading to Rho-kinase independent cell rounding, and inhibiting lamellipodia extension and cell motility. FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 18, 592–594.
- Barton, R., Palacio, D., Iovine, M.K., and Berger, B.W. (2015). A cytosolic juxtamembrane interface modulates plexin a3 oligomerization and signal transduction. PloS One *10*, e0116368.
- Basile, J.R., Afkhami, T., and Gutkind, J.S. (2005). Semaphorin 4D/plexin-B1 induces endothelial cell migration through the activation of PYK2, Src, and the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway. Mol. Cell. Biol. *25*, 6889–6898.
- Van Battum, E.Y., Gunput, R.-A.F., Lemstra, S., Groen, E.J.N., Yu, K.L., Adolfs, Y., Zhou, Y., Hoogenraad, C.C., Yoshida, Y., Schachner, M., et al. (2014). The intracellular redox protein MICAL-1 regulates the development of hippocampal mossy fibre connections. Nat. Commun. 5, 4317.
- Becker, P.M., Tran, T.S., Delannoy, M.J., He, C., Shannon, J.M., and McGrath-Morrow, S. (2011). Semaphorin 3A contributes to distal pulmonary epithelial cell differentiation and lung morphogenesis. PloS One *6*, e27449.
- Bell, C.H., Aricescu, A.R., Jones, E.Y., and Siebold, C. (2011). A dual binding mode for RhoGTPases in plexin signalling. PLoS Biol. 9, e1001134.
- Bento, C.F., Puri, C., Moreau, K., and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2013). The role of membrane-trafficking small GTPases in the regulation of autophagy. J. Cell Sci. 126, 1059–1069.
- Bernardinelli, Y., Nikonenko, I., and Muller, D. (2014). Structural plasticity: mechanisms and contribution to developmental psychiatric disorders. Front. Neuroanat. *8*, 123.
- Binmadi, N.O., Proia, P., Zhou, H., Yang, Y.-H., and Basile, J.R. (2011). Rhomediated activation of PI(4)P5K and lipid second messengers is necessary for promotion of angiogenesis by Semaphorin 4D. Angiogenesis 14, 309–319.
- Bouzioukh, F., Daoudal, G., Falk, J., Debanne, D., Rougon, G., and Castellani, V. (2006). Semaphorin3A regulates synaptic function of differentiated hippocampal neurons. Eur. J. Neurosci. 23, 2247–2254.

- Bribián, A., Nocentini, S., Llorens, F., Gil, V., Mire, E., Reginensi, D., Yoshida, Y., Mann, F., and del Río, J.A. (2014). Sema3E/PlexinD1 regulates the migration of hem-derived Cajal-Retzius cells in developing cerebral cortex. Nat. Commun. 5, 4265.
- Bron, R., Vermeren, M., Kokot, N., Andrews, W., Little, G.E., Mitchell, K.J., and Cohen, J. (2007). Boundary cap cells constrain spinal motor neuron somal migration at motor exit points by a semaphorin-plexin mechanism. Neural Develop. 2, 21.
- Bu, W., and Su, L.-K. (2003). Characterization of functional domains of human EB1 family proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 49721–49731.
- Buey, R.M., Mohan, R., Leslie, K., Walzthoeni, T., Missimer, J.H., Menzel, A.,
 Bjelic, S., Bargsten, K., Grigoriev, I., Smal, I., et al. (2011). Insights into
 EB1 structure and the role of its C-terminal domain for discriminating
 microtubule tips from the lattice. Mol. Biol. Cell 22, 2912–2923.
- Buey, R.M., Sen, I., Kortt, O., Mohan, R., Gfeller, D., Veprintsev, D., Kretzschmar, I., Scheuermann, J., Neri, D., Zoete, V., et al. (2012). Sequence determinants of a microtubule tip localization signal (MtLS). J. Biol. Chem. 287, 28227–28242.
- Burkhardt, C., Müller, M., Badde, A., Garner, C.C., Gundelfinger, E.D., and Püschel, A.W. (2005). Semaphorin 4B interacts with the post-synaptic density protein PSD-95/SAP90 and is recruited to synapses through a Cterminal PDZ-binding motif. FEBS Lett. 579, 3821–3828.
- Carcea, I., Patil, S.B., Robison, A.J., Mesias, R., Huntsman, M.M., Froemke, R.C., Buxbaum, J.D., Huntley, G.W., and Benson, D.L. (2014). Maturation of cortical circuits requires Semaphorin 7A. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 13978–13983.
- Chabbert-de Ponnat, I., Marie-Cardine, A., Pasterkamp, R.J., Schiavon, V., Tamagnone, L., Thomasset, N., Bensussan, A., and Boumsell, L. (2005).
 Soluble CD100 functions on human monocytes and immature dendritic cells require plexin C1 and plexin B1, respectively. Int. Immunol. 17, 439–447.
- Cheadle, L., and Biederer, T. (2014). Activity-dependent regulation of dendritic complexity by semaphorin 3A through Farp1. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. *34*, 7999–8009.
- Chen, G., Sima, J., Jin, M., Wang, K.-Y., Xue, X.-J., Zheng, W., Ding, Y.-Q., and Yuan, X.-B. (2008). Semaphorin-3A guides radial migration of cortical neurons during development. Nat. Neurosci. 11, 36–44.
- Cheng, H.J., Bagri, A., Yaron, A., Stein, E., Pleasure, S.J., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2001). Plexin-A3 mediates semaphorin signaling and regulates the development of hippocampal axonal projections. Neuron 32, 249–263.
- Claudepierre, T., Koncina, E., Pfrieger, F.W., Bagnard, D., Aunis, D., and Reber, M. (2008). Implication of neuropilin 2/semaphorin 3F in retinocollicular map formation. Dev. Dyn. Off. Publ. Am. Assoc. Anat. 237, 3394–3403.

- Cohen, R.I., Rottkamp, D.M., Maric, D., Barker, J.L., and Hudson, L.D. (2003). A role for semaphorins and neuropilins in oligodendrocyte guidance. J. Neurochem. 85, 1262–1278.
- Comeau, M.R., Johnson, R., DuBose, R.F., Petersen, M., Gearing, P., VandenBos, T., Park, L., Farrah, T., Buller, R.M., Cohen, J.I., et al. (1998). A poxvirus-encoded semaphorin induces cytokine production from monocytes and binds to a novel cellular semaphorin receptor, VESPR. Immunity 8, 473–482.
- Delloye-Bourgeois, C., Jacquier, A., Charoy, C., Reynaud, F., Nawabi, H., Thoinet, K., Kindbeiter, K., Yoshida, Y., Zagar, Y., Kong, Y., et al. (2014). PlexinA1 is a new Slit receptor and mediates axon guidance function of Slit C-terminal fragments. Nat. Neurosci.
- Demyanenko, G.P., Mohan, V., Zhang, X., Brennaman, L.H., Dharbal, K.E.S., Tran, T.S., Manis, P.B., and Maness, P.F. (2014). Neural cell adhesion molecule NrCAM regulates Semaphorin 3F-induced dendritic spine remodeling. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 34, 11274–11287.
- Deng, S., Hirschberg, A., Worzfeld, T., Penachioni, J.Y., Korostylev, A., Swiercz, J.M., Vodrazka, P., Mauti, O., Stoeckli, E.T., Tamagnone, L., et al. (2007). Plexin-B2, but not Plexin-B1, critically modulates neuronal migration and patterning of the developing nervous system in vivo. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 27, 6333–6347.
- Ding, J.B., Oh, W.-J., Sabatini, B.L., and Gu, C. (2012). Semaphorin 3E-Plexin-D1 signaling controls pathway-specific synapse formation in the striatum. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 215–223.
- Driessens, M.H., Hu, H., Nobes, C.D., Self, A., Jordens, I., Goodman, C.S., and Hall, A. (2001). Plexin-B semaphorin receptors interact directly with active Rac and regulate the actin cytoskeleton by activating Rho. Curr. Biol. CB *11*, 339–344.
- Driessens, M.H.E., Olivo, C., Nagata, K., Inagaki, M., and Collard, J.G. (2002). B plexins activate Rho through PDZ-RhoGEF. FEBS Lett. 529, 168– 172.
- Duan, Y., Wang, S.-H., Song, J., Mironova, Y., Ming, G.-L., Kolodkin, A.L., and Giger, R.J. (2014). Semaphorin 5A inhibits synaptogenesis in early postnatal- and adult-born hippocampal dentate granule cells. eLife *3*.
- Eastwood, S.L., Law, A.J., Everall, I.P., and Harrison, P.J. (2003). The axonal chemorepellant semaphorin 3A is increased in the cerebellum in schizophrenia and may contribute to its synaptic pathology. Mol. Psychiatry *8*, 148–155.
- Epstein, J.A., Aghajanian, H., and Singh, M.K. (2015). Semaphorin Signaling in Cardiovascular Development. Cell Metab. 21, 163–173.
- Eva, R., Crisp, S., Marland, J.R.K., Norman, J.C., Kanamarlapudi, V., ffrench-Constant, C., and Fawcett, J.W. (2012). ARF6 directs axon transport and traffic of integrins and regulates axon growth in adult DRG neurons. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32, 10352–10364.

- Fansa, E.K., Dvorsky, R., Zhang, S.-C., Fiegen, D., and Ahmadian, M.R. (2013). Interaction characteristics of Plexin-B1 with Rho family proteins. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 434, 785–790.
- Fazzari, P., Penachioni, J., Gianola, S., Rossi, F., Eickholt, B.J., Maina, F., Alexopoulou, L., Sottile, A., Comoglio, P.M., Flavell, R.A., et al. (2007). Plexin-B1 plays a redundant role during mouse development and in tumour angiogenesis. BMC Dev. Biol. 7, 55.
- Feng, L., Yunoue, S., Tokuo, H., Ozawa, T., Zhang, D., Patrakitkomjorn, S., Ichimura, T., Saya, H., and Araki, N. (2004). PKA phosphorylation and 14-3-3 interaction regulate the function of neurofibromatosis type I tumor suppressor, neurofibromin. FEBS Lett. 557, 275–282.
- Fournier, A.E., Nakamura, F., Kawamoto, S., Goshima, Y., Kalb, R.G., and Strittmatter, S.M. (2000). Semaphorin3A enhances endocytosis at sites of receptor-F-actin colocalization during growth cone collapse. J. Cell Biol. 149, 411–422.
- Franco, M., and Tamagnone, L. (2008). Tyrosine phosphorylation in semaphorin signalling: shifting into overdrive. EMBO Rep. *9*, 865–871.
- Friedel, R.H., Kerjan, G., Rayburn, H., Schüller, U., Sotelo, C., Tessier-Lavigne, M., and Chédotal, A. (2007). Plexin-B2 controls the development of cerebellar granule cells. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 27, 3921– 3932.
- Fu, L., Kitamura, T., Iwabuchi, K., Ichinose, S., Yanagida, M., Ogawa, H., Watanabe, S., Maruyama, T., Suyama, M., and Takamori, K. (2012). Interplay of neuropilin-1 and semaphorin 3A after partial hepatectomy in rats. World J. Gastroenterol. WJG 18, 5034–5041.
- Fujii, T., Uchiyama, H., Yamamoto, N., Hori, H., Tatsumi, M., Ishikawa, M., Arima, K., Higuchi, T., and Kunugi, H. (2011). Possible association of the semaphorin 3D gene (SEMA3D) with schizophrenia. J. Psychiatr. Res. 45, 47–53.
- Fujisawa, H. (2004). Discovery of semaphorin receptors, neuropilin and plexin, and their functions in neural development. J. Neurobiol. 59, 24–33.
- Gant, J.C., Thibault, O., Blalock, E.M., Yang, J., Bachstetter, A., Kotick, J., Schauwecker, P.E., Hauser, K.F., Smith, G.M., Mervis, R., et al. (2009). Decreased number of interneurons and increased seizures in neuropilin 2 deficient mice: implications for autism and epilepsy. Epilepsia *50*, 629– 645.
- Geraldo, S., Khanzada, U.K., Parsons, M., Chilton, J.K., and Gordon-Weeks, P.R. (2008). Targeting of the F-actin-binding protein drebrin by the microtubule plus-tip protein EB3 is required for neuritogenesis. Nat. Cell Biol. *10*, 1181–1189.
- Giacobini, P., Messina, A., Morello, F., Ferraris, N., Corso, S., Penachioni, J., Giordano, S., Tamagnone, L., and Fasolo, A. (2008). Semaphorin 4D regulates gonadotropin hormone-releasing hormone-1 neuronal migration through PlexinB1-Met complex. J. Cell Biol. 183, 555–566.

- Gierke, S., and Wittmann, T. (2012). EB1-recruited microtubule +TIP complexes coordinate protrusion dynamics during 3D epithelial remodeling. Curr. Biol. CB *22*, 753–762.
- Goldenberg, N.M., and Steinberg, B.E. (2010). Surface charge: a key determinant of protein localization and function. Cancer Res. 70, 1277–1280.
- Gu, C., Zhou, W., Puthenveedu, M.A., Xu, M., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y. (2006). The microtubule plus-end tracking protein EB1 is required for Kv1 voltage-gated K+ channel axonal targeting. Neuron *52*, 803–816.
- Gu, J., Firestein, B.L., and Zheng, J.Q. (2008). Microtubules in dendritic spine development. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 28, 12120–12124.
- Halstead, J.R., Savaskan, N.E., van den Bout, I., Van Horck, F., Hajdo-Milasinovic, A., Snell, M., Keune, W.-J., Ten Klooster, J.-P., Hordijk, P.L., and Divecha, N. (2010). Rac controls PIP5K localisation and PtdIns(4,5)P synthesis, which modulates vinculin localisation and neurite dynamics. J. Cell Sci. 123, 3535–3546.
- Hannachi, H., Mougou, S., Benabdallah, I., Soayh, N., Kahloul, N., Gaddour, N., Le Lorc'h, M., Sanlaville, D., El Ghezal, H., and Saad, A. (2013).
 Molecular and phenotypic characterization of ring chromosome 22 in two unrelated patients. Cytogenet. Genome Res. *140*, 1–11.
- Hartwig, C., Veske, A., Krejcova, S., Rosenberger, G., and Finckh, U. (2005). Plexin B3 promotes neurite outgrowth, interacts homophilically, and interacts with Rin. BMC Neurosci. 6, 53.
- He, Z., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (1997). Neuropilin is a receptor for the axonal chemorepellent Semaphorin III. Cell *90*, 739–751.
- He, H., Yang, T., Terman, J.R., and Zhang, X. (2009). Crystal structure of the plexin A3 intracellular region reveals an autoinhibited conformation through active site sequestration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 15610–15615.
- Heo, W.D., Inoue, T., Park, W.S., Kim, M.L., Park, B.O., Wandless, T.J., and Meyer, T. (2006). PI(3,4,5)P3 and PI(4,5)P2 lipids target proteins with polybasic clusters to the plasma membrane. Science 314, 1458–1461.
- Hirotani, M., Ohoka, Y., Yamamoto, T., Nirasawa, H., Furuyama, T., Kogo, M., Matsuya, T., and Inagaki, S. (2002). Interaction of plexin-B1 with PDZ domain-containing Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factors. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 297, 32–37.
- Hirschberg, A., Deng, S., Korostylev, A., Paldy, E., Costa, M.R., Worzfeld, T., Vodrazka, P., Wizenmann, A., Götz, M., Offermanns, S., et al. (2010). Gene deletion mutants reveal a role for semaphorin receptors of the plexin-B family in mechanisms underlying corticogenesis. Mol. Cell. Biol. 30, 764–780.
- Honnappa, S., Gouveia, S.M., Weisbrich, A., Damberger, F.F., Bhavesh, N.S., Jawhari, H., Grigoriev, I., van Rijssel, F.J.A., Buey, R.M., Lawera, A., et

al. (2009). An EB1-binding motif acts as a microtubule tip localization signal. Cell *138*, 366–376.

- Hu, X., Ballo, L., Pietila, L., Viesselmann, C., Ballweg, J., Lumbard, D., Stevenson, M., Merriam, E., and Dent, E.W. (2011). BDNF-induced increase of PSD-95 in dendritic spines requires dynamic microtubule invasions. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 31, 15597–15603.
- Hung, R.-J., Yazdani, U., Yoon, J., Wu, H., Yang, T., Gupta, N., Huang, Z., van Berkel, W.J.H., and Terman, J.R. (2010). Mical links semaphorins to Factin disassembly. Nature 463, 823–827.
- Hung, R.-J., Pak, C.W., and Terman, J.R. (2011). Direct redox regulation of Factin assembly and disassembly by Mical. Science *334*, 1710–1713.
- Hussman, J.P., Chung, R.-H., Griswold, A.J., Jaworski, J.M., Salyakina, D., Ma, D., Konidari, I., Whitehead, P.L., Vance, J.M., Martin, E.R., et al. (2011). A noise-reduction GWAS analysis implicates altered regulation of neurite outgrowth and guidance in autism. Mol. Autism 2, 1.
- Hutchins, B.I., and Wray, S. (2014). Capture of microtubule plus-ends at the actin cortex promotes axophilic neuronal migration by enhancing microtubule tension in the leading process. Front. Cell. Neurosci. *8*, 400.
- Inagaki, S., Ohoka, Y., Sugimoto, H., Fujioka, S., Amazaki, M., Kurinami, H., Miyazaki, N., Tohyama, M., and Furuyama, T. (2001). Sema4c, a transmembrane semaphorin, interacts with a post-synaptic density protein, PSD-95. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 9174–9181.
- Ishikawa, Y., Katoh, H., and Negishi, M. (2003). A role of Rnd1 GTPase in dendritic spine formation in hippocampal neurons. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 23, 11065–11072.
- Ishikawa, Y., Katoh, H., and Negishi, M. (2006). Small GTPase Rnd1 is involved in neuronal activity-dependent dendritic development in hippocampal neurons. Neurosci. Lett. 400, 218–223.
- Ito, K., Kawasaki, T., Takashima, S., Matsuda, I., Aiba, A., and Hirata, T. (2008). Semaphorin 3F confines ventral tangential migration of lateral olfactory tract neurons onto the telencephalon surface. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 28, 4414–4422.
- Ito, Y., Oinuma, I., Katoh, H., Kaibuchi, K., and Negishi, M. (2006). Sema4D/plexin-B1 activates GSK-3beta through R-Ras GAP activity, inducing growth cone collapse. EMBO Rep. 7, 704–709.
- Iwashita, S., and Song, S.-Y. (2008). RasGAPs: a crucial regulator of extracellular stimuli for homeostasis of cellular functions. Mol. Biosyst. 4, 213–222.
- Janssen, B.J.C., Robinson, R.A., Pérez-Brangulí, F., Bell, C.H., Mitchell, K.J., Siebold, C., and Jones, E.Y. (2010). Structural basis of semaphorinplexin signalling. Nature 467, 1118–1122.
- Janssen, B.J.C., Malinauskas, T., Weir, G.A., Cader, M.Z., Siebold, C., and Jones, E.Y. (2012). Neuropilins lock secreted semaphorins onto plexins in a ternary signaling complex. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *19*, 1293–1299.

- Jaworski, J., Kapitein, L.C., Gouveia, S.M., Dortland, B.R., Wulf, P.S., Grigoriev, I., Camera, P., Spangler, S.A., Di Stefano, P., Demmers, J., et al. (2009). Dynamic microtubules regulate dendritic spine morphology and synaptic plasticity. Neuron *61*, 85–100.
- Jiang, K., Toedt, G., Montenegro Gouveia, S., Davey, N.E., Hua, S., van der Vaart, B., Grigoriev, I., Larsen, J., Pedersen, L.B., Bezstarosti, K., et al. (2012). A Proteome-wide screen for mammalian SxIP motif-containing microtubule plus-end tracking proteins. Curr. Biol. CB 22, 1800–1807.
- Jurney, W.M., Gallo, G., Letourneau, P.C., and McLoon, S.C. (2002). Rac1mediated endocytosis during ephrin-A2- and semaphorin 3A-induced growth cone collapse. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 22, 6019–6028.
- Juwana, J.P., Henderikx, P., Mischo, A., Wadle, A., Fadle, N., Gerlach, K., Arends, J.W., Hoogenboom, H., Pfreundschuh, M., and Renner, C. (1999). EB/RP gene family encodes tubulin binding proteins. Int. J. Cancer J. Int. Cancer 81, 275–284.
- Kameyama, T., Murakami, Y., Suto, F., Kawakami, A., Takagi, S., Hirata, T., and Fujisawa, H. (1996a). Identification of plexin family molecules in mice. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 226, 396–402.
- Kameyama, T., Murakami, Y., Suto, F., Kawakami, A., Takagi, S., Hirata, T., and Fujisawa, H. (1996b). Identification of a neuronal cell surface molecule, plexin, in mice. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 226, 524– 529.
- Kang, S., and Kumanogoh, A. (2013). Semaphorins in bone development, homeostasis, and disease. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 24, 163–171.
- Kapitein, L.C., Yau, K.W., Gouveia, S.M., van der Zwan, W.A., Wulf, P.S., Keijzer, N., Demmers, J., Jaworski, J., Akhmanova, A., and Hoogenraad, C.C. (2011). NMDA receptor activation suppresses microtubule growth and spine entry. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 31, 8194–8209.
- Kelly, T.-A.N., Katagiri, Y., Vartanian, K.B., Kumar, P., Chen, I.-I., Rosoff, W.J., Urbach, J.S., and Geller, H.M. (2010). Localized alteration of microtubule polymerization in response to guidance cues. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 3024–3033.
- Kerjan, G., Dolan, J., Haumaitre, C., Schneider-Maunoury, S., Fujisawa, H., Mitchell, K.J., and Chédotal, A. (2005). The transmembrane semaphorin Sema6A controls cerebellar granule cell migration. Nat. Neurosci. 8, 1516–1524.
- Khazaei, M.R., Girouard, M.-P., Alchini, R., Ong Tone, S., Shimada, T., Bechstedt, S., Cowan, M., Guillet, D., Wiseman, P.W., Brouhard, G., et al. (2014). Collapsin response mediator protein 4 regulates growth cone dynamics through the actin and microtubule cytoskeleton. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 30133–30143.
- Kolodkin, A.L., Matthes, D.J., O'Connor, T.P., Patel, N.H., Admon, A., Bentley, D., and Goodman, C.S. (1992). Fasciclin IV: sequence, expression, and

function during growth cone guidance in the grasshopper embryo. Neuron 9, 831–845.

- Kolodkin, A.L., Matthes, D.J., and Goodman, C.S. (1993). The semaphorin genes encode a family of transmembrane and secreted growth cone guidance molecules. Cell *75*, 1389–1399.
- Kolodkin, A.L., Levengood, D.V., Rowe, E.G., Tai, Y.T., Giger, R.J., and Ginty, D.D. (1997). Neuropilin is a semaphorin III receptor. Cell *90*, 753–762.
- Komarova, Y., De Groot, C.O., Grigoriev, I., Gouveia, S.M., Munteanu, E.L., Schober, J.M., Honnappa, S., Buey, R.M., Hoogenraad, C.C., Dogterom, M., et al. (2009). Mammalian end binding proteins control persistent microtubule growth. J. Cell Biol. 184, 691–706.
- Korostylev, A., Worzfeld, T., Deng, S., Friedel, R.H., Swiercz, J.M., Vodrazka, P., Maier, V., Hirschberg, A., Ohoka, Y., Inagaki, S., et al. (2008). A functional role for semaphorin 4D/plexin B1 interactions in epithelial branching morphogenesis during organogenesis. Dev. Camb. Engl. 135, 3333–3343.
- Kozlov, G., Perreault, A., Schrag, J.D., Park, M., Cygler, M., Gehring, K., and Ekiel, I. (2004). Insights into function of PSI domains from structure of the Met receptor PSI domain. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 321, 234–240.
- Kumanogoh, A., Watanabe, C., Lee, I., Wang, X., Shi, W., Araki, H., Hirata, H., Iwahori, K., Uchida, J., Yasui, T., et al. (2000). Identification of CD72 as a lymphocyte receptor for the class IV semaphorin CD100: a novel mechanism for regulating B cell signaling. Immunity 13, 621–631.
- Kumanogoh, A., Marukawa, S., Suzuki, K., Takegahara, N., Watanabe, C., Ch'ng, E., Ishida, I., Fujimura, H., Sakoda, S., Yoshida, K., et al. (2002). Class IV semaphorin Sema4A enhances T-cell activation and interacts with Tim-2. Nature 419, 629–633.
- Kuzirian, M.S., Moore, A.R., Staudenmaier, E.K., Friedel, R.H., and Paradis, S. (2013). The class 4 semaphorin Sema4D promotes the rapid assembly of GABAergic synapses in rodent hippocampus. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 33, 8961–8973.
- Leśniewska, K., Warbrick, E., and Ohkura, H. (2014). Peptide aptamers define distinct EB1- and EB3-binding motifs and interfere with microtubule dynamics. Mol. Biol. Cell 25, 1025–1036.
- Li, X., and Lee, A.Y.W. (2010). Semaphorin 5A and plexin-B3 inhibit human glioma cell motility through RhoGDIalpha-mediated inactivation of Rac1 GTPase. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 32436–32445.
- Li, X., Law, J.W.S., and Lee, A.Y.W. (2012). Semaphorin 5A and plexin-B3 regulate human glioma cell motility and morphology through Rac1 and the actin cytoskeleton. Oncogene *31*, 595–610.
- Li, Y.-H., Ghavampur, S., Bondallaz, P., Will, L., Grenningloh, G., and Püschel, A.W. (2009). Rnd1 regulates axon extension by enhancing the

microtubule destabilizing activity of SCG10. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 363-371.

- Lillesaar, C., and Fried, K. (2004). Neurites from trigeminal ganglion explants grown in vitro are repelled or attracted by tooth-related tissues depending on developmental stage. Neuroscience *125*, 149–161.
- Lin, X., Ogiya, M., Takahara, M., Yamaguchi, W., Furuyama, T., Tanaka, H., Tohyama, M., and Inagaki, S. (2007). Sema4D-plexin-B1 implicated in regulation of dendritic spine density through RhoA/ROCK pathway. Neurosci. Lett. 428, 1–6.
- Liu, G., and Dwyer, T. (2014). Microtubule dynamics in axon guidance. Neurosci. Bull. 30, 569–583.
- Liu, H., Juo, Z.S., Shim, A.H.-R., Focia, P.J., Chen, X., Garcia, K.C., and He, X. (2010). Structural basis of semaphorin-plexin recognition and viral mimicry from Sema7A and A39R complexes with PlexinC1. Cell 142, 749–761.
- Liu, X.-B., Low, L.K., Jones, E.G., and Cheng, H.-J. (2005). Stereotyped axon pruning via plexin signaling is associated with synaptic complex elimination in the hippocampus. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 25, 9124–9134.
- Luo, Y., Raible, D., and Raper, J.A. (1993). Collapsin: a protein in brain that induces the collapse and paralysis of neuronal growth cones. Cell 75, 217–227.
- Machacek, M., Hodgson, L., Welch, C., Elliott, H., Pertz, O., Nalbant, P., Abell, A., Johnson, G.L., Hahn, K.M., and Danuser, G. (2009). Coordination of Rho GTPase activities during cell protrusion. Nature 461, 99–103.
- Maestrini, E., Tamagnone, L., Longati, P., Cremona, O., Gulisano, M., Bione, S., Tamanini, F., Neel, B.G., Toniolo, D., and Comoglio, P.M. (1996). A family of transmembrane proteins with homology to the METhepatocyte growth factor receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 674–678.
- Mah, S., Nelson, M.R., Delisi, L.E., Reneland, R.H., Markward, N., James, M.R., Nyholt, D.R., Hayward, N., Handoko, H., Mowry, B., et al. (2006). Identification of the semaphorin receptor PLXNA2 as a candidate for susceptibility to schizophrenia. Mol. Psychiatry 11, 471– 478.
- Maier, V., Jolicoeur, C., Rayburn, H., Takegahara, N., Kumanogoh, A., Kikutani, H., Tessier-Lavigne, M., Wurst, W., and Friedel, R.H. (2011). Semaphorin 4C and 4G are ligands of Plexin-B2 required in cerebellar development. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 46, 419–431.
- Marín, O., Yaron, A., Bagri, A., Tessier-Lavigne, M., and Rubenstein, J.L. (2001). Sorting of striatal and cortical interneurons regulated by semaphorin-neuropilin interactions. Science 293, 872–875.
- Masuda, K., Furuyama, T., Takahara, M., Fujioka, S., Kurinami, H., and Inagaki, S. (2004). Sema4D stimulates axonal outgrowth of embryonic

DRG sensory neurones. Genes Cells Devoted Mol. Cell. Mech. 9, 821–829.

- Matsui, A., Tran, M., Yoshida, A.C., Kikuchi, S.S., U, M., Ogawa, M., and Shimogori, T. (2013). BTBD3 controls dendrite orientation toward active axons in mammalian neocortex. Science *342*, 1114–1118.
- Matsuoka, R.L., Nguyen-Ba-Charvet, K.T., Parray, A., Badea, T.C., Chédotal, A., and Kolodkin, A.L. (2011a). Transmembrane semaphorin signalling controls laminar stratification in the mammalian retina. Nature 470, 259–263.
- Matsuoka, R.L., Chivatakarn, O., Badea, T.C., Samuels, I.S., Cahill, H., Katayama, K.-I., Kumar, S.R., Suto, F., Chédotal, A., Peachey, N.S., et al. (2011b). Class 5 transmembrane semaphorins control selective Mammalian retinal lamination and function. Neuron 71, 460–473.
- Mauti, O., Sadhu, R., Gemayel, J., Gesemann, M., and Stoeckli, E.T. (2006). Expression patterns of plexins and neuropilins are consistent with cooperative and separate functions during neural development. BMC Dev. Biol. 6, 32.
- Mauti, O., Domanitskaya, E., Andermatt, I., Sadhu, R., and Stoeckli, E.T. (2007). Semaphorin6A acts as a gate keeper between the central and the peripheral nervous system. Neural Develop. *2*, 28.
- McInnes, L.A., Nakamine, A., Pilorge, M., Brandt, T., Jiménez González, P., Fallas, M., Manghi, E.R., Edelmann, L., Glessner, J., Hakonarson, H., et al. (2010). A large-scale survey of the novel 15q24 microdeletion syndrome in autism spectrum disorders identifies an atypical deletion that narrows the critical region. Mol. Autism 1, 5.
- Melin, M., Carlsson, B., Anckarsater, H., Rastam, M., Betancur, C., Isaksson, A., Gillberg, C., and Dahl, N. (2006). Constitutional downregulation of SEMA5A expression in autism. Neuropsychobiology 54, 64–69.
- Merriam, E.B., Lumbard, D.C., Viesselmann, C., Ballweg, J., Stevenson, M., Pietila, L., Hu, X., and Dent, E.W. (2011). Dynamic microtubules promote synaptic NMDA receptor-dependent spine enlargement. PloS One 6, e27688.
- Merriam, E.B., Millette, M., Lumbard, D.C., Saengsawang, W., Fothergill, T., Hu, X., Ferhat, L., and Dent, E.W. (2013). Synaptic regulation of microtubule dynamics in dendritic spines by calcium, F-actin, and drebrin. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 33, 16471–16482.
- Messina, A., Ferraris, N., Wray, S., Cagnoni, G., Donohue, D.E., Casoni, F., Kramer, P.R., Derijck, A.A., Adolfs, Y., Fasolo, A., et al. (2011). Dysregulation of Semaphorin7A/β1-integrin signaling leads to defective GnRH-1 cell migration, abnormal gonadal development and altered fertility. Hum. Mol. Genet. 20, 4759–4774.
- Mizumoto, K., and Shen, K. (2013). Interaxonal interaction defines tiled presynaptic innervation in C. elegans. Neuron 77, 655–666.

- Mlechkovich, G., Peng, S.-S., Shacham, V., Martinez, E., Gokhman, I., Minis, A., Tran, T.S., and Yaron, A. (2014). Distinct cytoplasmic domains in Plexin-A4 mediate diverse responses to semaphorin 3A in developing mammalian neurons. Sci. Signal. 7, ra24.
- Moreau-Fauvarque, C., Kumanogoh, A., Camand, E., Jaillard, C., Barbin, G., Boquet, I., Love, C., Jones, E.Y., Kikutani, H., Lubetzki, C., et al. (2003). The transmembrane semaphorin Sema4D/CD100, an inhibitor of axonal growth, is expressed on oligodendrocytes and upregulated after CNS lesion. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 23, 9229–9239.
- Morita, A., Yamashita, N., Sasaki, Y., Uchida, Y., Nakajima, O., Nakamura, F., Yagi, T., Taniguchi, M., Usui, H., Katoh-Semba, R., et al. (2006). Regulation of dendritic branching and spine maturation by semaphorin3A-Fyn signaling. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 26, 2971–2980.
- Morrison, E.E., Moncur, P.M., and Askham, J.M. (2002). EB1 identifies sites of microtubule polymerisation during neurite development. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 98, 145–152.
- Murakoshi, H., Wang, H., and Yasuda, R. (2011). Local, persistent activation of Rho GTPases during plasticity of single dendritic spines. Nature 472, 100–104.
- Nakagawa, H., Koyama, K., Murata, Y., Morito, M., Akiyama, T., and Nakamura, Y. (2000). EB3, a novel member of the EB1 family preferentially expressed in the central nervous system, binds to a CNSspecific APC homologue. Oncogene *19*, 210–216.
- Nakayama, M., Kikuno, R., and Ohara, O. (2002). Protein-protein interactions between large proteins: two-hybrid screening using a functionally classified library composed of long cDNAs. Genome Res. *12*, 1773–1784.
- Nogi, T., Yasui, N., Mihara, E., Matsunaga, Y., Noda, M., Yamashita, N., Toyofuku, T., Uchiyama, S., Goshima, Y., Kumanogoh, A., et al. (2010). Structural basis for semaphorin signalling through the plexin receptor. Nature 467, 1123–1127.
- O'Connor, T.P., Cockburn, K., Wang, W., Tapia, L., Currie, E., and Bamji, S.X. (2009). Semaphorin 5B mediates synapse elimination in hippocampal neurons. Neural Develop. *4*, 18.
- Ohta, K., Takagi, S., Asou, H., and Fujisawa, H. (1992). Involvement of neuronal cell surface molecule B2 in the formation of retinal plexiform layers. Neuron 9, 151–161.
- Oinuma, I., Katoh, H., Harada, A., and Negishi, M. (2003). Direct interaction of Rnd1 with Plexin-B1 regulates PDZ-RhoGEF-mediated Rho activation by Plexin-B1 and induces cell contraction in COS-7 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 25671–25677.

- Oinuma, I., Ishikawa, Y., Katoh, H., and Negishi, M. (2004). The Semaphorin 4D receptor Plexin-B1 is a GTPase activating protein for R-Ras. Science *305*, 862–865.
- Oinuma, I., Ito, Y., Katoh, H., and Negishi, M. (2010). Semaphorin 4D/Plexin-B1 stimulates PTEN activity through R-Ras GTPase-activating protein activity, inducing growth cone collapse in hippocampal neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 28200–28209.
- Okada, A., and Tomooka, Y. (2012). Possible roles of Plexin-A4 in positioning of oligodendrocyte precursor cells in developing cerebral cortex. Neurosci. Lett. *516*, 259–264.
- Okada, T., Sinha, S., Esposito, I., Schiavon, G., López-Lago, M.A., Su, W., Pratilas, C.A., Abele, C., Hernandez, J.M., Ohara, M., et al. (2015). The Rho GTPase Rnd1 suppresses mammary tumorigenesis and EMT by restraining Ras-MAPK signalling. Nat. Cell Biol. 17, 81–94.
- Paradis, S., Harrar, D.B., Lin, Y., Koon, A.C., Hauser, J.L., Griffith, E.C., Zhu, L., Brass, L.F., Chen, C., and Greenberg, M.E. (2007). An RNAi-based approach identifies molecules required for glutamatergic and GABAergic synapse development. Neuron 53, 217–232.
- Parrinello, S., Noon, L.A., Harrisingh, M.C., Wingfield Digby, P., Rosenberg, L.H., Cremona, C.A., Echave, P., Flanagan, A.M., Parada, L.F., and Lloyd, A.C. (2008). NF1 loss disrupts Schwann cell-axonal interactions: a novel role for semaphorin 4F. Genes Dev. 22, 3335–3348.
- Pasterkamp, R.J. (2012). Getting neural circuits into shape with semaphorins. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13, 605–618.
- Pasterkamp, R.J., Peschon, J.J., Spriggs, M.K., and Kolodkin, A.L. (2003). Semaphorin 7A promotes axon outgrowth through integrins and MAPKs. Nature 424, 398–405.
- Pasterkamp, R.J., Kolk, S.M., Hellemons, A.J.C.G.M., and Kolodkin, A.L. (2007). Expression patterns of semaphorin7A and plexinC1 during rat neural development suggest roles in axon guidance and neuronal migration. BMC Dev. Biol. 7, 98.
- Penzes, P., Cahill, M.E., Jones, K.A., VanLeeuwen, J.-E., and Woolfrey, K.M. (2011). Dendritic spine pathology in neuropsychiatric disorders. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 285–293.
- Perälä, N., Jakobson, M., Ola, R., Fazzari, P., Penachioni, J.Y., Nymark, M., Tanninen, T., Immonen, T., Tamagnone, L., and Sariola, H. (2011). Sema4C-Plexin B2 signalling modulates ureteric branching in developing kidney. Differ. Res. Biol. Divers. 81, 81–91.
- Perälä, N., Sariola, H., and Immonen, T. (2012). More than nervous: the emerging roles of plexins. Differ. Res. Biol. Divers. 83, 77–91.
- Perrot, V., Vazquez-Prado, J., and Gutkind, J.S. (2002). Plexin B regulates Rho through the guanine nucleotide exchange factors leukemia-associated Rho GEF (LARG) and PDZ-RhoGEF. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 43115–43120.

- Poliakova, K., Adebola, A., Leung, C.L., Favre, B., Liem, R.K.H., Schepens, I., and Borradori, L. (2014). BPAG1a and b associate with EB1 and EB3 and modulate vesicular transport, Golgi apparatus structure, and cell migration in C2.7 myoblasts. PloS One 9, e107535.
- Purves, D. (2008). Neuroscience (Sunderland, Mass: Sinauer).
- Qu, C., Dwyer, T., Shao, Q., Yang, T., Huang, H., and Liu, G. (2013). Direct binding of TUBB3 with DCC couples netrin-1 signaling to intracellular microtubule dynamics in axon outgrowth and guidance. J. Cell Sci. 126, 3070–3081.
- Raissi, A.J., Staudenmaier, E.K., David, S., Hu, L., and Paradis, S. (2013). Sema4D localizes to synapses and regulates GABAergic synapse development as a membrane-bound molecule in the mammalian hippocampus. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. *57*, 23–32.
- Reidy, K.J., Aggarwal, P.K., Jimenez, J.J., Thomas, D.B., Veron, D., and Tufro, A. (2013). Excess podocyte semaphorin-3A leads to glomerular disease involving plexinA1-nephrin interaction. Am. J. Pathol. 183, 1156–1168.
- Renaud, J., and Chédotal, A. (2014). Time-lapse analysis of tangential migration in Sema6A and PlexinA2 knockouts. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. *63*, 49–59.
- Renaud, J., Kerjan, G., Sumita, I., Zagar, Y., Georget, V., Kim, D., Fouquet, C., Suda, K., Sanbo, M., Suto, F., et al. (2008). Plexin-A2 and its ligand, Sema6A, control nucleus-centrosome coupling in migrating granule cells. Nat. Neurosci. 11, 440–449.
- Riou, P., Kjær, S., Garg, R., Purkiss, A., George, R., Cain, R.J., Bineva, G., Reymond, N., McColl, B., Thompson, A.J., et al. (2013). 14-3-3 proteins interact with a hybrid prenyl-phosphorylation motif to inhibit G proteins. Cell 153, 640–653.
- Rohm, B., Rahim, B., Kleiber, B., Hovatta, I., and Püschel, A.W. (2000). The semaphorin 3A receptor may directly regulate the activity of small GTPases. FEBS Lett. 486, 68–72.
- Rojas, A.M., Fuentes, G., Rausell, A., and Valencia, A. (2012). The Ras protein superfamily: evolutionary tree and role of conserved amino acids. J. Cell Biol. 196, 189–201.
- Roney, K., Holl, E., and Ting, J. (2013). Immune plexins and semaphorins: old proteins, new immune functions. Protein Cell *4*, 17–26.
- Roney, K.E., O'Connor, B.P., Wen, H., Holl, E.K., Guthrie, E.H., Davis, B.K., Jones, S.W., Jha, S., Sharek, L., Garcia-Mata, R., et al. (2011). Plexin-B2 negatively regulates macrophage motility, Rac, and Cdc42 activation. PloS One 6, e24795.
- Rujescu, D., Meisenzahl, E.M., Krejcova, S., Giegling, I., Zetzsche, T., Reiser, M., Born, C.M., Möller, H.-J., Veske, A., Gal, A., et al. (2007). Plexin B3 is genetically associated with verbal performance and white matter volume in human brain. Mol. Psychiatry *12*, 190–194, 115.
- Rünker, A.E., O'Tuathaigh, C., Dunleavy, M., Morris, D.W., Little, G.E., Corvin, A.P., Gill, M., Henshall, D.C., Waddington, J.L., and Mitchell,

K.J. (2011). Mutation of Semaphorin-6A disrupts limbic and cortical connectivity and models neurodevelopmental psychopathology. PloS One *6*, e26488.

- Sabag, A.D., Smolkin, T., Mumblat, Y., Ueffing, M., Kessler, O., Gloeckner, C.J., and Neufeld, G. (2014). The role of the plexin-A2 receptor in semaphorin-3A and semaphorin-3B signal transduction. J. Cell Sci.
- Saha, B., Ypsilanti, A.R., Boutin, C., Cremer, H., and Chédotal, A. (2012). Plexin-B2 regulates the proliferation and migration of neuroblasts in the postnatal and adult subventricular zone. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32, 16892–16905.
- Sahay, A., Kim, C.-H., Sepkuty, J.P., Cho, E., Huganir, R.L., Ginty, D.D., and Kolodkin, A.L. (2005). Secreted semaphorins modulate synaptic transmission in the adult hippocampus. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 25, 3613–3620.
- Saito, Y., Oinuma, I., Fujimoto, S., and Negishi, M. (2009). Plexin-B1 is a GTPase activating protein for M-Ras, remodelling dendrite morphology. EMBO Rep. 10, 614–621.
- Sakurai, A., Gavard, J., Annas-Linhares, Y., Basile, J.R., Amornphimoltham, P., Palmby, T.R., Yagi, H., Zhang, F., Randazzo, P.A., Li, X., et al. (2010). Semaphorin 3E initiates antiangiogenic signaling through plexin D1 by regulating Arf6 and R-Ras. Mol. Cell. Biol. *30*, 3086–3098.
- Sakurai, A., Jian, X., Lee, C.J., Manavski, Y., Chavakis, E., Donaldson, J., Randazzo, P.A., and Gutkind, J.S. (2011). Phosphatidylinositol-4phosphate 5-kinase and GEP100/Brag2 protein mediate antiangiogenic signaling by semaphorin 3E-plexin-D1 through Arf6 protein. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 34335–34345.
- Salemi, L.M., Loureiro, S.O., and Schild-Poulter, C. (2015). Characterization of RanBPM molecular determinants that control its subcellular localization. PloS One 10, e0117655.
- Sawma, P., Roth, L., Blanchard, C., Bagnard, D., Crémel, G., Bouveret, E., Duneau, J.-P., Sturgis, J.N., and Hubert, P. (2014). Evidence for new homotypic and heterotypic interactions between transmembrane helices of proteins involved in receptor tyrosine kinase and neuropilin signaling. J. Mol. Biol.
- Sayas, C.L., and Avila, J. (2014). Regulation of EB1/3 proteins by classical MAPs in neurons. Bioarchitecture 4, 1–5.
- Sayas, C.L., Tortosa, E., Bollati, F., Ramírez-Ríos, S., Arnal, I., and Avila, J. (2015). Tau regulates the localization and function of End-binding proteins 1 and 3 (EB1/3) in developing neuronal cells. J. Neurochem.
- Schmidt, E.F., Shim, S.-O., and Strittmatter, S.M. (2008). Release of MICAL autoinhibition by semaphorin-plexin signaling promotes interaction with collapsin response mediator protein. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 28, 2287–2297.

- Scholz, R., Berberich, S., Rathgeber, L., Kolleker, A., Köhr, G., and Kornau, H.-C. (2010). AMPA receptor signaling through BRAG2 and Arf6 critical for long-term synaptic depression. Neuron 66, 768–780.
- Schultze, W., Eulenburg, V., Lessmann, V., Herrmann, L., Dittmar, T., Gundelfinger, E.D., Heumann, R., and Erdmann, K.S. (2001). Semaphorin4F interacts with the synapse-associated protein SAP90/PSD-95. J. Neurochem. 78, 482–489.
- Semaphorin Nomenclature Committee. (1999). Unified nomenclature for the semaphorins/collapsins. Cell 97, 551–552.
- Sen, I., Veprintsev, D., Akhmanova, A., and Steinmetz, M.O. (2013). End binding proteins are obligatory dimers. PloS One *8*, e74448.
- Shi, G.-X., Cai, W., and Andres, D.A. (2013). Rit subfamily small GTPases: regulators in neuronal differentiation and survival. Cell. Signal. 25, 2060–2068.
- Shifman, M.I., and Selzer, M.E. (2006). Semaphorins and their receptors in lamprey CNS: Cloning, phylogenetic analysis, and developmental changes during metamorphosis. J. Comp. Neurol. 497, 115–132.
- Siebold, C., and Jones, E.Y. (2013). Structural insights into semaphorins and their receptors. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 24, 139–145.
- Slep, K.C. (2010). Structural and mechanistic insights into microtubule endbinding proteins. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 22, 88–95.
- Smith, E.P., Shanks, K., Lipsky, M.M., DeTolla, L.J., Keegan, A.D., and Chapoval, S.P. (2011). Expression of neuroimmune semaphorins 4A and 4D and their receptors in the lung is enhanced by allergen and vascular endothelial growth factor. BMC Immunol. *12*, 30.
- Smith, E.S., Jonason, A., Reilly, C., Veeraraghavan, J., Fisher, T., Doherty, M., Klimatcheva, E., Mallow, C., Cornelius, C., Leonard, J.E., et al. (2015). SEMA4D compromises blood-brain barrier, activates microglia, and inhibits remyelination in neurodegenerative disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 73, 254–268.
- Southwell, A.L., Franciosi, S., Villanueva, E.B., Xie, Y., Winter, L.A., Veeraraghavan, J., Jonason, A., Felczak, B., Zhang, W., Kovalik, V., et al. (2015). Anti-semaphorin 4D immunotherapy ameliorates neuropathology and some cognitive impairment in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease. Neurobiol. Dis. *76*, 46–56.
- Spassky, N., de Castro, F., Le Bras, B., Heydon, K., Quéraud-LeSaux, F., Bloch-Gallego, E., Chédotal, A., Zalc, B., and Thomas, J.-L. (2002). Directional guidance of oligodendroglial migration by class 3 semaphorins and netrin-1. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 22, 5992– 6004.
- Stepanova, T., Slemmer, J., Hoogenraad, C.C., Lansbergen, G., Dortland, B., De Zeeuw, C.I., Grosveld, F., van Cappellen, G., Akhmanova, A., and Galjart, N. (2003). Visualization of microtubule growth in cultured

neurons via the use of EB3-GFP (end-binding protein 3-green fluorescent protein). J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 23, 2655–2664.

- Straube, A., and Merdes, A. (2007). EB3 regulates microtubule dynamics at the cell cortex and is required for myoblast elongation and fusion. Curr. Biol. CB 17, 1318–1325.
- Su, L.K., and Qi, Y. (2001). Characterization of human MAPRE genes and their proteins. Genomics *71*, 142–149.
- Suda, S., Iwata, K., Shimmura, C., Kameno, Y., Anitha, A., Thanseem, I., Nakamura, K., Matsuzaki, H., Tsuchiya, K.J., Sugihara, G., et al. (2011). Decreased expression of axon-guidance receptors in the anterior cingulate cortex in autism. Mol. Autism 2, 14.
- Sun, T., Krishnan, R., and Swiercz, J.M. (2012). Grb2 mediates semaphorin-4Ddependent RhoA inactivation. J. Cell Sci. 125, 3557–3567.
- Suto, F., Ito, K., Uemura, M., Shimizu, M., Shinkawa, Y., Sanbo, M., Shinoda, T., Tsuboi, M., Takashima, S., Yagi, T., et al. (2005). Plexin-a4 mediates axon-repulsive activities of both secreted and transmembrane semaphorins and plays roles in nerve fiber guidance. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 25, 3628–3637.
- Sweet, E.S., Previtera, M.L., Fernández, J.R., Charych, E.I., Tseng, C.-Y., Kwon, M., Starovoytov, V., Zheng, J.Q., and Firestein, B.L. (2011). PSD-95 alters microtubule dynamics via an association with EB3. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 31, 1038–1047.
- Swiercz, J.M., Kuner, R., Behrens, J., and Offermanns, S. (2002). Plexin-B1 directly interacts with PDZ-RhoGEF/LARG to regulate RhoA and growth cone morphology. Neuron *35*, 51–63.
- Swiercz, J.M., Kuner, R., and Offermanns, S. (2004). Plexin-B1/RhoGEFmediated RhoA activation involves the receptor tyrosine kinase ErbB-2. J. Cell Biol. 165, 869–880.
- Swiercz, J.M., Worzfeld, T., and Offermanns, S. (2009). Semaphorin 4D signaling requires the recruitment of phospholipase C gamma into the plexin-B1 receptor complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. 29, 6321–6334.
- Takagi, S., Tsuji, T., Amagai, T., Takamatsu, T., and Fujisawa, H. (1987). Specific cell surface labels in the visual centers of Xenopus laevis tadpole identified using monoclonal antibodies. Dev. Biol. *122*, 90–100.
- Takahashi, T., and Strittmatter, S.M. (2001). Plexina1 autoinhibition by the plexin sema domain. Neuron 29, 429–439.
- Takahashi, T., Fournier, A., Nakamura, F., Wang, L.H., Murakami, Y., Kalb, R.G., Fujisawa, H., and Strittmatter, S.M. (1999). Plexin-neuropilin-1 complexes form functional semaphorin-3A receptors. Cell 99, 59–69.
- Takamatsu, H., and Kumanogoh, A. (2012). Diverse roles for semaphorin-plexin signaling in the immune system. Trends Immunol. *33*, 127–135.
- Takeshita, M., Yamada, K., Hattori, E., Iwayama, Y., Toyota, T., Iwata, Y., Tsuchiya, K.J., Sugihara, G., Hashimoto, K., Watanabe, H., et al. (2008).

Genetic examination of the PLXNA2 gene in Japanese and Chinese people with schizophrenia. Schizophr. Res. 99, 359–364.

- Tamagnone, L., Artigiani, S., Chen, H., He, Z., Ming, G.I., Song, H., Chedotal, A., Winberg, M.L., Goodman, C.S., Poo, M., et al. (1999). Plexins are a large family of receptors for transmembrane, secreted, and GPIanchored semaphorins in vertebrates. Cell 99, 71–80.
- Taniguchi, Y., Amazaki, M., Furuyama, T., Yamaguchi, W., Takahara, M., Saino, O., Wada, T., Niwa, H., Tashiro, F., Miyazaki, J.-I., et al. (2009). Sema4D deficiency results in an increase in the number of oligodendrocytes in healthy and injured mouse brains. J. Neurosci. Res. 87, 2833–2841.
- Tawarayama, H., Yoshida, Y., Suto, F., Mitchell, K.J., and Fujisawa, H. (2010). Roles of semaphorin-6B and plexin-A2 in lamina-restricted projection of hippocampal mossy fibers. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 30, 7049– 7060.
- Togashi, H., Schmidt, E.F., and Strittmatter, S.M. (2006). RanBPM contributes to Semaphorin3A signaling through plexin-A receptors. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 26, 4961–4969.
- Tojima, T., Itofusa, R., and Kamiguchi, H. (2010). Asymmetric clathrinmediated endocytosis drives repulsive growth cone guidance. Neuron *66*, 370–377.
- Tong, Y., Chugha, P., Hota, P.K., Alviani, R.S., Li, M., Tempel, W., Shen, L., Park, H.-W., and Buck, M. (2007). Binding of Rac1, Rnd1, and RhoD to a novel Rho GTPase interaction motif destabilizes dimerization of the plexin-B1 effector domain. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 37215–37224.
- Tong, Y., Hota, P.K., Penachioni, J.Y., Hamaneh, M.B., Kim, S., Alviani, R.S., Shen, L., He, H., Tempel, W., Tamagnone, L., et al. (2009). Structure and function of the intracellular region of the plexin-b1 transmembrane receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 35962–35972.
- Tortosa, E., Galjart, N., Avila, J., and Sayas, C.L. (2013). MAP1B regulates microtubule dynamics by sequestering EB1/3 in the cytosol of developing neuronal cells. EMBO J. *32*, 1293–1306.
- Toyofuku, T., Zhang, H., Kumanogoh, A., Takegahara, N., Yabuki, M., Harada, K., Hori, M., and Kikutani, H. (2004). Guidance of myocardial patterning in cardiac development by Sema6D reverse signalling. Nat. Cell Biol. 6, 1204–1211.
- Toyofuku, T., Yoshida, J., Sugimoto, T., Zhang, H., Kumanogoh, A., Hori, M., and Kikutani, H. (2005). FARP2 triggers signals for Sema3A-mediated axonal repulsion. Nat. Neurosci. *8*, 1712–1719.
- Toyofuku, T., Yabuki, M., Kamei, J., Kamei, M., Makino, N., Kumanogoh, A., and Hori, M. (2007). Semaphorin-4A, an activator for T-cell-mediated immunity, suppresses angiogenesis via Plexin-D1. EMBO J. *26*, 1373–1384.

- Toyofuku, T., Yoshida, J., Sugimoto, T., Yamamoto, M., Makino, N., Takamatsu, H., Takegahara, N., Suto, F., Hori, M., Fujisawa, H., et al. (2008). Repulsive and attractive semaphorins cooperate to direct the navigation of cardiac neural crest cells. Dev. Biol. *321*, 251–262.
- Tran, T.S., Rubio, M.E., Clem, R.L., Johnson, D., Case, L., Tessier-Lavigne, M., Huganir, R.L., Ginty, D.D., and Kolodkin, A.L. (2009). Secreted semaphorins control spine distribution and morphogenesis in the postnatal CNS. Nature 462, 1065–1069.
- Tymanskyj, S.R., Scales, T.M.E., and Gordon-Weeks, P.R. (2012). MAP1B enhances microtubule assembly rates and axon extension rates in developing neurons. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. *49*, 110–119.
- Uchida, Y., Ohshima, T., Sasaki, Y., Suzuki, H., Yanai, S., Yamashita, N., Nakamura, F., Takei, K., Ihara, Y., Mikoshiba, K., et al. (2005). Semaphorin3A signalling is mediated via sequential Cdk5 and GSK3beta phosphorylation of CRMP2: implication of common phosphorylating mechanism underlying axon guidance and Alzheimer's disease. Genes Cells Devoted Mol. Cell. Mech. *10*, 165–179.
- Uesaka, N., Uchigashima, M., Mikuni, T., Nakazawa, T., Nakao, H., Hirai, H., Aiba, A., Watanabe, M., and Kano, M. (2014). Retrograde semaphorin signaling regulates synapse elimination in the developing mouse brain. Science *344*, 1020–1023.
- Uesugi, K., Oinuma, I., Katoh, H., and Negishi, M. (2009). Different requirement for Rnd GTPases of R-Ras GAP activity of Plexin-C1 and Plexin-D1. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 6743–6751.
- Vidal-Quadras, M., Gelabert-Baldrich, M., Soriano-Castell, D., Lladó, A., Rentero, C., Calvo, M., Pol, A., Enrich, C., and Tebar, F. (2011). Rac1 and calmodulin interactions modulate dynamics of ARF6-dependent endocytosis. Traffic Cph. Den. 12, 1879–1896.
- Vikis, H.G., Li, W., He, Z., and Guan, K.L. (2000). The semaphorin receptor plexin-B1 specifically interacts with active Rac in a ligand-dependent manner. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 12457–12462.
- Vikis, H.G., Li, W., and Guan, K.-L. (2002). The plexin-B1/Rac interaction inhibits PAK activation and enhances Sema4D ligand binding. Genes Dev. 16, 836–845.
- Villegas, G., and Tufro, A. (2002). Ontogeny of semaphorins 3A and 3F and their receptors neuropilins 1 and 2 in the kidney. Mech. Dev. *119 Suppl 1*, S149–S153.
- Vodrazka, P., Korostylev, A., Hirschberg, A., Swiercz, J.M., Worzfeld, T., Deng, S., Fazzari, P., Tamagnone, L., Offermanns, S., and Kuner, R. (2009). The semaphorin 4D-plexin-B signalling complex regulates dendritic and axonal complexity in developing neurons via diverse pathways. Eur. J. Neurosci. 30, 1193–1208.
- Walker, S., and Scherer, S.W. (2013). Identification of candidate intergenic risk loci in autism spectrum disorder. BMC Genomics 14, 499.

- Wang, H., Lewsadder, M., Dorn, E., Xu, S., and Lakshmana, M.K. (2014). RanBP9 overexpression reduces dendritic arbor and spine density. Neuroscience 265, 253–262.
- Wang, Y., He, H., Srivastava, N., Vikarunnessa, S., Chen, Y., Jiang, J., Cowan, C.W., and Zhang, X. (2012). Plexins are GTPase-activating proteins for Rap and are activated by induced dimerization. Sci. Signal. 5, ra6.
- Wang, Y., Pascoe, H.G., Brautigam, C.A., He, H., and Zhang, X. (2013). Structural basis for activation and non-canonical catalysis of the Rap GTPase activating protein domain of plexin. eLife 2, e01279.
- Watakabe, A., Ohsawa, S., Hashikawa, T., and Yamamori, T. (2006). Binding and complementary expression patterns of semaphorin 3E and plexin D1 in the mature neocortices of mice and monkeys. J. Comp. Neurol. 499, 258–273.
- Weiss, L.A., Arking, D.E., Gene Discovery Project of Johns Hopkins & the Autism Consortium, Daly, M.J., and Chakravarti, A. (2009). A genome-wide linkage and association scan reveals novel loci for autism. Nature 461, 802–808.
- Wennerberg, K., Rossman, K.L., and Der, C.J. (2005). The Ras superfamily at a glance. J. Cell Sci. *118*, 843–846.
- Winberg, M.L., Noordermeer, J.N., Tamagnone, L., Comoglio, P.M., Spriggs, M.K., Tessier-Lavigne, M., and Goodman, C.S. (1998). Plexin A is a neuronal semaphorin receptor that controls axon guidance. Cell 95, 903– 916.
- Worzfeld, T., Püschel, A.W., Offermanns, S., and Kuner, R. (2004). Plexin-B family members demonstrate non-redundant expression patterns in the developing mouse nervous system: an anatomical basis for morphogenetic effects of Sema4D during development. Eur. J. Neurosci. 19, 2622–2632.
- Worzfeld, T., Rauch, P., Karram, K., Trotter, J., Kuner, R., and Offermanns, S. (2009). Mice lacking Plexin-B3 display normal CNS morphology and behaviour. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 42, 372–381.
- Worzfeld, T., Swiercz, J.M., Sentürk, A., Genz, B., Korostylev, A., Deng, S., Xia, J., Hoshino, M., Epstein, J.A., Chan, A.M., et al. (2014). Genetic dissection of plexin signaling in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 2194–2199.
- Wu, K.-Y., He, M., Hou, Q.-Q., Sheng, A.-L., Yuan, L., Liu, F., Liu, W.-W., Li, G., Jiang, X.-Y., and Luo, Z.-G. (2014). Semaphorin 3A activates the guanosine triphosphatase Rab5 to promote growth cone collapse and organize callosal axon projections. Sci. Signal. 7, ra81.
- Xia, J., Swiercz, J.M., Bañón-Rodríguez, I., Matković, I., Federico, G., Sun, T., Franz, T., Brakebusch, C.H., Kumanogoh, A., Friedel, R.H., et al. (2015). Semaphorin-Plexin Signaling Controls Mitotic Spindle Orientation during Epithelial Morphogenesis and Repair. Dev. Cell.
- Xiang, X., Zhang, X., and Huang, Q.-L. (2012). Plexin A3 is involved in semaphorin 3F-mediated oligodendrocyte precursor cell migration. Neurosci. Lett. *530*, 127–132.
- Yang, T., and Terman, J.R. (2012). 14-3-3ε couples protein kinase A to semaphorin signaling and silences plexin RasGAP-mediated axonal repulsion. Neuron 74, 108–121.
- Ye, X., and Carew, T.J. (2010). Small G protein signaling in neuronal plasticity and memory formation: the specific role of ras family proteins. Neuron *68*, 340–361.
- Yoshida, Y., Han, B., Mendelsohn, M., and Jessell, T.M. (2006). PlexinA1 signaling directs the segregation of proprioceptive sensory axons in the developing spinal cord. Neuron *52*, 775–788.
- Yu, X., Wang, F., and Zhang, J.-P. (2014). Meta analysis of the association of rs7702187 SNP in SEMA5A gene with risk of Parkinson's disease. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 18, 900–904.
- Yukawa, K., Tanaka, T., Bai, T., Ueyama, T., Owada-Makabe, K., Tsubota, Y., Maeda, M., Suzuki, K., Kikutani, H., and Kumanogoh, A. (2005). Semaphorin 4A induces growth cone collapse of hippocampal neurons in a Rho/Rho-kinase-dependent manner. Int. J. Mol. Med. 16, 115–118.
- Zanata, S.M., Hovatta, I., Rohm, B., and Püschel, A.W. (2002). Antagonistic effects of Rnd1 and RhoD GTPases regulate receptor activity in Semaphorin 3A-induced cytoskeletal collapse. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 22, 471–477.
- Zhang, L., Polyansky, A., and Buck, M. (2015). Modeling Transmembrane Domain Dimers/Trimers of Plexin Receptors: Implications for Mechanisms of Signal Transmission across the Membrane. PloS One *10*, e0121513.
- Zhu, B., Chen, C., Xue, G., Moyzis, R.K., Dong, Q., Chen, C., Li, J., He, Q., Lei, X., Wang, Y., et al. (2013). The SEMA5A gene is associated with hippocampal volume, and their interaction is associated with performance on Raven's Progressive Matrices. NeuroImage 88C, 181– 187.
- Zielonka, M., Xia, J., Friedel, R.H., Offermanns, S., and Worzfeld, T. (2010). A systematic expression analysis implicates Plexin-B2 and its ligand Sema4C in the regulation of the vascular and endocrine system. Exp. Cell Res. *316*, 2477–2486.
- Ben-Zvi, A., Manor, O., Schachner, M., Yaron, A., Tessier-Lavigne, M., and Behar, O. (2008). The Semaphorin receptor PlexinA3 mediates neuronal apoptosis during dorsal root ganglia development. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 28, 12427–12432.

PUBLICATION I

Laht P, Pill K, Haller E, Veske A. Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Jul;1820(7):888-93.

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Biochimica et Biophysica Acta



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbagen

Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif

Piret Laht ^{a,b}, Kaie Pill ^a, Elina Haller ^a, Andres Veske ^{a,b,*}

^a Institute of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia ^b Competence Centre for Cancer Research, Tallinn, Estonia

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 4 October 2011 Received in revised form 9 February 2012 Accepted 10 February 2012 Available online 21 February 2012

Keywords: Plexins End-binding proteins EB-binding motif Background: Plexins are transmembrane receptors that are highly expressed in the central nervous system. They participate in the patterning of neural connections and regulation of cell adhesion and motility in many cell types. The aim of this study was to characterize novel protein–protein interactions of plexin-B3 intracellular portion.

Methods: To identify new interactors of plexin-B3 yeast two-hybrid screen was performed. We used GST pulldown and co-immunoprecipitation to verify those results. Deletion mutants were used to map the interacting regions. The physiological relevance of this interaction was assessed with neurite outgrowth assay in Neuro2A cell line.

Results: We show that the N-terminal segment of intracellular domain of plexin-B3 interacts with microtubule plus end-binding proteins EB1, EB2 and EB3. The corresponding region in human plexin-A2, B1 and B3 contains the conserved EB-binding motif SxIP and these plexins also associate with EBs indicating the specificity of plexin-EB binding. As to the EB proteins, their N-terminal microtubule-binding domain is dispensable for plexin interaction. Plexin-EB interaction is involved in neurite growth as the synthetic peptide corresponding to the EB-binding region of plexin-B1 increases significantly the number of neurite tips in Neuro2A cells.

Conclusions: Microtubule end-binding proteins EB1, EB2 and EB3 interact with plexin-A2, B1 and B3 through a conserved EB-binding motif, which is located in their intracellular domain N-terminal Begment.

General significance: The observed interaction between plexin intracellular domain and EBs suggests a novel function for plexins in regulating EB-mediated changes in microtubule dynamics and neurite growth.

© 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Development and functioning of the nervous system requires complex orchestration of numerous processes. It is generally believed that structural changes in neural network are based on the remodelling of actin cytoskeleton. Multiple signalling pathways, particularly those involving small GTPases of the Rho and Ras family, are known to control actin organization (for a review see [1]). In recent years, more attention has been paid to the role of microtubules in the formation and maintenance of connections between neurons. Microtubules are essential for dendritic spine maturation and synaptic plasticity that are considered to constitute the cellular bases of learning and memory [2].

Extracellular proteins, such as axon guidance molecules and neurotrophic factors, influence cytoskeleton dynamics via different signalling pathways. In the developing nervous system semaphorins and their transmembrane receptors plexins have received wide

E-mail address: andres.veske@ttu.ee (A. Veske).

recognition as critical regulators of axonal navigation, neuronal polarity, migration and apoptosis [3,4]. There are nine different plexins in mammals: plexin-A1–A4, plexin-B1–B3, plexin-C1 and plexin-D1 [5]. Crystal structures of plexin-A3 and plexin-B1 intracellular domains have been resolved recently [6,7]. The cytoplasmic part of plexins consists of the N-terminal segment (NTS), bipartite RasGAP domain, which is split by Rho GTPase binding domain (RBD), and the Cterminal PDZ-binding motif (present only in B-plexins). Plexin-B1 functions as a GTPase activating protein for R-Ras [8] and M-Ras [9]. Since the RasGAP domain in plexins is conserved, it is likely that also other Ras-family GTPases are influenced by the activity of plexins. We have previously shown that plexin-B3 interacts with Rin, a neuronspecific Ras GTPase [10]. Moreover, plexins associate with Rho GTPases directly through their Rho-binding domain or indirectly by recruiting RhoGEFs [4] or RhoGDI [11].

End-binding proteins (EBs) are highly conserved core components of microtubule plus-end tracking protein network. Mammalian cells express three members of the EB/MAPRE family—EB1, EB2, and EB3 [12]. They are relatively small (268, 327 and 281 amino acids respectively) dimeric proteins containing an N-terminal calponin homology (CH) domain responsible for the interaction with microtubules, a proline-rich linker region, and a C-terminal coiled coil domain

 $[\]ast$ Corresponding author at: Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia. Fax: $+\,372$ 6204401.

^{0304-4165/\$ -} see front matter © 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2012.02.007

extending into a four-helix bundle that is required for dimer formation and binding to various partners. EBs interact with most other known microtubule plus end-binding proteins and recruit them to the growing end of microtubules [13,14]. An EB-binding motif has been characterized by Honnappa and colleagues [15] with a consensus sequence Ser-x-Ile-Pro, where serine can be conservatively replaced by threonine.

In this report, we demonstrate that EB-family proteins directly associate with plexin-B3 intracellular domain N-terminal segment. We also show that this domain contains a conserved EB-binding motif SxIP that is also present in other members of the plexin family, and that corresponding peptide is sufficient to modulate neurite growth.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Plasmids

EB1, EB2 and EB3 in pEGFP-N1 (Clontech) were provided by N. Galjart [16]. For production of GST-fused proteins, EB coding sequences were introduced into EcoRI/NotI of pET42a (Novagen). Nterminally truncated EB1 and EB3 sequences were subcloned from veast two-hybrid pMyr clones using EcoRI and SalI sites. Plexin-B3IC sequence (a.a. 1247-1909) was amplified using pIRES/plexin-B3 as a template [10] and subcloned into Notl/EcoRI p3xFLAG-CMV-9 (Sigma). Deletion mutants were constructed using PCR or NheI endonuclease (mutant B). Plexin-B3 deletion mutants G and H were cloned into Notl/BamHI of pFLAG-CMV-4 (Sigma) and EcoRI/BamHI of pIRESneo (Clontech), respectively. The difference in the last amino acid derives from different MCS sequences. Plexin-B1IC (a.a. 1476-2135) was amplified from pcDNA-VSV/plexin-B1 (a generous gift of L. Tamagnone) and plexin-B2IC (a.a. 1196-1838) from KIAA0315 (obtained from Kazusa DNA Research Institute) and were then inserted into Notl/EcoRV sites of p3xFLAG-CMV-9.

2.2. Antibodies

The antibody recognizing the Sema domain of plexin-B3 has been described in [10]. Anti-FLAG M2 antibody was purchased from Sigma. A rabbit anti-EGFP serum was provided by A. Merits.

2.3. Yeast two-hybrid library screening

Yeast two-hybrid analysis was performed with Cytotrap system (Stratagene) as described previously in ref. [10]. Briefly, plexin-B3IC/pSos bait, pMyr human foetal brain cDNA library and mGap plasmid cotransformant colonies were selected at permissive temperature, then candidate interactors were identified by transferring 800 positive clones to 37 °C. Candidates were tested by two rounds for ability of galactose-dependent growth at 37 °C and resulting positive clones were subjected to plasmid isolation and sequencing.

2.4. Cell culture and transfection

Human 293FT cells (Invitrogen) were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (PAA). The cells were transfected with plasmids using polyethylenimine (non-branched PEI, Sigma).

2.5. GST pull-down assay

Escherichia coli BL21(DE3) was used to express GST fusion proteins from pET42a constructs. The expressed proteins were purified using Glutathione Sepharose 4 Fast Flow (Amersham Biosciences) according to guidelines provided by the manufacturer. 293FT cells were lysed 1 day post transfection in a buffer containing 20 mM Tris-HCI pH 8.0, 137 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 1% NP-40, 2 mM EDTA and Complete protease inhibitors (Roche). Rat cerebellum lysate was prepared using the same lysis buffer. The extracts were clarified by centrifugation at 13,000g for 10 min and incubated with GST-proteins immobilized on glutathione sepharose beads for 2 hours or overnight at 4 °C. Samples were washed once with lysis buffer and four times with TBS. Bound proteins were subjected to 10% SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis. For GST fusion protein visualization PVDF membranes were stained with PageBlue protein staining solution (Fermentas).

2.6. Co-immunoprecipitation

293FT cells were cotransfected with pEGFP-N1/EB3 and pFLAG/ plexin-B3 (a.a. 1–1329) or pIRES/plexin-B3 (a.a. 1–1328). Cell extracts were prepared as described above. Lysates were incubated with anti-EGFP antibody for 1 h, adsorbed to protein-A agarose (Sigma) beads at 4 °C for 16 h. The beads were washed three times with lysis buffer and two times with TBS, and boiled in SDS sample buffer for 5 min. After separating the samples using 7% SDS-PAGE, the proteins were detected by Western blotting with appropriate antibodies.

2.7. Neurite outgrowth assay

Neuro2A cells were seeded on 24-well plates at a density of 10⁴ cells per well in DMEM (PAA) containing 0.5% FBS (PAA), retinoic acid 10 µg/ml (Sigma) and BDNF 20 ng/ml (generous gift of H. Paves) to induce neurite growth. Peptides corresponding to putative EB-binding regions of B-plexins (11 amino acids) and MACF2 (12 amino acids [15]) were ordered from Genecust and were solubilized in PBS containing 10% DMSO. Each peptide was added to the medium at a final concentration of 1 $\mu M.$ Cells were then incubated at 37 °C for 3 days. Two fields per well were photographed using Zeiss Axiovert phase contrast microscope (total number of fields n = 21). Cells with neurites and number of neurite tips were counted for each field with ImageJ software. Cells not bearing neurites and clumps of more than three cells were excluded from the analysis. The results are the means \pm SEM of four independent experiments. Statistical significance was determined using ANOVA and students t-test with Bonferroni correction.

3. Results

To get a better insight into the mechanisms how signal transduction originating from plexin-B3 is converted to cellular processes, we performed a screen to identify additional binding partners for its intracellular domain. Since plexin-B3 is prominently expressed in the brain [10], we performed yeast two-hybrid screen using human foetal brain cDNA library and plexin-B3IC (amino acids 1274-1909) as a bait. As a result 14 putative positive clones were isolated. Sequencing revealed that only three of those were in frame and encoded C-terminal domains of microtubule end-binding proteins EB1 and EB3, and small GTPase Rin. The latter has been described previously by Hartwig et al. [10]. The clones containing EB1 and EB3 were chosen for further analysis to verify the interaction (Table 1). Control experiments were performed also with EB2, which showed weaker binding affinity towards plexin-B3IC. Plexin-B2 intracellular domain construct failed to give positive results with any of the EBfamily proteins in the yeast two-hybrid assay, indicating the specificity of the interaction.

We next examined the direct binding of plexin-B3IC to EBs in vitro using GST pull-down assay. This analysis showed that all three EB proteins form complexes with plexin-B3IC (Fig. 1A). The microtubule-binding CH domain was dispensable for this interaction as Δ NEB1 (amino acids 81–268) and Δ NEB3 (amino acids 96–281) bound plexin-B3IC as effectively as the full-length EBs (Fig. 1B).

Table 1

Verification of the specificity of the interaction between plxnB3IC bait and EB-target proteins in yeast.

Plasmids transformed	SD glucose (−UL) 25 °C	SD (—UL) 37 °C (after patching)	
		Glucose	Galactose
plxnB3IC/pSos + EB1/pMyr	+++	-	+++
plxnB3IC/pSos + EB2/pMyr	+++		+
plxnB3IC/pSos + EB3/pMyr	+++		+++
plxnB3IC/pSos + pMyr*	+++	_	-
plxnB3IC/pSos + SB/pMyr**	+++	_	+++
plxnB2IC/pSos+EB1/pMyr	+++	_	-
plxnB2IC/pSos + EB3/pMyr	+++	_	-
plxnB2IC/pSos + pMyr*	+++	_	-
plxnB2IC/pSos+SB/pMyr**	+++	_	+++
Coll/pSos + EB1/pMyr*	+++	-	-
Coll/pSos + EB2/pMyr*	+++	-	-
Coll/pSos + EB3/pMyr*	+++	-	-
Coll/pSos + MAFB/pMyr*	+++	_	-
MAFB/pSos + MAFB/pMyr**	+++	-	+++

* Negative control experiments.

** Positive control experiments.

To ascertain an interaction between endogenous plexin-B3 and EBs, we performed GST pull-downs with rat cerebellum lysate (Fig. 1C). We found that full-length plexin-B3 also associated with all three EB-family proteins.

To map the EB-binding site on plexin-B3IC we generated a series of deletion constructs and assessed their ability to bind to EBs. Mutations affecting RasGAP domain or RBD had little or no effect on EB binding, whereas deletion of the N-terminal segment (amino acids 1283–1364, mutant A) of plexin-B3IC abrogated the interaction (Fig. 2B). Notably, the NTS of plexin-B3 contains the conserved EB-binding motif SxIP [15]. To confirm the interaction, we performed co-immunoprecipitations with EB3-GFP and constructs encoding plexin-B3 extracellular domain, transmembrane domain and NTS of the intracellular part (Fig. 2C). In one case the EB-binding SxIP motif was intact (mutant G), in the other construct the invariable proline was substituted for histidine (mutant H), and the latter was unable to bind to EB3-GFP. Taken together, these results demonstrate that the interaction takes place between the NTS of plexin-B3 and the EB-homology domain of EBs.

We next investigated whether the conserved EB-binding motif SxIP is present in intracellular domains of other human plexins (Fig. 3A). This motif was found to reside between NTS region helixes 1 and 2 in plexin-A2, B1 and B3. Comparison of plexin-B3 protein sequences of different mammals indicated that the EB-binding motif and the surrounding region are well conserved. The same applies for plexin-B1. EB-binding motif is also present in some plexins of lower vertebrates and *Drosophila* plexin-B, strongly suggesting that this interaction may be evolutionarily conserved.

To confirm the specificity of EB interaction with different plexins, GST pull-down was carried out with FLAG-tagged intracellular constructs (including transmembrane domains) of plexin-A2, B1, B2 and B3 (Fig. 3B). This experiment showed that while EB1 formed complexes with plexin-A2, B1 and B3, plexin-B2 did not. In fact, plexin-B2 failed to interact with any of the EB-family proteins (data not shown). This could be explained by the incomplete EB-binding motif in plexin-B2, and is consistent with yeast two-hybrid results. Taken together, the interaction between EBs and plexins is restricted to certain plexins and correlates with the presence or absence of the SxIP motif.

As plexins and EBs both have a role in neuritogenesis we decided to find out whether their interaction influences this process. Neuro2A cells were simultaneously treated with BDNF and RA, and peptides spanning the region of EB-binding motif of B-plexins (Fig. 3A, underlined). MACF2 peptide served as a positive control since it has been



Fig. 1. Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins. (A) Plexin-B3IC complexes with all EB-family proteins. GST pull-down with GST-EB1, GST-EB2, GST-EB3, or GST (negative control) and transiently expressed 3×FLAG-plexin-B3IC (probed with anti-FLAG). (B) EB proteins do not need N-terminus to bind to plexin-B3IC, GST pull-down with GST-ANEB1 and GST-ANEB3. (C) Endogenous plexin-B3 from rat cerebellum lysate interacts with GST-EB3. Plexin-B3 was detected using anti plexin-B3 antibody.

shown to bind to EB1 [15]. Plexin-B1 peptide significantly increased the number of neurite tips per cell as did MACF2 peptide, compared to plexin-B2 peptide and buffer treated control (Fig. 3C). Plexin-B3 peptide also elevated the number of neurite tips, but it did not reach statistical significance. Since plexin-B1 peptide influenced neurite growth similarly with MACF2 peptide, it is a strong indication that it forms a complex with EBs.

4. Discussion

Regulating the reorganization of different components of cytoskeleton during cell migration and neurite extension is a sophisticated process where large multicomponent assemblies are under constant rearrangement. One of the main functions of plexins is to translate extracellular signals to cytoskeleton dynamics within the cell, integrating regulation of microtubules and actin filaments. The mechanisms, how plexins influence actin cytoskeleton, have been characterized in several studies. Semaphorin–plexin signalling regulates microtubules via CRMP-family proteins (for a review see [17]). Activation of plexins affects also kinases PI3K, Akt and GSt3 β [4] that in turn regulate microtubule growth and shrinkage among their other functions. Interaction between plexins and EBs, presented in this study, adds another piece to the puzzle of cytoskeleton dynamics.



Fig. 2. Mapping the EB-interacting domains of plexin-B3IC. (A) Schematic representation of plexin-B3IC deletion mutants (A–H). TM: transmembrane region, NTS: N-terminal segment, RasGAP: Ras GTPase activating protein, RBD: Rho-binding domain, PDZ-BM: PDZ-domain binding motif. Extracellular region is indicated by arrows. (B) FLAG-tagged deletion mutants of plexin-B3IC were expressed in 293FT cells and subjected to pull down assay with GST-EB1 prebound to gluthathione sepharose. Plexin-B3IC was revealed by western blotting using anti-FLAG antibodies. (C) Intact EB-binding motif SxIP is essential for plexin-EB interaction. EB3-GFP and either plexin-B3 mutant G (SGIP) or mutant H (SGIH) were coexpressed in 293FT cells. Lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation with antibodies against EGFP and plexin-B3 was detected using anti plexin-B3 antibody.

We have shown that EBs associate with N-terminal segments of plexin-A2, B1 and B3 via the conserved EB-binding motif SxIP. Other proteins with this motif (APC, MACF2, CLASP2, MCAK etc.) bind to the highly conserved hydrophobic cleft in the C-terminal domain of EB1. The EB-binding region is relatively unstructured in described proteins, and only 12-amino acid peptide is sufficient for protein–protein interaction [15]. In plexin-B1, and presumably also in plexin-B3, the SxIP motif resides in a loop between two helixes [7] and hence is similar to the situation described for other EB-interacting proteins. The surroundings of EB-binding motifs in plexins do not contain as many basic amino acid residues as in proteins described so for. Based on the overall structure of plexin interaction is conformation dependent and the availability of EB-binding motif is dynamically regulated by semaphorins.

During development expression patterns of B-plexins and EBs (especially EB3) largely overlap in the brain. Plexin-B3 has been associated with promotion of neurite growth [10], verbal performance and white matter volume [19]. Both EB3 and plexin-B1 localize in dendritic spines, and are involved in regulation of neurite extension and dendritic spine density [2,20–22]. Overexpression of plexin-B1 reduces neurite length and branching [9,20]. On the other hand,

Sema4D, the ligand of plexin-B1, stimulates branching and formation of dendritic spines in hippocampal neurons [22,23]. Our experiments demonstrated that plexin-B1 EB-binding motif peptide modified neurite outgrowth in Neuro2A cells, indicating that plexin-EB interaction is involved in this process. Thus it is plausible that EB proteins and plexins interact in the central nervous system in vivo and participate in microtubule reorganization. Activation of another neuronal receptor, namely NMDA receptor in rat hippocampal neurons, attenuates microtubule dynamics by removing EB3 from the growing microtubule plus-ends in dendrites resulting in dendritics pine shrinkage and long term depression (LTD) [24]. Whether activation of plexins has an effect on EB localization awaits further investigation.

In this study, we have described the association of plexin-A2, B1 and B3 with EB-family proteins. This interaction relies on the Cterminal EB-homology domain of EBs and the N-terminal segment of intracellular portion of plexins that contains the conserved EBbinding motif SxIP. To our best knowledge this is the first report describing a direct interaction between transmembrane receptors and EB-family proteins in multicellular organisms. The interaction of plexins and EBs is likely to play an important role in regulating neurite growth and synaptic plasticity and hence could be connected to memory formation as well as neurological disorders.

P. Laht et al. / Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1820 (2012) 888–893



Fig. 3. (A) Alignment of NTS regions of human and Drosophila plexins. EB-binding motif is shadowed and amino acids fitting the consensus are in bold. Secondary structure elements (based on plexin-B1 crystal structure [7]) are shown on top. Sequences of peptides used in neurite outgrowth assay are underlined. (B) EB1 forms complexes with plexin-A2, B1 and B3, but not with plexin-B2. FLAG-tagged intracellular domains of plexins were expressed in 293FT cells and incubated with GST-EB1. Immunoblots of pull-downs were incubated with anti-FLAG. (C) EB-binding peptides increase the number of neurite tips. Neuro2A cells were treated for 3 days with peptides corresponding to the EB-binding regions of plexins B1, B2 and B3, and MACF2 as a positive control. The results are the means ± 5EM of four independent experiments, *p < 0.02.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank J. Remm for assistance with statistical analysis and R. Tamme for helpful discussions. This work was supported by Estonian Ministry of Education and Research grant 0140143.

References

- T. Svitkina, W.-H. Lin, D.J. Webb, R. Yasuda, G.A. Wayman, L. Van Aelst, et al., Regulation of the postsynaptic cytoskeleton: roles in development, plasticity, and disorders, J. Neurosci. 30 (2010) 14937–14942.
- [2] J. Gu, B.L. Firestein, J.Q. Zheng, Microtubules in dendritic spine development, J. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 12120–12124.
- [3] R.P. Kruger, J. Aurandt, K.-L. Guan, Semaphorins command cells to move, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6 (2005) 789–800.
- [4] T.S. Tran, A.L. Kolodkin, R. Bharadwaj, Semaphorin regulation of cellular morphology, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23 (2007) 263–292.
- [5] L. Tamagnone, S. Artigiani, H. Chen, Z. He, G.I. Ming, H. Song, et al., Plexins are a large family of receptors for transmembrane, secreted, and GPI-anchored semaphorins in vertebrates, Cell 99 (1999) 71–80.
- [6] H. He, T. Yang, J.R. Terman, X. Zhang, Crystal structure of the plexin A3 intracellular region reveals an autoinhibited conformation through active site sequestration, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 15610–15615.
- [7] Y. Tong, P.K. Hota, J.Y. Penachioni, M.B. Hamaneh, S. Kim, R.S. Alviani, et al., Structure and function of the intracellular region of the plexin-b1 transmembrane receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 35962–35972.
- [8] I. Oinuma, Y. Ishikawa, H. Katoh, M. Negishi, The Semaphorin 4D receptor Plexin-B1 is a GTPase activating protein for R-Ras, Science 305 (2004) 862–865.
 [9] Y. Saito, I. Oinuma, S. Fujimoto, M. Negishi, Plexin-B1 is a GTPase activating
- [9] Y. Saito, I. Oinuma, S. Fujimoto, M. Negishi, Plexin-B1 is a GTPase activating protein for M-Ras, remodelling dendrite morphology, EMBO Rep. 10 (2009) 614–621.

- [10] C. Hartwig, A. Veske, S. Krejcova, G. Rosenberger, U. Finckh, Plexin B3 promotes neurite outgrowth, interacts homophilically, and interacts with Rin, BMC Neurosci. 6 (2005) 53.
- [11] X. Li, A.Y.W. Lee, Semaphorin 5A and plexin-B3 inhibit human glioma cell motility through RhocDlalpha-mediated inactivation of Rac1 GTPase, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 32436–32445.
- [12] J.P. Juwana, P. Henderikx, A. Mischo, A. Wadle, N. Fadle, K. Gerlach, et al., EB/RP gene family encodes tubulin binding proteins, Int. J. Cancer 81 (1999) 275–284.
- [13] W. Bu, L-K. Su, Characterization of functional domains of human EB1 family proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 49721–49731.
- [14] A. Akhmanova, M.O. Steinmetz, Tracking the ends: a dynamic protein network controls the fate of microtubule tips, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 9 (2008) 309–322.
- [15] S. Honnappa, S.M. Couveia, A. Weisbrich, F.F. Damberger, N.S. Bhavesh, H. Jawhari, et al., An EB1-binding motif acts as a microtubule tip localization signal, Cell 138 (2009) 366–376.
- [16] T. Stepanova, J. Slemmer, C.C. Hoogenraad, G. Lansbergen, B. Dortland, C.I. De Zeeuw, et al., Visualization of microtubule growth in cultured neurons via the use of EB3-GFP (end-binding protein 3-green fluorescent protein), J. Neurosci. 23 (2003) 2655–2664.
- [17] E.F. Schmidt, S.M. Strittmatter, The CRMP family of proteins and their role in Sema3A signaling, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 600 (2007) 1–11.
- [18] C.H. Bell, A.R. Aricescu, E.Y. Jones, C. Siebold, A dual binding mode for RhoGTPases in plexin signalling, PLoS Biol. 9 (2011) e1001134.
- [19] D. Rujescu, E.M. Meisenzahl, S. Krejcova, I. Ciegling, T. Zetzsche, M. Reiser, et al., Plexin B3 is genetically associated with verbal performance and white matter volume in human brain, Mol. Psychiatry 12 (2007) 190–194 115.
- [20] I. Oinuma, H. Katoh, M. Negishi, Molecular dissection of the semaphorin 4D receptor plexin-BI-stimulated R-Ras GTPase-activating protein activity and neurite remodeling in hippocampal neurons, J. Neurosci. 24 (2004) 11473-11480.
- [21] J. Jaworski, L.C. Kapitein, S.M. Gouveia, B.R. Dortland, P.S. Wulf, I. Grigoriev, et al., Dynamic microtubules regulate dendritic spine morphology and synaptic plasticity, Neuron 61 (2009) 85–100.

- [22] X. Lin, M. Ogiya, M. Takahara, W. Yamaguchi, T. Furuyama, H. Tanaka, et al., Sema4D-plexin-B1 implicated in regulation of dendritic spine density through RhoA/ROCK pathway, Neurosci. Lett. 428 (2007) 1–6.
 [23] P. Vodrazka, A. Korostylev, A. Hirschberg, J.M. Swiercz, T. Worzfeld, S. Deng, et al.,
- The semaphorin 4D-plexin-B signalling complex regulates dendritic and axonal

complexity in developing neurons via diverse pathways, Eur. J. Neurosci. 30 (2009) 1193–1208.
[24] L.C. Kapitein, K.W. Yau, S.M. Gouveia, W.A. van der Zwan, P.S. Wulf, N. Keijzer,

eet al., NMDA receptor activation suppresses microtubule growth and spine entry, J. Neurosci. 31 (2011) 8194–8209.

PUBLICATION II

Laht P, Otsus M, Remm J, Veske A. B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendrite morphology of hippocampal neurons. Exp Cell Res. 2014 Aug 1;326(1):174-84.



Research Article

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yexcr



B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendrite morphology of hippocampal neurons



Piret Laht^{a,b}, Maarja Otsus^b, Jaanus Remm^c, Andres Veske^{a,b,*}

^aDepartment of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia ^bCompetence Centre for Cancer Research, Tallinn, Estonia ^cInstitute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia

ARTICLE INFORMATION

Article Chronology: Received 2 June 2014 Accepted 9 June 2014 Available online 19 June 2014 *Keywords:* Microtubule dynamics Plexin Semaphorin Neurodevelopment Dendrite FB3

ABSTRACT

Semaphorins and their receptors plexins are implicated in various processes in the nervous system, but how B-plexins regulate the growth of dendrites remains poorly characterized. We had previously observed that Plexin-B1 and B3 interact with microtubule end-binding proteins (EBs) that are central adapters at growing microtubule tips, and this interaction is involved in neurite growth. Therefore, we hypothesized that plexins regulate microtubule dynamics and through that also dendritogenesis. The role of all three B-plexins was systematically examined in these processes. B-plexins and their ligand Semaphorin-4D influence the dynamics of microtubule tips both EB-dependently and independendently. EB3 as well as Plexin-B1, B2 and B3 turned out to have a significant role in the development of dendritic arbor of rat hippocampal neurons. Our results clearly indicate that semaphorin-plexin-EB pathway is one molecular mechanism how extracellular guidance cues are translated into intracellular mechanics. Taken together, Semaphorin-4D and B-plexins modulate the dynamic behavior of microtubule tips, and are therefore important in neurite growth.

© 2014 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Introduction

Plexins are a family of transmembrane receptors that mediate semaphorin signalling mainly in the central nervous system [1,2]. Semaphorins regulate many processes requiring precisely coordinated and balanced modifications of cytoskeleton and membranes. Mammals have nine plexins of which three belong to the B-subfamily [3]. The same plexins can have diverse functions at different stages of development and in different cell types. Increasing evidence has established the importance of semaphorins and plexins in the proliferation and migration of neurons, guidance of growth cones and defining neural connectivity, as well as neurite arbor remodelling and synaptic plasticity at later stages of development (reviewed in Ref. [4]). Plexins can modulate cytoskeleton dynamics in various ways of which regulating the activity of small GTPases stands out. Although semaphorins are known regulators of processes that require microtubule (MT) dynamics, direct links between plexins and MTs are not known. MICALs (molecules interacting with CasL) could provide a bridge between A-plexins and MTs [5], but the effects induced by semaphorin-plexin signalling

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.06.005 0014-4827/© 2014 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

^{*}Corresponding author at: Department of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia. Fax: +372 6204401.

E-mail address: andres.veske@ttu.ee (A. Veske).

on MTs and cell adhesion were MICAL independent [6]. RanBP9 (Ran binding protein 9) interacts with Plexin-A1 intracellular domain and may be involved in regulating MT dynamics [7], still RanBP9 binding to MTs awaits further verification. Semaphorins affect MT cytoskeleton through regulation of CRMPs (collapsin response mediating proteins) [8,9], but this does not happen via direct interaction, but rather plexins modulate small GTPases which in turn activate downstream kinases that phosphorylate CRMPs. We have previously shown that plexins A2, B1 and B3 interact with microtubule end binding proteins (EBs, also known as MAPREs) [10] that are central adapters at the ends of microtubule tips mediating interactions with a variety of other proteins and regulate MT tip dynamics [11].

All B-plexins are expressed in the central nervous system [12]. Plexin-B2 expression appears first during embryogenesis, peaks around birth, and continues to be expressed from there onwards. It is required for normal proliferation and migration of neurons during brain development [14,15]. Plexin-B1 expression follows, gradually declining after birth. The expression levels of Plexin-B3 are lower than B1 and B2 levels. It emerges around birth and is expressed steadily to adulthood [12,13]. Depletion of Plexin-B1 or B3 does not bring about any noticeable developmental defects [14,16] possibly due to redundant functions between different B-plexins. Double homozgous deletion of Plexin-B1 and B2 results in embryonic lethality [17] supporting this notion.

Semaphorin 4D is a high-affinity ligand for Plexin-B1 and a lowaffinity ligand for B2 and B3 [13]. Sema4D was first described as a repellent for hippocampal axons [18], but in dorsal root ganglion neurons it stimulates axon outgrowth instead of retraction [19]. Several downstream effectors have been linked to Sema4D/ Plexin-B1 pathway, mostly leading to regulation of small GTPases, activation of kinases or regulation of cytoskeleton. Plexin-B1 functions as a GTPase activating protein (GAP) for R-Ras in axons [20] and M-Ras in dendrites [21] leading to repulsion. In hippocampal neurons Plexin-B1 localizes to dendrites and dendritic spines and Sema4D stimulation increases spine density through Plexin-B1/RhoA/ROCK pathway [22]. There is considerably less information about the roles of Plexin-B2 and B3 in neurite growth and synaptogenesis. Since both of them are expressed during periods of dendrite outgrowth, spine formation and maintenance by different subsets of neurons [12,15,23], they are likely to participate in the formation of connections between neurons. Plexin-B2 and B3 in trans position promote axon growth of cerebellar neurons [23], and certain Plexin-B3 genotypes have been associated with larger white matter volumes in human brains [24]. Despite obvious phenotype of Plexin-B2 knockout mice, its effects on cellular level have remained largely unexplored.

Since PlexinB1 and B3 are able to bind to microtubule end binding proteins [10], local receptor-mediated destabilization of MTs facilitates protrusion formation [25] and plexins A3, A4 and D1 have been shown to play a role in defining neural connectivity [26,27], we hypothesized that B-plexins influence the dynamic behavior of MT tips and thus dendritogenesis. In this study we sought to determine whether B-plexins alter microtubule dynamic behavior and dendrite arbor formation of rat hippocampal neurons. We show that Sema4D and its receptors Plexin-B1, and to a lesser extent B2 and B3, modulate the dynamics of microtubule tips. We also characterize dendrite morphology of rat hippocampal neurons in response to depletion of EB1, EB3 and all three B-class plexins.

Experimental procedures

DNA constructs and siRNAs

Expression constructs of human B-plexins encoding transmembrane and intracellular domains (B1IC, B2IC, B3IC and Δ NTS-B3IC) were in p3xFLAG and have been described previously [10]. EB3 in pEGFP-N1 was provided by N. Galjart. Sema4D extracellular region was amplified from human cortex cDNA and inserted into pCMV-Fc-GFP.

Ambion Silencer $^{\scriptscriptstyle (\!R\!)}$ Select siRNA duplexes targeting rat mRNAs were following:

EB1 (GGACAAUUUUGAAUUCGUUtt), EB3 (GGACUUGAAGCUGACCGUAtt), Plexin-B1 (GUAUAUCAACAAGUACUAUtt), Plexin-B2 (GCAAGUCCUUCCUUAUCAAtt), Plexin-B3 (CCACAUCCACAGGUAUUAUtt), Silencer Select Negative Control #1 siRNA.

Cell culture and transfection

All animal procedures were performed in compliance with the local ethics committee. Primary rat hippocampal neurons were dissected from Sprague Dawley rat embryos (both male and female) at E20 and cultured on cover slips as described in [28]. Briefly, the hippocampi were dissected and cells were dissociated with 0.25% trypsin (Invitrogen), treated with 0.05% DNase I (Roche), and the cell suspension was plated on poly-L-lysinecoated cover slips in Neurobasal A medium (Invitrogen) with B27 supplement (Invitrogen), penicillin (PAA Laboratories, 100 U/ml), streptomycin (PAA Laboratories, 0,1 mg/ml), and 1 mM L-glutamine (PAA Laboratories). Mitotic inhibitor 5-fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine (Sigma) was added to the medium (10 µM) at 2 days in vitro (DIV). Neurons were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) at 6 DIV for dendrite growth and branching measurements. siRNAs were used in 50 times molar excess compared to pEGFP to ensure that GFP positive neurons are cotransfected with siRNAs. NIH3T3 and 293FT cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS (PAA). The cells were transfected with plasmids using polyethylenimine (non-branched PEI, Sigma).

Recombinant Sema4D production

293FT cells were transfected with Sema4D-Fc or empty Fc expression plasmids. After 20 h medium was replaced with serum-free DMEM and supernatants were collected 4 days after transfection, centrifuged and used straight away. Sema4D stimulation was carried out by replacing part of the culture medium with conditioned medium (Sema4D-Fc final concentration approximately 1 μ g/ml).

Analysis of siRNA effects on mRNA levels in cultured neurons

Rat hippocampal neurons were cultured in 12-well plates and co-transfected with pEGFP and siRNAs at 6 DIV. At 9 DIV RNA was



Fig. 1 – MT tip dynamic behavior is regulated by B-plexins in NIH3T3 cells. The cells were co-transfected with EB3-GFP to visualize MT tip behavior (A). 100 images were acquired every 0.5 s with TIRFM. Tracks were drawn according to maximum projection image and kymograph function was used to visualize different phases of MT instability. (B) Representative images of kymographs, scale bars 2 μ m. (C) Overexpression of intracellular domains (IC) of B-plexins increases the number of MT tip rescues and deletion of EB binding site (Δ NTS-B3IC) abolishes this effect (D). Small dots represent single MT tips and the means are marked with diamonds. (E) The influence of B-plexIC overexpression on microtubule growth rate. The results are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments. For cell and MT tip numbers see Table 1. • p=0.1-0.05, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

isolated using RNAWiz reagent (Ambion). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with gene specific primers. Ppia was used as a reference. The siRNAs effectively reduced the amount of corresponding endogenous mRNA levels compared to the mock siRNA treated neurons (Fig. S1). Protein levels could not be assessed due to the lack of suitable antibodies.

Immunostaining and image analysis

For immunocytochemistry the cultured neurons were fixed at 9 DIV in freshly prepared 4% paraformaldehyde, 4% sucrose in PBS at room temperature for 15 min. This was followed by permeabilization with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS and blocking in 3% BSA in PBS. Antibody incubations were carried out at room temperature for one hour. Primary antibody was rabbit anti-EGFP (1:2000, from A. Merits) and secondary antibody was goat anti rabbit Alexa488 (1:2000, Molecular Probes). Prolong Gold antifade reagent (Invitrogen) was used for mounting. A Zeiss LSM510 confocal microscope system was used to scan stacks of fixed neurons. Dendrites were imaged with a Plan Apochromat $20 \times$ 0.8 NA objective (Zeiss). For neuron morphology maximum projections were generated. Branching patterns and length of dendrites of individual stained neurons were analyzed with the Filament Tracer module of the Imaris 6.4.2 software (Bitplane). Scholl analysis, that counts the number of dendrite intersections in a series of concentric circles, was performed with a step of 10 µm. At least 40 cells were analyzed from three independent culture preparations per treatment group.

Live cell imaging and measurement of microtubule tip dynamics

NIH3T3 cells were grown on 40 mm cover slips, co-transfected with EB3-GFP and B-plexin-encoding plasmids, and imaged one day post-transfection. Rat hippocampal neurons were grown in 35 mm dishes with 10 mm glass microwell (MatTek) and transfected with EB3-GFP at 6 DIV. For Sema4D-Fc treatment freshly prepared conditioned medium was added and images were acquired within 1.5 h. Similarly prepared medium from cells transfected with empty Fc plasmid was used as a negative control. Timelapse images were collected at 37 °C on the TILL iMIC TIRF microscope equipped with Zeiss TIRF 100 \times 1.46 NA objective and iXon888 EMCCD camera (Andor). GFP laser (488 nm) and filter set was used. 100 frame stacks of 16-bit images 1024 \times 1024 pixels were collected with 50 ms exposure at two frames per second. MT

dynamics parameters were measured manually using ImageJ. Maximum projection images were used to draw tracks. From neurons all suitable tracks in a frame were measured whereas ten longest tracks per cell were selected from NIH3T3. Kymographs were generated using Kymograph plugin (by J. Rietdorf and A. Seitz). Obtained coordinates were transferred to MS Excel where MT tip growth rate, number of rescues (transition from pause or shrinkage to growth), catastrophes (transition from growth or pause to regression) and pauses were calculated. Pause was defined as an event with a growth or shrinkage rate less than 0.02 μ m/s.

Statistical analysis

All experiments were repeated minimum three times using independent cell culture preparations. In case of microtubule measurements, the effects of different treatments were statistically tested using linear mixed effect models in R packages nlme and multcomp.

Values were corrected relative to the mean mock value of the same date. Significance of the differences was assessed using ANOVA and Tukey *post-hoc* test. For dendrite experiments statistical significance was determined using ANOVA and Tukey *post-hoc* test in R package stats. For Scholl analysis, the difference was evaluated point by point with unpaired two-tailed Student's *t*-test in MS Excel.

Results

B-plexins alter microtubule tip dynamics

Since Plexin-B1 and B3 interact with microtubule end binding proteins and Plexin-B2 does not, we asked whether they modulate MT tip dynamics differentially. To monitor their direct influence on MT tip behavior, NIH3T3 mouse fibroblasts were co-transfected with B-plexin constructs and EB3-GFP, a marker for growing MT tips [29]. We overexpressed the intracellular parts of B-plexins with transmembrane domains because they mimic full-length plexins activated by their ligands semaphorins [30]. Images were collected with TIRF microscopy and EB3-GFP comets were tracked for 50 s at two frames per second (Fig. 1A). Such settings enabled us to follow MT tracks from the centrosome to the cell membrane and detect also minor cytoskeleton dynamic events. MT growth rate (velocity) and characteristics of MT tip dynamics

Table 1 – Microtubule dynamics in NIH3T3 cells. NIH3T3 cells were transiently cotransfected with EB3-GFP and indicated plasmid constructs. Live cells were imaged one day post-transfection. MT tip growth rate, number of rescues, catastrophes and pauses were calculated. At least three independent experiments were made. Results are presented as mean values \pm SD for the group of MT tips.

Treatment	Number of	Growth rate	Rescues per	Catastrophes per	Pauses per
	MTs/cells	(µm/min)	minute	minute	minute
Control Plexin-B11C Plexin-B21C Plexin-B31C Plexin-B31C-∆NTS	500/50 300/30 300/30 500/50 300/30	$\begin{array}{c} 19.6 \pm 3.0 \\ 19.5 \pm 3.2 \\ 21.0 \pm 3.2 \\ 20.1 \pm 2.9 \\ 21.1 \pm 2.8 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.3 \pm 2.3 \\ 7.7 \pm 2.5 \\ 7.0 \pm 2.1 \\ 7.1 \pm 2.4 \\ 6.5 \pm 2.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.6 \pm 2.2 \\ 5.7 \pm 2.2 \\ 5.3 \pm 2.0 \\ 5.2 \pm 2.3 \\ 4.8 \pm 2.3 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.7 \pm 1.5 \\ 2.0 \pm 1.6 \\ 1.7 \pm 1.4 \\ 1.9 \pm 1.7 \\ 1.7 \pm 1.5 \end{array}$



Fig. 2 – MT tip dynamic behavior is regulated by Sema4D in hippocampal neurons. Neurons were transfected with EB3-GFP at 6 DIV to visualize MT tip behavior (A). At 7 DIV neurons were treated with mock medium (Fc) or Sema4D conditioned medium 10–90 min. Representative inverted kymographs are shown in (B), scale bars 2 μ m. (C) Sema4D treatment increased the number of MT tip rescues. Small dots represent single MT tips and the means are marked with diamonds. (D) Sema4D treatment decreases MT growth rate. The results are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments. For MT tip numbers see Table 2. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

(the number of rescues, catastrophes and pauses) were measured manually from kymographs, and these parameters (Table 1) were compatible with previous reports [29,31]. B1IC treatment generated characteristic jagged kymographs with short phases of growth interrupted by small catastrophes or pauses indicating increased dynamic instability of MT tips (Fig. 1B and C). The number of rescues is depicted on graphs, as it is the sum of catastrophes and pauses, and therefore a general parameter of MT tip dynamic instability. Plexin-B2IC and Plexin-B3IC slightly increased the number of rescues, but to a lesser extent than Plexin-B1IC (Fig. 1B and C). As the surroundings of EB-binding SxIP motif in Plexin-B3 contain one extra negatively charged amino acid residue compared to B1, which theoretically should diminish its binding affinity to EBs [32], it is reasonable that B3IC did not create as many MT tip rescues as B1IC. When the interaction between Plexin-B3 and EBs was disturbed using △NTS-B3IC (Plexin-B3 mutant devoid of EB-binding region), we observed a reduction of the effect of Plexin-B3IC on MT tip behavior (Fig. 1D), indicating the importance of the crosstalk of these proteins. When we analyzed the growth rate of MTips (Fig. 1E), then it appeared that B-plexins that are unable to bind to EB-s (B2IC and Δ NTS-B3IC) accelerated MTips, whereas B1IC and B3IC were similar to the control group. From that we conclude that plexins can affect MT dynamics in different ways. B-plexins can increase the velocity of MT tips through pathways that do not require direct interaction with EBs, but when they are able to interact with EBs (B1IC and B3IC) they induce more catastrophes and pauses, which counteracts the promotion of growth.

Dendritic microtubule +TIP dynamics increases with Sema4D treatment

To further verify the role of B-plexins in regulating microtubule dynamics, rat hippocampal neurons that had been transfected with EB3-GFP at 6 DIV, were treated with the ligand of B-plexins—Sema4D. EB3-GFP was imaged and tracked as described above (Fig. 2A). Consistent with earlier studies [29] the growth rate of EB3-GFP comets was twofold smaller in neurons than in fibroblasts (Table 2). At the same time MT tips were more dynamic in neurons than in fibroblasts, having more catastrophes, pauses and rescues. This could be explained by the more confined space in neurites than in the fibroblast cell body. Sema4D treatment had a similar effect as B1IC overexpression in fibroblasts, the number of dynamic events increased and as a consequence MT velocity declined compared to the control (Fig. 2C and D). Although Sema4D influence in dendrites was slightly more pronounced

than in axons, this difference did not reach statistical significance and thus data of rescues was pooled and presented as one graph. We conclude that Sema4D is able to influence MT tips in neurons likely through Plexin-B1.

Dendrite growth is impaired by depletion of EB3

We examined whether EB1 and EB3 are required for regulation of dendrite remodelling in rat primary hippocampal neurons. It has been suggested that EB1 is necessary for axon but not dendrite development [33]. Indeed, EB1 mutant Drosophila neurons display defects in axon growth due to disorganized microtubules [34], but dendrites were not addressed in that study. EB3 is known to regulate maturation of dendritic spines [35-37] and its association with PSD95 alters dendrite growth [38], but the effect of EB3 depletion on dendrite growth and branching has not been described earlier. We have previously shown that specific plexins are able to bind to EB proteins and this interaction is involved in neurite growth [10]. Rat hippocampal neurons were cotransfected with siRNAs targeting EB1 or EB3 and a plasmid encoding EGFP for visualization at 6 DIV and analyzed at 9 DIV (Fig. 3). We used Imaris software filament tool to characterize dendritic arbor of EGFP positive neurons that were cotransfected with siRNAs. Scholl analysis was performed (Fig. 3A), total dendrite length (Fig. 3B) and number of dendrite tips (Fig. 3C) was calculated. EB3 siRNA impaired dendrite growth, whereas EB1 knockdown had a much milder effect. This is somewhat surprising as EB3 expression in cultured hippocampal neurons begins to rise only after 7 DIV and EB1 levels in neurons at that time point are higher than EB3 levels [39]. Our results support the observation that EB1 is involved in axon growth and to a lesser extent in dendrite growth, which is regulated mainly by EB3.

B-plexins are positive regulators of dendrite growth

To systematically reveal the roles of all three mammalian B-plexins in dendrite development, at 6 DIV we targeted them with siRNAs, and analyzed at 9 DIV as described above. Depletion of B-plexins individually suppressed dendrite growth (Fig. 4A–C) decreasing total dendritic length by 15–20%. The impact on dendrite length correlates with the ability of plexins to promote microtubule growth (see also Fig. 1E)–Plexin-B1 does not accelerate MT tips and its knockdown had relatively mild consequences, whereas Plexin-B2 that increases MT velocity turned out to be most important of B-plexins for dendritogenesis. Plexin-B3 had an intermediate effect. As different plexins are likely to

Table 2 – Microtubule dynamics in rat hippocampal neurons. Rat primary hippocampal neurons were transiently transfected at 6 DIV with EB3-GFP and at 7 DIV treated with mock Fc medium or Sema4D-Fc conditioned medium. Live cells were imaged for 50 s at a 0.5 s interval with TIRFM. MT tip growth rate, number of rescues, catastrophes and pauses were calculated. At least three independent experiments were made. Results are presented as mean values ±SD for the group of MT tips.

Treatment	Number of MTs	Growth rate (µm/min)	Rescues per minute	Catastrophes per minute	Pauses per minute
Fc axon	66	10.3 ± 1.6	10.2 ± 3.1	8.3±3.0	1.9 ± 1.9
Sema4D axon	83	9.8 ± 1.5	11.1 ± 2.6	9.6±2.8	1.5 ± 1.4
Fc dendrite	140	9.9 ± 2.1	10.0 ± 2.7	8.4±2.7	1.6 ± 1.5
Sema4D dendrite	187	9.0 ± 1.4	11.1 ± 2.8	9.7 ± 2.9	1.4 ± 1.5



Fig. 3 – EB3 depletion decreases dendrite growth. (A) EB3 siRNA impairs dendrite arborization. On the right are representative GFP images of hippocampal neurons co-transfected with pEGFP and mock siRNA, EB1 siRNA or EB3 siRNA at 6DIV and fixed at 9 DIV. Scale bars 50 μ m. On the left are comparative Scholl analyses. Total length of dendrites (B) and total number of dendritic tips (C) were measured. The results are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments (n>50). *p<0.05, **p<0.001, ***p<0.001.

compensate for each other, we assessed the influence of double and triple knockdowns as well. Indeed, the combinations of siRNAs had an additive effect, reaching the reduction of dendritic length by one third when the expression of all three B-plexins was suppressed. From these results we can conclude that all B-plexins are involved in dendrite growth in a cooperative manner.



Fig. 4 – B-plexins in dendrite development. (A) B-plexin knockdown interferes with dendrite growth. Hippocampal neurons were co-transfected with pEGFP and indicated siRNAs. Neurons were transfected at 6 DIV and fixed at 9 DIV. Representative images are on the right. Scale bars 50 μ m. On the left are comparative Scholl analyses. Total length of dendrites (B) and total number of dendritic tips (C) were measured. The results are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments (n>40). *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

Discussion

The microtubule cytoskeleton is a key determinant in generating and maintaining neuronal morphology and function. The remodelling and reorganization of microtubules in the growth cone are required for persistent growth cone advance as well as for the recognition of guidance cues [40]. EB proteins are central adaptor proteins at growing MT tips that have been shown to form complexes with a variety of other proteins [11,41], but among these only a few transmembrane receptors have been described so far [42,43]. In this study, the role of all three B-type plexins was systematically analyzed in the regulation of MT tip dynamics and dendrite growth. As a result we provide a novel insight into molecular mechanisms how semaphorin signals are transmitted to the cytoskeleton.

It appears that there is an important role in EB binding to plexins. We would like to emphasize that overexpression of Bplexins had a consistent and statistically significant effect on MT tip dynamics that correlated with their ability to interact with EB proteins (Fig. 1). Although at first sight the differences may seem small, one should bear in mind that both microtubule and dendrite growths are regulated by multiple factors and pathways. Therefore manipulating only one of them does not necessarily have an obvious outcome. Plexin-B1 and B3 that can bind to EBs induced more catastrophes and pauses at MT tips thereby slowing them down. Deletion of EB-binding region in B3IC resulted in a situation where it was still able to promote growth rate, but there were less catastrophes and pauses. This demonstrates that there is a balance between MT growth and dynamics. Plexins can promote MT growth via pathways that are not dependent on direct EB interaction, indicating that additional factors are involved. Possible candidates are certainly RhoA [44], Rnd1 [45] or other Rho-family GTPases that can interact with the Rho binding domain (RBD) of plexins [46].

Influence of B-plexin depletion on dendrite arborization (Fig. 4) correlated with induction of microtubule growth rate. As double and triple knockdowns of B-plexins had an additive effect, we conclude that they act in a cooperative manner. Plexin-B2 overexpression increased MT velocity and its depletion individually had the most adverse effect on dendrite growth. Lack of Plexin-B2 has been associated with a small decrease in neurite length of olfactory bulb neurons [47], however, dendrite morphology was not examined in detail in that study. Still, it can be concluded that Plexin-B2 is a positive regulator of dendrite growth. Plexin-B1, that in the MT tip speed aspect was indistinguishable from the control, was not very important for dendrite elongation. Our results are different from previous observations regarding the role of Plexin-B1 in dendritogenesis, where Plexin-B1 was described as a negative regulator [21]. In our system overexpression of intracellular domains of B-plexins did not alter dendrite length or branching (data not shown). Previous reports regarding the influence of Sema4D (high-affinity ligand of Plexin-B1) on dendritic arborization have also been contradictory [21,13]. While the first group observed Plexin-B1 mediated inhibitory effect of Sema4D on dendrite growth, the latter reported that Sema4D potentiated the formation of higher order branches. The discrepancy may be based on the different experimental setups as the outcome of plexin signalling varies significantly depending on the cellular context. Actually both are in agreement with our observation that activated Plexin-B1 increases microtubule dynamic instability. More dynamic

MT tips promote branch formation but at the same time increased number of catastrophes and pauses slows elongation.

Our hypothesis that semaphorins and plexins regulate dendritogenesis via microtubule end binding proteins was further verified by the fact that Sema4D treatment increased the number of EB3-GFP dynamic events in live neurons (Fig. 2) that is appropriate for a guidance cue. Localized changes in microtubule dynamics are an important component of the growth cone response to extracellular signals. Positive cues such as NGF promote MT growth but repellents such as CSPGs reduce microtubule polymerization rate [48]. In epithelial cells HGF induces reorganization of cytoskeletal structures and increases MT growth rate EB1 dependently [49]. In Myoblasts EB3 is necessary for the regulation of microtubule dynamics and microtubule capture at the cell cortex, which in turn regulates the formation of polarized membrane protrusions and cell fusion [50]. In line with this data depletion of EB3 strongly interfered with dendrite growth (Fig. 3). Surprisingly, EB1 depletion had only mild consequences.

Taken together, plexins are multifunctional regulators of MT tips. When they interact with EB-s (Plexin-B1 and B3) they make microtubules more dynamic enabling the dendrites to find the correct path. We propose a model that upon semaphorin binding conformation of plexin intracellular domain changes, allowing it to transiently capture EB3, forcing the MT tip to pause or retract and reinitiate its growth, possibly recruiting also actin remodelling proteins to the complex. On the other hand, when plexins do not interact with EB-s (Plexin-B2) they accelerate microtubules and based on that also dendrite elongation. We conclude that B-plexins play an important role in directly mediating sema-phorin signals to the microtubule cytoskeleton thereby guiding dendrite growth, and hence could be connected to the pathogenesis of neurological disorders.

Acknowledgments

We thank N. Galjart for plasmid constructs, I. Koppel for introducing neuron culture techniques to us, H. Paves for assistance with microscopy, and R. Tamme and U. Arumäe for revising the manuscript.

This work was supported by Estonian Ministry of Education and Research Grant 0140143 and Competence Centre for Cancer Research (CCCR) (Grant no. EU30013). CCCR is an SME, funded by the EU structural funds and additional partners.

Appendix A. Supporting information

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.06.005.

REFERENCES

- N. Perälä, H. Sariola, T. Immonen, More than nervous: the emerging roles of plexins, Differentiation 83 (2012) 77–91, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diff.2011.08.001.
- [2] T.S. Tran, A.L. Kolodkin, R. Bharadwaj, Semaphorin regulation of cellular morphology, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23 (2007) 263– 292, http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.010605.093554.

- [3] L. Tamagnone, S. Artigiani, H. Chen, Z. He, G.I. Ming, H. Song et al., Plexins are a large family of receptors for transmembrane, secreted, and GPI-anchored semaphorins in vertebrates, Cell 99 (1999) 71–80.
- [4] R.J. Pasterkamp, Getting neural circuits into shape with semaphorins, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13 (2012) 605–618, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nrn3302.
- [5] R.-J. Hung, J.R. Terman, Extracellular inhibitors, repellents, and semaphorin/plexin/MICAL-mediated actin filament disassembly, Cytoskeleton (Hoboken, N.J.) 68 (2011) 415–433, http://dx.doi. org/10.1002/cm.20527.
- [6] R.-J. Hung, U. Yazdani, J. Yoon, H. Wu, T. Yang, N. Gupta, et al., Mical links semaphorins to F-actin disassembly, Nature 463 (2010) 823–827, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature08724.
- [7] H. Togashi, E.F. Schmidt, S.M. Strittmatter, RanBPM contributes to Semaphorin3A signaling through plexin-A receptors, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 26 (2006) 4961–4969, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0704-06.2006.
- [8] Y. Uchida, T. Ohshima, Y. Sasaki, H. Suzuki, S. Yanai, N. Yamashita, et al., Semaphorin3A signalling is mediated via sequential Cdk5 and GSK3beta phosphorylation of CRMP2: implication of common phosphorylating mechanism underlying axon guidance and Alzheimer's disease, Genes Cells Devot. Mol. Cell. Mech. 10 (2005) 165–179, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2443.2005.00827.x.
- [9] Y. Ito, I. Oinuma, H. Katoh, K. Kaibuchi, M. Negishi, Sema4D/ plexin-B1 activates GSK-3beta through R-Ras GAP activity, inducing growth cone collapse, EMBO Rep. 7 (2006) 704–709 http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/si.embor.7400737.
- [10] P. Laht, K. Pill, E. Haller, A. Veske, Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1820 (2012) 888–893, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. bbagen.2012.02.007.
- [11] P. Kumar, T. Wittmann, +TIPs: SxIPping along microtubule ends, Trends Cell Biol. 22 (2012) 418–428, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. tcb.2012.05.005.
- [12] T. Worzfeld, A.W. Püschel, S. Offermanns, R. Kuner, Plexin-B family members demonstrate non-redundant expression patterns in the developing mouse nervous system: an anatomical basis for morphogenetic effects of Sema4D during development, Eur. J. Neurosci. 19 (2004) 2622–2632, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.0953-816X.2004.03401.x.
- [13] S. Deng, A. Hirschberg, T. Worzfeld, J.Y. Penachioni, A. Korostylev, J.M. Swiercz, et al., Plexin-B2, but not Plexin-B1, critically modulates neuronal migration and patterning of the developing nervous system in vivo, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 27 (2007) 6333–6347, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5381-06.2007.
- [14] R.H. Friedel, G. Kerjan, H. Rayburn, U. Schüller, C. Sotelo, M. Tessier-Lavigne, et al., Plexin-B2 controls the development of cerebellar granule cells, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 27 (2007) 3921–3932, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4710-06.2007.
- [15] P. Vodrazka, A. Korostylev, A. Hirschberg, J.M. Swiercz, T. Worzfeld, S. Deng, et al., The semaphorin 4D-plexin-B signalling complex regulates dendritic and axonal complexity in developing neurons via diverse pathways, Eur. J. Neurosci. 30 (2009) 1193–1208, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568,2009.06934.x.
- [16] T. Worzfeld, P. Rauch, K. Karram, J. Trotter, R. Kuner, S. Offermanns, Mice lacking Plexin-B3 display normal CNS morphology and behaviour, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 42 (2009) 372–381, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.mcn.2009.08.008.
- [17] N. Perälä, M. Jakobson, R. Ola, P. Fazzari, J.Y. Penachioni, M. Nymark, et al., Sema4C-Plexin B2 signalling modulates ureteric branching in developing kidney, Differ. Res. Biol. Divers. 81 (2011) 81–91, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diff.2010.10.001.
- [18] J.M. Swiercz, R. Kuner, J. Behrens, S. Offermanns, Plexin-B1 directly interacts with PDZ-RhoGEF/LARG to regulate RhoA and growth cone morphology, Neuron 35 (2002) 51–63.

- [19] K. Masuda, T. Furuyama, M. Takahara, S. Fujioka, H. Kurinami, S. Inagaki, Sema4D stimulates axonal outgrowth of embryonic DRG sensory neurones, Genes Cells Devot. Mol. Cell. Mech. 9 (2004) 821–829, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2443.2004.00766.x.
- [20] I. Oinuma, Y. Ishikawa, H. Katoh, M. Negishi, The Semaphorin 4D receptor Plexin-B1 is a GTPase activating protein for R-Ras, Science 305 (2004) 862–865, http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.1097545.
- [21] Y. Saito, I. Oinuma, S. Fujimoto, M. Negishi, Plexin-B1 is a GTPase activating protein for M-Ras, remodelling dendrite morphology, EMBO Rep. 10 (2009) 614–621, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ embor.2009.63.
- [22] X. Lin, M. Ogiya, M. Takahara, W. Yamaguchi, T. Furuyama, H. Tanaka, et al., Sema4D-plexin-B1 implicated in regulation of dendritic spine density through RhoA/ROCK pathway, Neurosci. Lett. 428 (2007) 1–6, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. neulet.2007.09.045.
- [23] C. Hartwig, A. Veske, S. Krejcova, G. Rosenberger, U. Finckh, Plexin B3 promotes neurite outgrowth, interacts homophilically, and interacts with Rin, BMC Neurosci. 6 (2005) 53, http://dx.doi. org/10.1186/1471-2202-6-53.
- [24] D. Rujescu, E.M. Meisenzahl, S. Krejcova, I. Giegling, T. Zetzsche, M. Reiser, et al., Plexin B3 is genetically associated with verbal performance and white matter volume in human brain, Mol. Psychiatry 12 (2007) 190–194, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj. mp.4001903 (115).
- [25] S. Gierke, T. Wittmann, EB1-recruited microtubule +TIP complexes coordinate protrusion dynamics during 3D epithelial remodeling, Curr. Biol. 22 (2012) 753–762, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2012.02.069.
- [26] T.S. Tran, M.E. Rubio, R.L. Clem, D. Johnson, L. Case, M. Tessier-Lavigne, et al., Secreted semaphorins control spine distribution and morphogenesis in the postnatal CNS, Nature 462 (2009) 1065–1069, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature08628.
- [27] J.B. Ding, W.-J. Oh, B.L. Sabatini, C. Gu, Semaphorin 3E-Plexin-D1 signaling controls pathway-specific synapse formation in the striatum, Nat. Neurosci. 15 (2012) 215–223, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nn.3003.
- [28] P. Pruunsild, M. Sepp, E. Orav, I. Koppel, T. Timmusk, Identification of cis-elements and transcription factors regulating neuronal activity-dependent transcription of human BDNF gene, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 31 (2011) 3295–3308, http://dx. doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4540-10.2011.
- [29] T. Stepanova, J. Slemmer, C.C. Hoogenraad, G. Lansbergen, B. Dortland, C.I. De Zeeuw, et al., Visualization of microtubule growth in cultured neurons via the use of EB3-GFP (end-binding protein 3-green fluorescent protein), J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 23 (2003) 2655-2664.
- [30] I. Oinuma, H. Katoh, M. Negishi, Molecular dissection of the semaphorin 4D receptor plexin-B1-stimulated R-Ras GTPaseactivating protein activity and neurite remodeling in hippocampal neurons, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 24 (2004) 11473–11480, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/INEUROSCI.3257-04.2004.
- [31] Y. Komarova, C.O. De Groot, I. Grigoriev, S.M. Gouveia, E.L. Munteanu, J.M. Schober, et al., Mammalian end binding proteins control persistent microtubule growth, J. Cell Biol. 184 (2009) 691–706, http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200807179.
- [32] R.M. Buey, I. Sen, O. Kortt, R. Mohan, D. Gfeller, D. Veprintsev et al., Sequence determinants of a microtubule tip localization signal (MtLS), J. Biol. Chem. 287 (2012) 28227–28242, http://dx. doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.373928.
- [33] E.E. Morrison, P.M. Moncur, J.M. Askham, EB1 identifies sites of microtubule polymerisation during neurite development, Mol. Brain Res. 98 (2002) 145–152.
- [34] J. Alves-Silva, N. Sánchez-Soriano, R. Beaven, M. Klein, J. Parkin, T.H. Millard, et al., Spectraplakins promote microtubule-mediated axonal growth by functioning as structural microtubule-associated

proteins and EB1-dependent +TIPs (tip interacting proteins), J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32 (2012) 9143–9158, http://dx.doi. org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0416-12.2012.

- [35] J. Jaworski, L.C. Kapitein, S.M. Gouveia, B.R. Dortland, P.S. Wulf, I. Grigoriev, et al., Dynamic microtubules regulate dendritic spine morphology and synaptic plasticity, Neuron 61 (2009) 85–100, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.013.
- [36] J. Gu, B.L. Firestein, J.Q. Zheng, Microtubules in dendritic spine development, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 28 (2008) 12120– 12124, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2509-08.2008.
- [37] L.C. Kapitein, K.W. Yau, S.M. Gouveia, W.A. van der Zwan, P.S. Wulf, N. Keijzer, et al., NMDA receptor activation suppresses microtubule growth and spine entry, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 31 (2011) 8194–8209, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.6215-10.2011.
- [38] E.S. Sweet, M.L. Previtera, J.R. Fernández, E.I. Charych, C.-Y. Tseng, M. Kwon, et al., PSD-95 alters microtubule dynamics via an association with EB3, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 31 (2011) 1038–1047, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1205-10.2011.
- [39] J. Jaworski, L.C. Kapitein, S.M. Gouveia, B.R. Dortland, P.S. Wulf, I. Grigoriev, et al., Dynamic microtubules regulate dendritic spine morphology and synaptic plasticity, Neuron 61 (2009) 85–100, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ji.neuron.2008.11.013.
- [40] C. Conde, A. Cáceres, Microtubule assembly, organization and dynamics in axons and dendrites, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10 (2009) 319–332, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrn2631.
- [41] K. Jiang, G. Toedt, S. Montenegro Gouveia, N.E. Davey, S. Hua, B. van der Vaart, et al., A Proteome-wide screen for mammalian SxIP motif-containing microtubule plus-end tracking proteins, Curr. Biol. 22 (2012) 1800–1807, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2012.07.047.
- [42] C. Gu, W. Zhou, M.A. Puthenveedu, M. Xu, Y.N. Jan, L.Y. Jan, The microtubule plus-end tracking protein EB1 is required for Kv1 voltage-gated K+ channel axonal targeting, Neuron 52 (2006) 803–816, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.10.022.

- [43] N.B. Martín-Cófreces, F. Baixauli, M.J. López, D. Gil, A. Monjas, B. Alarcón, et al., End-binding protein 1 controls signal propagation from the T cell receptor, EMBO J. 31 (2012) 4140–4152, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012.242.
- [44] R. Azzarelli, E. Pacary, R. Garg, P. Garcez, D. van den Berg, P. Riou, et al., An antagonistic interaction between PlexinB2 and Rnd3 controls RhoA activity and cortical neuron migration, Nat. Commun. 5 (2014) 3405, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4405.
- [45] Y.-H. Li, S. Ghavampur, P. Bondallaz, L. Will, G. Grenningloh, A.W. Püschel, Rnd1 regulates axon extension by enhancing the microtubule destabilizing activity of SCG10, J. Biol. Chem. 284 (2009) 363–371, http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M808126200.
- [46] E.K. Fansa, R. Dvorsky, S.-C. Zhang, D. Fiegen, M.R. Ahmadian, Interaction characteristics of Plexin-B1 with Rho family proteins, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 434 (2013) 785–790, http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.04.012.
- [47] B. Saha, A.R. Ypsilanti, C. Boutin, H. Cremer, A. Chédotal, Plexin-B2 regulates the proliferation and migration of neuroblasts in the postnatal and adult subventricular zone, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 32 (2012) 16892–16905, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/ INEUROSCI.0344-12.2012.
- [48] T.-A.N. Kelly, Y. Katagiri, K.B. Vartanian, P. Kumar, I.-I. Chen, W.J. Rosoff, et al., Localized alteration of microtubule polymerization in response to guidance cues, J. Neurosci. Res. 88 (2010) 3024–3033, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jnr.22478.
- [49] S. Gierke, T. Wittmann, EB1-recruited microtubule +TIP complexes coordinate protrusion dynamics during 3D epithelial remodeling, Curr. Biol. 22 (2012) 753–762, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2012.02.069.
- [50] A. Straube, A. Merdes, EB3 regulates microtubule dynamics at the cell cortex and is required for myoblast elongation and fusion, Curr. Biol. 17 (2007) 1318–1325, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. cub.2007.06.058.

Supplementary Information



Fig. S1 - Knockdown efficiency of EB1, EB3, Plexin-B1, Plexin-B2 and Plexin-B3 siRNAs. Rat hippocampal neurons were co-transfected with siRNAs and a vector encoding EGFP at 6 DIV. At 9 DIV RNA was extracted from cells and the mRNA levels were analyzed with quantitative RT-PCR. Ppia was used as a reference. The results are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments. Relatively small reduction in mRNA levels is due to the poor transfection efficiency of neurons.

PUBLICATION III

Laht P, Tammaru E, Otsus M, Rohtla J, Tiismus L, Veske A. Plexin-B3 suppresses excitatory and promotes inhibitory synapse formation in rat hippocampal neurons. Exp Cell Res. 2015 Jul 15;335(2):269-78.



Research Article

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/yexcr



Plexin-B3 suppresses excitatory and promotes inhibitory synapse formation in rat hippocampal neurons



Piret Laht^{a,b}, Epp Tammaru^b, Maarja Otsus^b, Johan Rohtla^a, Liivi Tiismus^{a,b}, Andres Veske^{a,b,*}

^aDepartment of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Tallinn, Estonia ^bCompetence Centre for Cancer Research, Tallinn, Estonia

ARTICLE INFORMATION

Article Chronology: Received 19 February 2015 Received in revised form 23 April 2015 Accepted 10 May 2015 Available online 16 May 2015

Keywords: Plexin semaphorin Neurodevelopment Synapse Neuron EB3

ABSTRACT

Molecular mechanisms underlying synaptogenesis and synaptic plasticity have become one of the main topics in neurobiology. Increasing evidence suggests that axon guidance molecules including semaphorins and plexins participate in synapse formation and elimination. Although class B plexins are widely expressed in the brain, their role in the nervous system remains poorly characterized. We previously identified that B-plexins modulate microtubule dynamics and through this impact dendrite growth in rat hippocampal neurons. Here, we demonstrate that Plexin-B2 and Plexin-B3 are present in dendrites, but do not localize in synapses. We find that overexpression of all B-plexins leads to decreased volume of excitatory synapses, and at the same time Plexin-B1 and Plexin-B3 promote inhibitory synapse assembly. Plexin-B3 mutants revealed that these processes use different downstream pathways. While elimination of excitatory synapses is the result of Plexin-B3 binding to microtubule end binding proteins EB1 and EB3, the increase in inhibitory synapses is mediated by regulation of Ras and Rho GTPases. Overall, our findings demonstrate that Plexin-B3 contributes to regulating synapse formation.

© 2015 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Introduction

Development and functioning of the mammalian central nervous system (CNS) is a complicated multilevel task. The importance of semaphorins in defining specific neuronal connections has been known since the discovery of this protein family in the 1990s [1,2]. Semaphorins and their receptor complexes consisting of plexins and neuropilins participate in all stages of CNS development: proliferation, migration, axon guidance, dendritic orientation, synaptogenesis, neuron survival and synaptic plasticity (reviewed in [3]).

Most neurodevelopmental disorders are characterized by loss of certain neurons or reduced connectivity between neurons. In contrast, autism spectrum disorders (ASD) are characterized by an excess of dendritic spines and synapses that result from defective synapse elimination [4]. The balance between excitatory and

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.05.007

0014-4827/© 2015 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: DIV, days *in vitro*; GABA, gamma-aminobutyric acid; GAD65, glutamate decarboxylase 65 kDa; GAP, GTPase activating protein; GEF, guanine nucleotide exchange factor; glm, generalized linear model; IC, intracellular domain; MAP2, microtubule associated protein 2; Plxn, plexin; PSD95, postsynaptic density protein 95; Sema, semaphorin

^{*}Corresponding author at: Department of Gene Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia. Fax: +372 6204401.

E-mail address: andres.veske@ttu.ee (A. Veske).

inhibitory signals is crucial for normal functioning of the brain [5]. Semaphorins are usually functioning as negative regulators of dendritic spine and glutamatergic synapse formation [6–11]. It is known that several semaphorins and plexins are mutated or aberrantly expressed in ASD where the elimination of inappropriate synapses is disrupted [12–16].

Surprisingly few studies deal with the role of B-plexins and their ligands class 4 semaphorins in the establishment of connections between neurons and in modulating synaptic plasticity. Sema4B is involved in glutamatergic as well as GABAergic synapse formation [17]. Sema4B colocalizes with postsynaptic markers in hippocampal neurons and interacts with PSD95 through a PDZbinding motif at the C-terminus. A similar motif can be found in Sema4C, 4G and 4F but not in Sema4A or 4D [18,19]. The role of this interaction in synapse assembly has not been elucidated. Sema4D facilitates the formation of GABAergic synapses and transiently decreases the number of glutamatergic synapses [17,20]. It has been demonstrated that Sema4D effects on synaptogenesis are mediated by Plexin-B1 [20]. Plexin-B1 and Plexin-B3 knockout mice do not have clearly recognizable abnormalities in brain structures nor behaviour [21,24,25,26]. However, mild autistic behaviour is not always evident in conventional anxiety tests and might have been overlooked [11]. Plexin-B2 deficient mice exhibit defects in granule cell migration and brain morphology [23,24], but the effect of Plexin-B2 on synaptogenesis has not been studied in detail.

Studies regarding Sema4D [20,21], Sema5A [11] and Sema5B [8] have shown that the Sema domain of semaphorins is crucial in regulating synaptogenesis whereas the intracellular domain is dispensable. From that it can be concluded that the signal is transduced in a forward manner from the semaphorin to the plexin receptor. Semaphorins can be functional bound to membranes *in trans or in cis*, or in soluble forms. Both Sema4D and its receptor Plexin-B1 are present in postsynaptic membranes [21,22], favouring the *cis* interaction model.

Plexins are multitask proteins containing a signal peptide, a Sema domain, three cysteine rich PSI domains (plexins, semaphorins, integrins), six glycine and proline rich IPT domains (immunoglobulin-like fold shared by plexins and transcription factors), a transmembrane domain (TM), a juxtamembrane NTS (N-terminal segment), a bipartite RasGAP domain (Ras GTPase activating protein) that is split by a RhoBD (Rho GTPase binding domain). B-plexins have a PDZ-binding motif at their C-terminus that interacts with RhoGEFs [27]. Semaphorins facilitate plexin dimer formation, stabilization, GAP domain activation and downstream regulation of Rap GTPases [28], whose role in synaptogenesis has been proven [29]. The RapGAP pathway directly participates in Sema5A-Plexin-A2-mediated regulation of dendritic spine density [11], and PLX-1-guided establishment of tiling border of presynaptic terminals between different axons in Caenorhabditis elegans [30]. In addition, plexins regulate the activity of Rho GTPases. Sema4D activates RhoA-ROCK pathway through Plexin-B1-RhoGEF interaction and induces the formation of protrusions and dendritic spines [31,22].

In our previous study we showed that B-plexins participate in the regulation of dendrite growth and morphology [32]. To clarify the function of plexins at later stages of hippocampal neuron development, we analysed the role of B-plexins in synaptogenesis. Here, we demonstrate that Plexin-B2 and B3 proteins are present in neuronal cell bodies and dendrites, but do not colocalize with synaptic markers. We also provide evidence that B-plexins are negative regulators of glutamatergic synapses and in the case of Plexin-B3 this process involves interaction with microtubule end binding proteins. In contrast, overexpression of Plexin-B3 stimulates the formation of GABAergic synapses through regulation of Ras and Rho GTPases.

Experimental procedures

DNA constructs

Expression constructs of human B-plexins encoding transmembrane and intracellular domains (PlxnB1IC, PlxnB2IC, PlxnB3IC and mutated Plexin-B3IC constructs) were in p3xFLAG and have been described previously [33]. Additional Plexin-B3IC mutant was generated using site-directed mutagenesis to replace residues Ile1328 and Pro1329 in the EB-binding SxIP motif with Asn and Ala respectively. Expression of all plexin constructs was verified with immunocytochemistry and western blot (Supplementary Fig. 2). For Plexin-B3IC mutants see also Fig. 3C, pEGFP originated from Clontech.

Cell culture and transfection

All animal procedures were performed in compliance with the local ethics committee. Primary rat hippocampal neurons were dissected from Sprague Dawley rat embryos (male and female) at E20. Briefly, the hippocampi were dissected and cells were dissociated with 0.25% trypsin (Invitrogen), treated with 0.05% DNase I (Roche), and the cell suspension was plated on poly-1-lysine-coated cover slips in 24-well plates in Neurobasal A medium (Invitrogen) with B27 supplement (Invitrogen), penicillin (PAA Laboratories, 100 U/ml), streptomycin (PAA Laboratories, 0,1 mg/ml), and 1 mM L-glutamine (PAA Laboratories). Mitotic inhibitor was omitted from the medium to allow glial cell growth for better neuron survival. Neurons were cultured for three weeks. Such cultures contained approximately 10% GAD65 positive GABAergic neurons, the rest were granular and pyramidal neurons. For synapse measurements neurons were cotransfected with pEGFP and different plexin constructs using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) at 16 DIV. Empty pFLAG vector was used as a negative control.

Immunostaining and microscopy

For immunocytochemistry the cultured neurons were fixed at 21 DIV in freshly prepared 4% paraformaldehyde, 4% sucrose in PBS (phosphate buffered saline, pH 7.4) at room temperature for 10 min and postfixed with cold methanol for 10 min. This was followed by permeabilization with 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS and blocking in 3% BSA in PBS. Antibody incubations were carried out at room temperature for one hour and cells were washed with PBS-Tween. Primary antibodies used were: mouse anti-FLAG M2 (1:500, Sigma), rabbit anti-EGFP (1:2000, from A. Merits); chicken anti-MAP2 (1:5000, Abcam), guinea pig anti-Synaptophysin1 (1:2000, Synaptic Systems), mouse anti-PSD95 [6G6-1C9] (1:50, Abcam), guinea pig anti-GAD65 (1:500, Synaptic Systems), mouse anti-gephyrin (1:100, Synaptic Systems), rabbit anti-Plexin-B1 (1:100, Abcam, did not work) Armenian hamster anti-Plexin-B2 [3E7] (1:100, Abcam), rabbit anti-Plexin-B3 Sema domain (1:500, custom made [34]). Anti-Plexin-B3 affinity purified polyclonal antibody was obtained from rabbit immunized with a peptide corresponding to human Plexin-B3 residues 354–369 (TSRCVTLPLDSPESYP). This peptide is conserved among Plexin-B3 proteins of different species but at the same time does not resemble sequences of other plexin family members. Its specificity was verified in immunocytochemistry (Supplementary Fig. 1). Secondary antibodies were: goat anti-rabbit lgG Alexa488 (1:2000, Molecular Probes), goat anti-mouse lgG Alexa568 (1:2000, Molecular Probes), goat anti-chicken Alexa568 (1:2000, Molecular Probes), goat anti-

Zeiss LSM510 confocal microscope system was used to scan stacks of fixed neurons. Neurons were imaged with Plan Apochromat 63 × 1.4 NA or Plan Apochromat 100 × 1.4 NA oil immersion objective (Zeiss). 5 to 8 0.8 µm optical sections with a step size of 0.41 µm and a resolution of 2048×2048 pixels were scanned. Within each experiment, images were acquired with identical settings for 561 nm laser that was used for synaptic markers. 488 nm laser intensity was kept constant while detector gain was adjusted according to the relative expression level of GFP in each cell.

Image analysis and statistics

Synapse volume and number was quantified in a blinded manner as the overlap of GFP (marking the transfected neuron) and synaptic marker antibody. For PSD95 analysis three dendrite sections of 20-40 µm per cell were manually cropped, for GAD65 analysis cell bodies were selected, Synaptophysin1 images were acquired so that GFP positive axons of only a single glutamatergic cell (the type of neurons was assessed based on morphology) were in the field and were analysed as whole images. For synapse quantification Imaris 6.4.2 software (Bitplane) surfaces module was used. The threshold was kept identical for both channels within one experiment. GFP channel was used to create a mask that enabled to eliminate synapses of neighbouring cells. To calculate relative synapse volume and number, obtained values were divided by GFP volume. At least 40 cells were analysed from three independent culture preparations per treatment group. Synapse parameters within each experiment were normalized to the mean value of the control group transfected with pEGFP and pFLAG to account for the variation of neuron cultures and antibody staining intensity between experiments. Significance of the differences was assessed using glm test in R package stats. Bar plots were generated with MS Excel and images were assembled in Adobe Photoshop. LSM Image browser (Zeiss) and ImageJ (NIH) were also used to prepare the images.

Results and discussion

Localization of Plexin-B2 and Plexin-B3 in cultured rat hippocampal neurons

Despite the fact that the original discovery of plexins was based on a monoclonal antibody that recognized *Xenopus* plexin [35], the availability of specific and good antibodies for plexins and semaphorins has been poor. Often commercial and custom made antibodies fail to recognize plexins altogether or work only in western blot. Therefore, studies regarding expression patterns of plexins have been mainly done by mRNA in situ hybridization and thus do not give any information about protein localization.

Plexin-B1 subcellular localization in rat hippocampal neurons has been described previously [26]. Plexin-B1 immunoreactivity was seen in neuronal cell bodies and along dendritic shafts as punctate structures that colocalized with PSD95 indicating its presence in excitatory synapses. Our attempts to confirm those results failed, as the purchased polyclonal antibody did not recognize Plexin-B1 in any of the methods we tested (data not shown). Plexin-B2 is expressed widely throughout the nervous system and also in other organs [36,37]. Plexin-B3 is prominently expressed in CNS neurons [34] and oligodendrocytes [36] and in contrast to other B-plexins its levels are low prenatally and rise after birth during the period of neurite growth and synaptogenesis. As the subcellular localization of Plexin-B2 and B3 in neurons has not been published, then we performed immunocytochemistry of 21 DIV rat hippocampal neurons with different neuronal markers. This time point was selected as most synapses have matured by then. Plexin-B2 and B3 expression levels varied in different neurons from very weak to moderate. Both were also visible in different MAP2 negative non-neuronal cells consistent with previous Plexin-B3 studies [34,36]. Plexin-B2 expression in glial cells has not been described earlier. Plexin antibody signals were strongest in neuronal cell bodies, diffuse in dendrites and occasionally they were detected also along axons (Fig. 1A). Plexin-B2 was more prominent in the cell soma than Plexin-B3. Immunoreactivity of both plexins exhibited a punctuate distribution along dendrites partially colocalizing with MAP2 (Fig. 1A-C), but surrounding it rather than directly associating with it. When we compared the localization of these puncta with synaptic markers, no significant overlap was detected (Fig. 1B and C). Generally strong signals of plexins and synaptic proteins excluded each other, on rare occasions colocalization with presynaptic markers Synaptophysin1 and GAD65 could be observed. In conclusion, Plexin-B2 and B3 proteins appear in dendrites as puncta along the dendritic shaft, but there is no enrichment in synaptic compartments. Such extrasynaptic localization in dendrites has also been observed in the case of Plexin-A2, Plexin-A3, Sema5A [11] and Sema5B [8]. In C. elegans neurons PLX-1 is localized to dendrites as well as to the proximal and distal axons, but is largely absent from the synaptic domain [30]. Plexin-A1, Plexin-B1 and Sema4D have a different distribution, being enriched in the postsynaptic density fraction [11,22,21], and Sema7A colocalizes with inhibitory synapses [38]. However, many of these results are based on subcellular fractionation studies and the precise localization of proteins with immunocytochemistry has not been determined.

B-plexins are negative regulators of excitatory synapses

Axon targeting and synaptic specificity are regulated by a combination of different molecular signals that can compensate each other. Loss of function experiments often fail to show any effects on synaptogenesis whereas experiments using gain of function are frequently more informative [39]. Therefore, we chose the strategy of overexpressing the intracellular domains of B-plexins, which is known to functionally mimic ligand-activated full-length plexins [40]. Rat hippocampal neurons were transfected at 16 DIV and analysed at 21 DIV. pEGFP was cotransfected to detect plexin overexpressing single neurons. All checked GFP-expressing neurons were also positive for B-plexin staining indicating efficient coexpression. Also



Fig. 1 – Plexin-B2 and B3 expression in hippocampal neurons. Pseudocoloured confocal images of 21 DIV rat hippocampal cultures labelled with anti-Plexin-B2 or anti-Plexin-B3 antibody (yellow) plus the specified marker (magenta). (A) Plexin-B2 and B3 localize to neuron cell bodies and puncta along the dendrites labelled with MAP2. Maximum intensity projections of confocal images, scale bars 20 μm. (B) Co-immunolabelling with Plexin-B2 and synaptic markers: Synaptophysin1 (presynaptic), PSD95 (excitatory postsynaptic), GAD65 (inhibitory presynaptic) or gephyrin (inhibitory postsynaptic) demonstrated minimal colocalization with Plexin-B2. Single confocal slices of 0.8 μm are presented, scale bar 5 μm. (C) Same as (B), but with Plexin-B3.



Fig. 2 – B-plexins inhibit the formation of excitatory synapses. (A) Representative images of rat hippocampal axon sections transfected with different B-plexin intracellular domain (IC) constructs at 16 DIV and fixed at 21 DIV. Pseudocoloured maximum projections of confocal images labelled with anti-Synaptophysin1 antibody (magenta) to visualize the presynaptic side of synapses. Anti-EGFP signal was used to mark axon boundaries, scale bar 5 μ m. (C) Same as in A, but with anti-PSD95 and dendrite segments are presented. (B,D) Quantification of Synaptophysin1 volume from A and PSD95 volume from C normalized to the mean value of the control group. The results are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments. Cell numbers analysed are denoted on the bars. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.01, glm.

the expression levels of different plexins and B3IC mutants were comparable (Supplementary Fig. 2). First, we assessed the impact of B-plexins on excitatory synapses. For that we analysed axons of glutamatergic neurons stained with presynaptic marker Synaptophysin1 or dendrites stained with postsynaptic marker PSD95. All three B-plexins significantly reduced the amount of excitatory synapses (Fig. 2). Overall our results agree with the study performed by Kuzirian and colleagues [20], who described a transient decrease of glutamatergic synapses in response to Sema4D. The reasons for the difference in the duration of the negative effect may lie in experimental strategy and time frame. Treatment with Sema4D activates plexins for a certain period, while our plexin constructs are constantly active. Our results do not agree with that of Lin and colleagues [26], who observed an increase in dendritic spine density, that generally is considered to reflect the number of excitatory synapses, upon PlexinB1 activation with Sema4D. Given the naturally occurring large variation in hippocampal neuron morphology and spine density, these results should be handled with caution, as the number of analysed neurons in their study was very small. The observed inhibitory effect of plexins on glutamatergic synapses is in agreement with multiple studies where the addition of semaphorins has been shown to reduce the number of synapses, or depletion of semaphorins has led to excessive formation of dendritic spines or excitatory synapses. Such observations have been made in case of class 3 semaphorins whose signals are mediated by A or D class plexins [7,10,9], and Sema5A and Sema5B that use A-plexins as receptors [11,8,41].

We further studied which domain of the intracellular part of Plexin-B3 is responsible for the reduction of glutamatergic synapses (Fig. 3). Neither RasGAP domain mutation (Δ RasGAPII



Fig. 3 – Interaction with microtubule end binding proteins is required for Plexin-B3 to inhibit the formation of excitatory synapses. (A) Representative images of rat hippocampal axon sections transfected with different Plexin-B3 intracellular domain mutants at 16 DIV and fixed at 21 DIV. Pseudocoloured maximum projections of confocal images labelled with anti-Synaptophysin1 antibody (magenta) to visualize synapses. Anti-EGFP signal was used to mark axon boundaries, scale bar 5 μ m. (D) Same as in A, but anti-PSD95 was used to mark postsynaptic densities in dendrites. (B,E) Quantification of synapse volume from A and D normalized to the mean value of the control group. The results are the means ± s.e.m. of three independent experiments. Analysed cell numbers are denoted on the bars. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, glm. (C) Diagram illustrating Plexin-B3 intracellular region deletion and point mutation constructs with N-terminal 3xFLAGtag. Relevant protein domains are indicated on top. TM - transmembrane domain, NTS - N-terminal segment, RasGAP - Ras GTPase activating protein, RhoBD - Rho GTPase binding domain, PDZ-BM-PDZ-binding motif.



Fig. 4 – Plexin-B1 and B3 facilitate inhibitory synapse formation. (A) Representative images of rat hippocampal neuron bodies transfected with different B-plexin intracellular domain (IC) constructs at 16 DIV and fixed at 21 DIV. Pseudocoloured maximum projections of confocal images labelled with anti-GAD65 antibody (magenta) to visualize inhibitory synapses and anti-EGFP (yellow), scale bar 5 μ m. (C) Same as in (A), but with Plexin-B3IC mutants. (B,D) Quantification of synapse volume from A and C normalized to the mean value of the control group. The results are the means \pm s.e.m. of three independent experiments. Analysed cell numbers are denoted on the bars. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, glm.

and $\triangle RasGAPII+\Delta C$) nor the mutations interfering with Rho GTPase regulation ($\triangle RhoBD$ and $\triangle RasGAPII+\Delta C$) affected synapse elimination. Independence of RasGAP domain was surprising as its requirement for dendritic spine regulation has been shown in case of Plexin-A2 [11] and for synaptic tiling by *C. elegans* PLX-1

[30]. We found that Plexin-B3 mutants Δ NTS and SxIPmut, that are defective for microtubule end protein EB3 binding, were unable to reduce the volume of PSD95 (Fig. 3E), and SxIP mutant also the volume of Synaptophysin1 (Fig. 3B). Previously, we have shown that Plexin-B3 regulates microtubule dynamics and

dendrite growth through EB-proteins [32]. EB3 is required for normal dendritic spine and synapse formation [42], and PSD95 is able to interact with EB3 [43]. It could be suggested that Plexin-B3 sequesters EB3 from its other interaction partners and thus interferes with its positive role in stabilizing postsynaptic structures in dendritic spines. That in turn leads to disassembly of the synapse and dissociation of presynaptic compartment as well. As Plexin-B2 does not interact with EB3 then it has to use alternative signalling pathways. Overall, our results indicate that activated Bplexins reduce the number of glutamatergic synapses and in the case of Plexin-B3 regulation of microtubule dynamics is involved in this process.

Intracellular domains of Plexin-B1 and B3 promote the formation of inhibitory synapses

To determine how different B-plexins influence GABAergic synapse formation, we over-expressed the intracellular domains of Plexin-B1, B2 and B3 in hippocampal neurons as described above. It has been shown that Plexin-B1 is absolutely necessary for mediating the positive Sema4D signals in inhibitory synapse assembly [20]. Sema4D caused an increase in GABAergic synapse density onto both the soma and dendrites of glutamatergic neurons and the absence of Plexin-B1 abrogated this phenomenon. As technically it is easier to count and measure the synapses around the cell soma, we focused on neuron bodies, based on the fact that Sema4D-induced inhibitory synapse formation is not dependent on subcellular localization [20]. The constructs used in this work mimic semaphorin-activated plexins and therefore we expected that Plexin-B1IC over-expression would enhance the formation of GABAergic synapses. That was indeed the case (Fig. 4A and B). Our results show that Plexin-B1IC and Plexin-B3IC, but not Plexin-B2IC, acted in a positive manner on inhibitory synapses.

In contrast to excitatory synapse formation, EB-binding does not seem to be of crucial importance for Plexin-B3IC as the SxIP mutant was still able to increase the volume of inhibitory synapses (Fig. 4C and D). Activation of plexin RasGAP domain and Rho GTPases are necessary for the process. RasGAP activity is probably inhibited in Δ NTS mutant due to impaired dimerization of Plexin-B3IC. Mutants Δ RasGAPII and Δ RasGAPII+ Δ C do not have functional RasGAP domains either. Rho GTPase regulation is perturbed in Δ RhoBD and Δ RasGAPII+ Δ C. Behaviour of these mutants did not differ significantly from negative control. Taken together, Plexin-B3 positively regulates GABAergic synapse density and downstream signalling cascades involve Rap GTPase as well as Rho GTPase activity regulation.

Surprisingly Plexin-B2 did not influence inhibitory synapse assembly and it could not be explained by the difference in binding to EB proteins. In contrast to Plexin-B1IC and B3IC, Plexin-B2IC has an effect on cell morphology inducing the growth of elongated protrusions in fibroblasts as well as hippocampal neurons, and it participates in cell migration [21]. This indicates that functionally B-plexins differ from each other. We do not know whether Plexin-B2 has different specificity towards Ras subfamily GTPases as direct RasGAP activity has been measured for all plexins but B2 and B3 [28]. On the level of primary structure the GAP domain of Plexin-B2 is similar to Plexin-B1 with some substitutions, which may lead to differences in binding to various Ras family GTPases. Largest variability between our B-plexin constructs lies in the transmembrane and Rho binding domains. As the transmembrane domain of Plexin-B2 contains residues that do not favour dimer formation it has been suggested that its activation mechanisms are different from Plexin-B1 and B3 [44]. Besides, Rnd1 may be the reason behind the contradictory role of Plexin-B2 in regulating inhibitory synapses. Plexin-B1 and B3 interact with Rnd1 [40, and personal unpublished observations]. The Rnd1-binding loop in the RhoBD of Plexin-B2 is substantially different from other B-plexins and thus likely does not interact with Rnd1. Rnd1 is highly expressed during synaptogenic period in the brain and localizes to dendritic membranes as distinct puncta [45], and may participate in inhibitory synapse formation.

The pattern of connections between neurons determines the functionality of the brain. Where exactly synapses form, is regulated by a multitude of molecular pathways, many of which remain to be characterized. The role of axon guidance proteins, including semaphorins and plexins in synaptogenesis is an emerging theme in molecular neurobiology. In summary, we have provided a detailed description of Plexin-B2 and B3 localization in hippocampal neurons that favours the in cis semaphorin-plexin signalling model in regulating synapse formation and disassembly. Based on literature and our current results it can be concluded that plexins are located in dendrites mostly extrasynaptically and mediate inhibitory signals of semaphorins to avoid excitatory synapse formation in wrong places. At the same time Plexin-B1 and B3 promote the formation of inhibitory synapses further regulating the balance of excitation and inhibition. Future experiments will be required to clarify the in vivo importance of B-plexins in establishing and maintaining synaptic balance.

Acknowledgments

We thank I. Koppel for help with neuron culture, H. Paves for assistance with microscopy, and T. Päll and R. Tamme for revising the manuscript.

This work was supported by Estonian Ministry of Education and Research Grant 0140143 and Competence Centre for Cancer Research (CCCR) (Grant no. EU30013).

Appendix A. Supporting information

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2015.05.007.

REFERENCES

- [1] A.L. Kolodkin, D.J. Matthes, T.P. O'Connor, N.H. Patel, A. Admon, D. Bentley, et al., Fasciclin IV: sequence, expression, and function during growth cone guidance in the grasshopper embryo, Neuron 9 (1992) 831–845.
- [2] A.L. Kolodkin, D.J. Matthes, C.S. Goodman, The semaphorin genes encode a family of transmembrane and secreted growth cone guidance molecules, Cell 75 (1993) 1389–1399.
- [3] R.J. Pasterkamp, Getting neural circuits into shape with semaphorins, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13 (2012) 605–618, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nrn3302.

- [4] V.A. Kulkarni, B.L. Firestein, The dendritic tree and brain disorders, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 50 (2012) 10–20, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mcn.2012.03.005.
- [5] L.N. van de Lagemaat, B. Nijhof, D.G.M. Bosch, M. Kohansal-Nodehi, S. Keerthikumar, J.A. Heimel, Age-related decreased inhibitory vs. excitatory gene expression in the adult autistic brain, Front. Neurosci. 8 (2014) 394, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/ fnins.2014.00394.
- [6] F. Bouzioukh, G. Daoudal, J. Falk, D. Debanne, G. Rougon, V. Castellani, Semaphorin3A regulates synaptic function of differentiated hippocampal neurons, Eur. J. Neurosci. 23 (2006) 2247–2254, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006.04783.x.
- [7] T.S. Tran, M.E. Rubio, R.L. Clem, D. Johnson, L. Case, M. Tessier-Lavigne, et al., Secreted semaphorins control spine distribution and morphogenesis in the postnatal CNS, Nature 462 (2009) 1065–1069, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature08628.
- [8] T.P. O'Connor, K. Cockburn, W. Wang, L. Tapia, E. Currie, S.X. Bamji, Semaphorin 5B mediates synapse elimination in hippocampal neurons, Neural Dev. 4 (2009) 18, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1186/1749-8104-4-18.
- [9] J.B. Ding, W.-J. Oh, B.L. Sabatini, C. Gu, Semaphorin 3E-Plexin-D1 signaling controls pathway-specific synapse formation in the striatum, Nat. Neurosci. 15 (2012) 215–223, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nn.3003.
- [10] G.P. Demyanenko, V. Mohan, X. Zhang, L.H. Brennaman, K.E.S. Dharbal, T.S. Tran, et al., Neural cell adhesion molecule NrCAM regulates Semaphorin 3F-induced dendritic spine remodeling, J. Neurosci. Off, J. Soc. Neurosci. 34 (2014) 11274–11287. 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1774-14.2014.
- [11] Y. Duan, S.-H. Wang, J. Song, Y. Mironova, G.-L. Ming, A.L. Kolodkin, et al., Semaphorin 5A inhibits synaptogenesis in early postnatal- and adult-born hippocampal dentate granule cells, eLife. (2014)http://dx.doi.org/10.7554/eLife.04390.
- [12] M. Melin, B. Carlsson, H. Anckarsater, M. Rastam, C. Betancur, A. Isaksson, et al., Constitutional downregulation of SEMA5A expression in autism, Neuropsychobiology 54 (2006) 64–69, http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000096040.
- [13] L.A. McInnes, A. Nakamine, M. Pilorge, T. Brandt, P. Jiménez González, M. Fallas, et al., A large-scale survey of the novel 15q24 microdeletion syndrome in autism spectrum disorders identifies an atypical deletion that narrows the critical region, Mol. Autism 1 (2010) 5, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-1-5.
- [14] J.P. Hussman, R.-H. Chung, A.J. Griswold, J.M. Jaworski, D. Salyakina, D. Ma, et al., A noise-reduction GWAS analysis implicates altered regulation of neurite outgrowth and guidance in autism, Mol. Autism 2 (2011) 1, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/ 2040-2392-2-1.
- [15] S. Suda, K. Iwata, C. Shimmura, Y. Kameno, A. Anitha, I. Thanseem, et al., Decreased expression of axon-guidance receptors in the anterior cingulate cortex in autism, Mol. Autism 2 (2011) 14, http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-2-14.
- [16] H. Hannachi, S. Mougou, I. Benabdallah, N. Soayh, N. Kahloul, N. Gaddour, et al., Molecular and phenotypic characterization of ring chromosome 22 in two unrelated patients, Cytogenet. Genome Res. 140 (2013) 1–11, http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000350785.
- [17] S. Paradis, D.B. Harrar, Y. Lin, A.C. Koon, J.L. Hauser, E.C. Griffith et al., An RNAi-based approach identifies molecules required for glutamatergic and GABAergic synapse development, Neuron 53 (2007) 217–232, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.12.012.
- [18] S. Inagaki, Y. Ohoka, H. Sugimoto, S. Fujioka, M. Amazaki, H. Kurinami, et al., Sema4c, a transmembrane semaphorin, interacts with a post-synaptic density protein, PSD-95, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 9174–9181, http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M009051200.
- [19] C. Burkhardt, M. Müller, A. Badde, C.C. Garner, E.D. Gundelfinger, A.W. Püschel, Semaphorin 4B interacts with the post-synaptic density protein PSD-95/SAP90 and is recruited to synapses

through a C-terminal PDZ-binding motif, FEBS Lett. 579 (2005) 3821–3828, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2005.05.079.

- [20] M.S. Kuzirian, A.R. Moore, E.K. Staudenmaier, R.H. Friedel, S. Paradis, The class 4 semaphorin Sema4D promotes the rapid assembly of GABAergic synapses in rodent hippocampus, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 33 (2013) 8961–8973, http://dx. doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0989–13.2013.
- [21] S. Deng, A. Hirschberg, T. Worzfeld, J.Y. Penachioni, A. Korostylev, J.M. Swiercz, et al., Plexin-B2, but not Plexin-B1, critically modulates neuronal migration and patterning of the developing nervous system in vivo, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci 27 (2007) 6333–6347, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5381-06.2007.
- [22] A. Hirschberg, S. Deng, A. Korostylev, E. Paldy, M.R. Costa, T. Worzfeld, et al., Gene deletion mutants reveal a role for semaphorin receptors of the plexin-B family in mechanisms underlying corticogenesis, Mol. Cell. Biol. 30 (2010) 764–780, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01458-09.
- [23] P. Fazzari, J. Penachioni, S. Gianola, F. Rossi, B.J. Eickholt, F. Maina, et al., Plexin-B1 plays a redundant role during mouse development and in tumour angiogenesis, BMC. Dev. Biol. 7 (2007) 55 0.1186/1471-213X-7-55.
- [24] T. Worzfeld, P. Rauch, K. Karram, J. Trotter, R. Kuner, S. Offermanns, Mice lacking Plexin-B3 display normal CNS morphology and behaviour, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 42 (2009) 372–381, http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2009.08.008.
- [25] A.J. Raissi, E.K. Staudenmaier, S. David, L. Hu, S. Paradis, Sema4D localizes to synapses and regulates GABAergic synapse development as a membrane-bound molecule in the mammalian hippocampus, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 57 (2013) 23–32, http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.mcn.2013.08.004.
- [26] X. Lin, M. Ogiya, M. Takahara, W. Yamaguchi, T. Furuyama, H. Tanaka, et al., Sema4D-plexin-B1 implicated in regulation of dendritic spine density through RhoA/ROCK pathway, Neurosci. Lett. 428 (1–6). (2007)http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.09.045.
- [27] C. Siebold, E.Y. Jones, Structural insights into semaphorins and their receptors, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 24 (2013) 139–145, http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.11.003.
- [28] Y. Wang, H. He, N. Srivastava, S. Vikarunnessa, Y. Chen, J. Jiang et al., Plexins are GTPase-activating proteins for Rap and are activated by induced dimerization, Sci. Signal. . (2012)http://dx. doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2002636 ra6..
- [29] Z. Xie, R.L. Huganir, P. Penzes, Activity-dependent dendritic spine structural plasticity is regulated by small GTPase Rap1 and its target AF-6, Neuron 48 (2005) 605–618, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.09.027.
- [30] K. Mizumoto, K. Shen, Interaxonal interaction defines tiled presynaptic innervation in *C. elegans*, Neuron 77 (2013) 655–666, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.12.031.
- [31] P. Vodrazka, A. Korostylev, A. Hirschberg, J.M. Swiercz, T. Worzfeld, S. Deng, et al., The semaphorin 4D-plexin-B signalling complex regulates dendritic and axonal complexity in developing neurons via diverse pathways, Eur. J. Neurosci 30 (2009) 1193–1208, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06934.x.
- [32] P. Laht, M. Otsus, J. Remm, A. Veske, B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendrite morphology of hippocampal neurons, Exp. Cell Res. 326 (2014) 174–184, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.06.005.
- [33] P. Laht, K. Pill, E. Haller, A. Veske, Plexin-B3 interacts with EBfamily proteins through a conserved motif, Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 2012 (1820) 888–893, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. bbagen.2012.02.007.
- [34] C. Hartwig, A. Veske, S. Krejcova, G. Rosenberger, U. Finckh, Plexin B3 promotes neurite outgrowth, interacts homophilically, and interacts with Rin, BMC Neurosci. 6 (2005) 53, http://dx.doi. org/10.1186/1471-2202-6-53.
- [35] K. Ohta, S. Takagi, H. Asou, H. Fujisawa, Involvement of neuronal cell surface molecule B2 in the formation of retinal plexiform layers, Neuron 9 (1992) 151–161.

- [36] T. Worzfeld, A.W. Püschel, S. Offermanns, R. Kuner, Plexin-B family members demonstrate non-redundant expression patterns in the developing mouse nervous system: an anatomical basis for morphogenetic effects of Sema4D during development, Eur. J. Neurosci. 19 (2004) 2622–2632, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.0953-816X.2004.03401.x.
- [37] M. Zielonka, J. Xia, R.H. Friedel, S. Offermanns, T. Worzfeld, A systematic expression analysis implicates Plexin-B2 and its ligand Sema4C in the regulation of the vascular and endocrine system, Exp. Cell Res. 316 (2010) 2477–2486, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.05.007.
- [38] I. Carcea, S.B. Patil, A.J. Robison, R. Mesias, M.M. Huntsman, R.C. Froemke, et al., Maturation of cortical circuits requires Semaphorin 7A, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111 (2014) 13978–13983, http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1408680111.
- [39] D.J. Matthes, H. Sink, A.L. Kolodkin, C.S. Goodman, Semaphorin II can function as a selective inhibitor of specific synaptic arborizations, Cell 81 (1995) 631–639.
- [40] I. Oinuma, H. Katoh, M. Negishi, Molecular dissection of the semaphorin 4D receptor plexin-B1-stimulated R-Ras GTPaseactivating protein activity and neurite remodeling in hippocampal neurons, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 24 (2004) 11473– 11480, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3257-04.2004.

- [41] R.L. Matsuoka, O. Chivatakarn, T.C. Badea, I.S. Samuels, H. Cahill, K.-I. Katayama, et al., Class 5 transmembrane semaphorins control selective Mammalian retinal lamination and function, Neuron 71 (2011) 460–473, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. neuron.2011.06.009.
- [42] J. Jaworski, L.C. Kapitein, S.M. Gouveia, B.R. Dortland, P.S. Wulf, I. Grigoriev, et al., Dynamic microtubules regulate dendritic spine morphology and synaptic plasticity, Neuron 61 (2009) 85–100, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.013.
- [43] E.S. Sweet, M.L. Previtera, J.R. Fernández, E.I. Charych, C.-Y. Tseng, M. Kwon, et al., PSD-95 alters microtubule dynamics via an association with EB3, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci 31 (2011) 1038–1047, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1205-10.2011.
- [44] L. Zhang, A. Polyansky, M. Buck, Modeling transmembrane domain dimers/trimers of plexin receptors: implications for mechanisms of signal transmission across the membrane, PLoS One 10 (2015) e0121513, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0121513.
- [45] Y. Ishikawa, H. Katoh, M. Negishi, A role of Rnd1 GTPase in dendritic spine formation in hippocampal neurons, J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 23 (2003) 11065–11072.
Supplementary figures for Laht et al 2015



Supplementary figure 1 – Plexin-B3 antibody specificity in immunocytochemistry (ICC). Pseudocoloured single slices of confocal images of cells labelled with anti-Plexin-B3 antibody (yellow) plus cotransfected mCherry (magenta). Scale bars 20 µm. (A) Full-length human Plexin-B3 was overexpressed in 293FT fibroblasts. Cells were fixed with PFA and methanol and stained with anti-Plexin-B3 1:500 as described in Materials and Methods. Images were acquired with 100x oil immersion objective. Specific signal could be observed in the cytoplasm and membranes of Plexin-B3 overexpressing cells. (B) Rat hippocampal neurons were cotransfected with Plexin-B3 siRNA or control siRNA and pmCherry at 3 DIV and fixed at 9 DIV. ICC was performed as described. Plexin-B3 signal is significantly weaker in neurons treated with Plexin-B3 siRNA when compared to control siRNA treated neurons.



Supplementary figure 2 – Expression control of different plexin intracellular domain constructs. (A) ICC of overexpressed intracellular domains of different B-plexins and (B) Plexin-B3IC mutants in rat hippocampal neurons. Pseudocoloured single slices of confocal images of neurons labelled with anti-FLAG antibody (magenta) and GFP (yellow). Scale bars 20 μ m. Neurons were cotransfected with pEGFP and indicated plexin constructs in p3xFLAG at 13 DIV and fixed at 15 DIV. Images were acquired with 63x oil immersion objective. The expression levels of different plexins and subcellular localization were similar to each other. (C) 293FT fibroblasts were transfected with indicated plexin intracellular domain constructs in p3xFLAG. Cells were lysed one day post transfection and subjected to western blot with anti-FLAG antibody. Anti-actin was used in parallel as loading control.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Andres Veske for the initial idea of this work and providing the space, facilities and support throughout the years. Hopefully his patience has finally paid off.

Heiti Paves showed me the way to the wonderful world of fluorescence microscopy. When you see something in live cells with your own eyes, it definitely gives a totally new perspective on molecular biology. A great part of my work relies on microscopy and image analysis, and it could not have been done without Heiti and his advice. He also urged me to take part in microscopy courses that have proven to be extremely beneficial for me.

I would like to thank Indrek Koppel for introducing me the art of neuron culture and providing assistance in that aspect whenever I needed.

The field of biostatistics has obtained a meaning for me thanks to Pille Pata, my sister Silja and Jaanus.

My very special thanks go to Maarja Otsus and Epp Tammaru for helping me to acquire and work through the piles of neuron images and conduct all the other experiments that came to my mind. Kaie Pill performed the yeast twohybrid screen that formed the foundation of my thesis. I thank Liivi Tiismus for keeping up the spirits in the lab with anecdotes and scientific humour and her constructive criticism.

The people in the Neurolab led by Tõnis Timmusk have always inspired me with their warm atmosphere, encouraging remarks and fruitful discussions.

My dear coursemates from University of Tartu have shown me that there is life outside the lab and helped me regain my self confidence.

I want to thank all my ancestors for providing me such good genes and all my teachers through the years who have shown me that everything can be fascinating if you go deep enough. I would like to highlight my first supervisors Ann Kilk and Lilian Järvekülg.

Last but not least, my greatest gratitude goes to my family who have enabled me a long and happy childhood and a supportive home.

ABSTRACT

Development and functioning of the central nervous system is a complicated multilevel task where different processes have to be well co-ordinated. Plexins are a family of transmembrane receptors of semaphorins that in mammals have nine members: A1-A4, B1-B3, C1 and D1. They were discovered as axon guidance molecules, but it has become evident that plexins participate in all stages of brain development.

The general aim of my thesis was to find new interaction partners and signalling pathways for Plexin-B3, as its functions remained obscure. Yeast twohybrid screen revealed that the intracellular part of Plexin-B3 forms complexes with microtubule end binding proteins EB1 and EB3. Further studies confirmed that the EB-homology domain interacts with the N-terminal segment (NTS) of Plexin-B3 intracellular domain that contains the conserved EB-binding motif SxIP. As EBs hold a central position in regulating microtubule plus-end dynamics we hypothesized that plexins influence microtubule growth. For that microtubule tips were labelled with EB3-GFP and monitored in live cells. Overexpression of Plexin-B1 and B3 that can bind to EBs induced more catastrophes and pauses. The ligand of Plexin-B1. Semaphorin 4D acted in a similar manner. In contrast, Plexin-B2 and Plexin-B3 ANTS mutant that do not bind EBs accelerated microtubule growth rate. Balance between dynamics and elongation of microtubules is important for dendrite growth as well as synaptogenesis. The role of B-plexins was systematically assessed in those processes in rat hippocampal neurons. With immunocytochemistry we determined that Plexin-B2 and B3 proteins localize in neurons mainly to the cell body and dendrites but are not especially enriched in synapses. It was found out that all three B-plexins are needed for normal dendrite growth and they act in a co-operative manner. In synaptogenesis overexpression of B-plexins had a negative effect on the formation of glutamatergic excitatory synapses, and Plexin-B1 and B3 promoted the formation of GABAergic inhibitory synapses. In the case of Plexin-B3 binding to EBs was involved in reducing excitatory synapses and regulation of Ras and Rho GTPases was of importance for the increase in inhibitory synapse volumes.

Taken together, these results show that Plexin-B3 binds to EB-family proteins through the SxIP motif, B-plexins influence microtubule tip dynamics, and are connected to dendrite growth and formation of synapses. This study significantly elaborates the knowledge of the role of Plexin-B3 and other B-plexins in neurons.

KOKKUVÕTE

Inimese aju on imeline elund. Selle arenguks ja toimimiseks on vajalik erinevate molekulaarsete signaaliradade koostöö. Pleksiinid on rakupinna retseptorvalkude perekond, mille ligandid on semaforiinid ning nad osalevad närvisüsteemi arengu kõigis etappides. Juba pikka aega on teada, et semaforiinide lisamine põhjustab närvirakkude tsütoskeleti ehk rakutoese muutusi, kuid millised on selle nähtuse molekulaarsed tagamaad, on paljuski ebaselge. Rakutoes on pidevas liikumises, et võimaldada rakkudel paljuneda, sihipäraselt rännata ja kasvatada jätkeid.

Minu erilise tähelepanu pälvisid B-pleksiinid, iseäranis pleksiin-B3. Käesoleva doktoritöö eesmärgiks oli välja selgitada pleksiin-B3-e rakusisese osaga seonduvaid uusi valke ja nende interaktsioonide mõju närvirakkude arengule. Pärmi kaksikhübriidsüsteemi abil tuvastasime kaks seni teadmata seondujat – mikrotorukeste otsaga haakuvad valgud EB1 ja EB3. Alternatiivsete meetoditega tõestasime, et EB-d seovad veel pleksiin-A2-e ja pleksiin-B1-e, kuid mitte pleksiin-B2-e. Järjestuste võrdlemise ja mutantide abil ilmnes, et EBd kinnituvad pleksiin-B3-e rakusisese osa alguses olevale SxIP motiivile, mis on iseloomulik paljudele EB-dega seonduvatele valkudele.

Kuna EB valgud on olulised mikrotorukeste kasvu mõjutavad tegurid, siis jälgisime elus rakkudes EB3-GFP liikumist erinevate pleksiinide juuresolekul. EB-dega seonduvad pleksiin-B1 ja B3 põhjustasid mikrotorukeste otste sagedasemat peatumist ja kahanemist. Sarnane mõju oli ka pleksiin-B1 ligandi Semaforiin4D lisamisel roti neuronitele. Kui pleksiin-B3-l oli EB-dega ühenduv ala eemaldatud, siis ta kiirendas mikrotorukeste kasvu nagu pleksiin-B2.

Mikrotorukeste liikuvus on oluline närvirakkude arengus nii jätkete kasvatamisel kui ka hiljem rakkudevaheliste ühenduste, sünapsite, küpsemisel. Pleksiin-B2 ja B3 valgud paiknevad roti hippokampuse rakkudes põhiliselt närvirakkude kehas. Märkimisväärne osa pleksiinidest on koondunud põõsasjätketessse (dendriitidesse), kuid ei kattu sünapsitega. B-pleksiinide valgutasemete alandamine RNA vaigistamise teel põhjustas roti hippokampuse närvirakkude põõsasjätkete lühenemist. Nende ületootmine vanemates rakkudes mõjutas sünapsite teket. Kõik B-pleksiinid kahandasid glutamaadi vahendusel toimivate erutussünapsite mahtu, kuid samas pleksiin-B1 ja B3 suurendasid GABA-t tootvate pidurdussünapsite hulka. Pleksiin-B3 puhul seostus erutussünapsite vähenemine EB valkudega, aga pidurdussünapsite tekkel osalesid hoopis Ras ja Rho GTPaase mõjutavad pleksiini osad.

Kokkuvõtvalt võib öelda, et pleksiin-B3 seondub mikrotorukeste otsas olevate EB valkudega. Kõik B-pleksiinid mõjutavad mikrotorukeste dünaamikat ja sellest tulenevalt närvirakkude jätkete kasvu ja sünapsite teket.

CURRICULUM VITAE

First name: PIRET Surname: LAHT Date of birth: 21.03.1979 Nationality: Estonian E-mail: piret.laht@ttu.ee

Education

2003-2015 Tallinn University of Technology Ph.D studies in gene technology 2001-2003 Tallinn University of Technology, M.Sc in gene technology Master thesis *"Substitution of Four Conserved Amino Acids in Potato Virus A Coat Protein"*, supervisor Lilian Järvekülg.

1997-2001 University of Tartu, B.Sc in molecular biology and genetics *cum laude*

1986-1997 Tallinn Secondary School No.44, graduated with honours

Research and professional experience

2012-... Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, engineer

2005-2014 Competence Centre for Cancer Research, research scientist

2008 March - 2008 June Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, engineer

2002-2005 National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, laboratory of molecular genetics, engineer

Languages: Estonian – native English – fluent

Russian – basic German – basic

Honours/awards

2000 Estonian Students Support Foundation in the USA, Elsa D. and Edgar J. Mathiesen scholarship

2002 Estonian Gene Center, Artur Lind scholarship

2002 Rotalia Foundation, Gerhard Treuberg scholarship

Courses and conferences

October 2014: Estonian Society of Human Genetics conference; Otepää, Estonia. Oral presentation *Plexins, microtubules and neurons*.

October 2013: European Molecular Biology Organization workshop "Semaphorin function and mechanism of action"; Cernay-la-Ville, France. Poster presentation *B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendritiegrowth via EB-proteins*.

May 2012: European Molecular Biology Organization conference "Microtubules: Structure, Regulation and Functions"; Heidelberg, Germany. Poster presentation *Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif.*

May 2010: The Fluorescence Education Center, practical course "Principles of Fluorescence Techniques"; Madrid, Spain. Poster presentation *Plexin-B3 interacts with microtubule end binding proteins*.

May 2008: The Graduate School of Molecular Medicine, course "Fundamentals of Modern Histology"; Kuopio, Finland

January 2006: Recherches Scientifiques Luxembourg conference "Cell Signaling World 2006: Signal Transduction Pathways as Therapeutic Targets"; Kirchberg, Luxembourg

June 2005: International Brain Research Organization, course in neuroscience; Tallinn, Estonia

Theses supervised:

- Jekaterina Strižak, Master thesis "*Regulation of Ras Family GTPase Rin Activity*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2013.
- Philipp Zazulin, Master thesis "*Plexin and Plakin Interactions*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2013.
- Epp Tammaru, Master thesis "*Transcriptional Regulation of Human Plexin B3*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2010.
- Merle Kampura, Master thesis "Formation and Dynamics of Lactic Acid Bacterial Communities in Open Texture Cheeses". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2009.
- Elina Haller, Master thesis "*Microtubule End-Binding (EB) Family Proteins Interaction with Receptor Plexin B3*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2008.
- Liivi Tiismus, Master thesis "*Characterization of mouse and rat plexin-B3 promoters*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2007.
- Merlin Everst, Bachelor thesis "*Microtubule End-Binding Protein EB3 Interacts with Receptor-Protein Tyrosine Kinase TrkB*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2014.
- Liisi Kink, Bachelor thesis "*The Influence of Semaphorin 4G on Dendritic Growth of Rat Hippocampal Neurons*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2014.
- Kristiina Kuningas, Bachelor thesis "Cloning and Characterization of Small GTPase Rin Phosphomutants". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2014.

- Kadri Antik, Bachelor thesis "*Plexins as Ras GTPase Activating Proteins*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2012.
- Gethe Riis, Bachelor thesis "Interaction of Plexin B3 and BTB/POZ Domain Containing Protein BTBD3". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2010.
- Liisi Blank, Bachelor thesis "Characterization of Bacillus sp. Isolated from Estonian Farm Milk". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2007.
- Merle Kampura, Bachelor thesis "Characterization of Pseudomonas sp. Isolated from Estonian Farm Milk". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2007.
- Epp Tammaru, Bachelor thesis "*Characterization of Human Plexin B3 Promoter*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2007.
- Elina Haller, Bachelor thesis "Small GTPase Rin interaction with Bplexins". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2006.
- Christine Einula, Bachelor thesis "*GTPase hRin in the Signal Transduction Pathway of Receptor Plexin-B3*". Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Gene Technology, 2005.

Publications:

- Laht P, Tammaru E, Otsus M, Rohtla J, Tiismus L, Veske A. Plexin-B3 suppresses excitatory and promotes inhibitory synapse formation in rat hippocampal neurons. Exp Cell Res. 2015 Jul 15;335(2):269-78.
- Laht P, Otsus M, Remm J, Veske A. B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendrite morphology of hippocampal neurons. Exp Cell Res. 2014 Aug 1;326(1):174-84.
- Laht P, Pill K, Haller E, Veske A. Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Jul;1820(7):888-93.
- Tiismus L, Laht P, Otsus M, Veske A. Identification and characterization of mouse plexin B3 promoter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008 Oct 10;375(1):11-5.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Eesnimi: PIRET Perekonnanimi: LAHT Sünnikuupäev: 21.03.1979 Rahvus: eesti E-mail: piret.laht@ttu.ee

Haridus

2003-2015 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, matemaatika-loodusteaduskond, geenitehnoloogia doktorantuur

2001-2003 Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, keemia/matemaatika-loodusteaduskond, M.Sc. kraad geenitehnoloogia erialal, magistritöö teema "Nelja konserveerunud aminohappe asendamine kartuliviirus A kattevalgus", juhendaja Lilian Järvekülg 1997-2001 Tartu Ülikool, bioloogia-geograafiateaduskond, B.Sc. kraad molekulaarbioloogia ja geneetika erialal *cum laude* 1986-1997 Tallinna 44. Keskkool, kuldmedal

Töökogemus

2012-... Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, insener 2005-2014 Vähiuuringute Tehnoloogia Arenduskeskus AS, teadur 2008 märts - 2008 juuni Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, insener 2002-2005 Keemilise ja Bioloogilise Füüsika Instituudi (KBFI) molekulaargeneetika labor, insener

Keeleoskus: eesti - emakeel inglise - kõrgtase vene - algtase saksa - algtase

Tunnustused

2002 Eesti Geenikeskus, Artur Linnu nimeline stipendium 2002 Rotalia Fond, Gerhard Treubergi nimeline stipendium 2000 Eesti Üliõpilaste Toetusfond USA-s, Elsa D. ja Edgar J. Mathieseni nimeline stipendium

Kursused ja konverentsid

Oktoober 2014: Eesti Inimesegeneetika Ühingu konverents; Otepää, Estonia; suuline ettekanne *Pleksiinid, mikrotuubulid ja neuronid.*

Oktoober 2013: EMBO (*European Molecular Biology Organization*) töötuba "Semaforiinide funktsioonid ja toimemehhanismid"; Cernay-la-Ville, Prantsusmaa. Posterettekanne *B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendrite growth via EB-proteins*.

Mai 2012: EMBO *(European Molecular Biology Organization)* konverents "Mikrotuubulid: struktuur, regulatsioon ja funktsioonid"; Heidelberg, Saksamaa. Posterettekanne *Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif.*

Mai 2010: *The Fluorescence Education Center*, praktiline kursus "Fluorestsentsmeetodite põhimõtted"; Madriid, Hispaania. Posterettekanne *Plexin-B3 interacts with microtubule end binding proteins*.

Mai 2008: Molekulaarmeditsiini doktorikool (*The Graduate School of Molecular Medicine*), loengukursus "Kaasaegse histoloogia alused"; Kuopio, Soome

Jaanuar 2006: *Recherches Scientifiques Luxembourg*, konverents "Signaaliülekanderajad kui ravimite märklauad"; Kirchberg, Luksemburg

Juuni 2005: IBRO (International Brain Research Organization), neuroteaduste kursus; Tallinn, Eesti

Juhendatud lõputööd

- Jekaterina Strižak, magistritöö "*Regulation of Ras Family GTPase Rin Activity*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2013.
- Philipp Zazulin, magistritöö "*Plexin and Plakin Interactions*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2013.
- Epp Tammaru, magistritöö *"Transcriptional Regulation of Human Plexin B3"*. Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2010.
- Merle Kampura, magistritöö *"Formation and Dynamics of Lactic Acid Bacterial Communities in Open Texture Cheeses"*. Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2009.
- Elina Haller, magistritöö "*Microtubule End-Binding (EB) Family Proteins Interaction with Receptor Plexin B3*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2008.
- Liivi Tiismus, magistritöö "*Characterization of mouse and rat plexin-B3 promoters*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2007.
- Merlin Everst, bakalaureusetöö "*Mikrotuubuli otsa seostuva valgu EB3 ja türosiinkinaas retseptori TrkB interaktsioon*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2014.
- Liisi Kink, bakalaureusetöö "Semaforiin 4G mõju roti hippokampuse neuronite dendriitide kasvule". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2014.
- Kristiina Kuningas, bakalaureusetöö "Väikese GTPaasi Rin fosfomutantide kloneerimine ja iseloomustamine". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2014.
- Kadri Antik, bakalaureusetöö "*Pleksiinid kui Ras GTPaasi aktiveerivad valgud*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2012.

- Gethe Riis, bakalaureusetöö "*BTB/POZ domääni sisaldava BtbD3 valgu interaktsioon pleksiin B3-ga*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2010.
- Liisi Blank, bakalaureusetöö "*Eesti piimafarmide piimast eraldatud Bacillus sp. iseloomustamine*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2007.
- Merle Kampura, bakalaureusetöö *"Eesti piimafarmide piimast eraldatud Pseudomonas sp. iseloomustamine"*. Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2007.
- Epp Tammaru, bakalaureusetöö "Inimese pleksiin B3 promootori iseloomustamine". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2007.
- Elina Haller, bakalaureusetöö "Väikese GTPaasi Rin interakteerumine Brühma pleksiinidega". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2006.
- Christine Einula, bakalaureusetöö "*GTPaas hRin retseptori pleksiin-B3 signaaliülekanderajas*". Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Geenitehnoloogia Instituut, 2005.

Publikatsioonid

- Laht P, Tammaru E, Otsus M, Rohtla J, Tiismus L, Veske A. Plexin-B3 suppresses excitatory and promotes inhibitory synapse formation in rat hippocampal neurons. Exp Cell Res. 2015 Jul 15;335(2):269-78.
- Laht P, Otsus M, Remm J, Veske A. B-plexins control microtubule dynamics and dendrite morphology of hippocampal neurons. Exp Cell Res. 2014 Aug 1;326(1):174-84.
- Laht P, Pill K, Haller E, Veske A. Plexin-B3 interacts with EB-family proteins through a conserved motif. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Jul;1820(7):888-93.
- Tiismus L, Laht P, Otsus M, Veske A. Identification and characterization of mouse plexin B3 promoter. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008 Oct 10;375(1):11-5.

DISSERTATIONS DEFENDED AT TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES

1. Olav Kongas. Nonlinear Dynamics in Modeling Cardiac Arrhytmias. 1998.

2. Kalju Vanatalu. Optimization of Processes of Microbial Biosynthesis of Isotopically Labeled Biomolecules and Their Complexes. 1999.

3. Ahto Buldas. An Algebraic Approach to the Structure of Graphs. 1999.

4. **Monika Drews**. A Metabolic Study of Insect Cells in Batch and Continuous Culture: Application of Chemostat and Turbidostat to the Production of Recombinant Proteins. 1999.

5. **Eola Valdre**. Endothelial-Specific Regulation of Vessel Formation: Role of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. 2000.

6. Kalju Lott. Doping and Defect Thermodynamic Equilibrium in ZnS. 2000.

7. **Reet Koljak**. Novel Fatty Acid Dioxygenases from the Corals *Plexaura homomalla* and *Gersemia fruticosa*. 2001.

8. **Anne Paju**. Asymmetric oxidation of Prochiral and Racemic Ketones by Using Sharpless Catalyst. 2001.

9. Marko Vendelin. Cardiac Mechanoenergetics in silico. 2001.

10. **Pearu Peterson**. Multi-Soliton Interactions and the Inverse Problem of Wave Crest. 2001.

11. Anne Menert. Microcalorimetry of Anaerobic Digestion. 2001.

12. **Toomas Tiivel**. The Role of the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane in *in vivo* Regulation of Respiration in Normal Heart and Skeletal Muscle Cell. 2002.

13. **Olle Hints**. Ordovician Scolecodonts of Estonia and Neighbouring Areas: Taxonomy, Distribution, Palaeoecology, and Application. 2002.

14. Jaak Nõlvak. Chitinozoan Biostratigrapy in the Ordovician of Baltoscandia. 2002.

15. Liivi Kluge. On Algebraic Structure of Pre-Operad. 2002.

16. **Jaanus Lass**. Biosignal Interpretation: Study of Cardiac Arrhytmias and Electromagnetic Field Effects on Human Nervous System. 2002.

17. Janek Peterson. Synthesis, Structural Characterization and Modification of PAMAM Dendrimers. 2002.

18. **Merike Vaher**. Room Temperature Ionic Liquids as Background Electrolyte Additives in Capillary Electrophoresis. 2002.

19. Valdek Mikli. Electron Microscopy and Image Analysis Study of Powdered Hardmetal Materials and Optoelectronic Thin Films. 2003.

20. Mart Viljus. The Microstructure and Properties of Fine-Grained Cermets. 2003.

21. **Signe Kask**. Identification and Characterization of Dairy-Related *Lactobacillus*. 2003

22. **Tiiu-Mai Laht**. Influence of Microstructure of the Curd on Enzymatic and Microbiological Processes in Swiss-Type Cheese. 2003.

23. Anne Kuusksalu. 2–5A Synthetase in the Marine Sponge *Geodia cydonium*. 2003.

24. **Sergei Bereznev**. Solar Cells Based on Polycristalline Copper-Indium Chalcogenides and Conductive Polymers. 2003.

25. **Kadri Kriis**. Asymmetric Synthesis of C₂-Symmetric Bimorpholines and Their Application as Chiral Ligands in the Transfer Hydrogenation of Aromatic Ketones. 2004.

26. Jekaterina Reut. Polypyrrole Coatings on Conducting and Insulating Substracts. 2004.

27. Sven Nõmm. Realization and Identification of Discrete-Time Nonlinear Systems. 2004.

28. **Olga Kijatkina**. Deposition of Copper Indium Disulphide Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2004.

29. Gert Tamberg. On Sampling Operators Defined by Rogosinski, Hann and Blackman Windows. 2004.

30. Monika Übner. Interaction of Humic Substances with Metal Cations. 2004.

31. **Kaarel Adamberg**. Growth Characteristics of Non-Starter Lactic Acid Bacteria from Cheese. 2004.

32. Imre Vallikivi. Lipase-Catalysed Reactions of Prostaglandins. 2004.

33. Merike Peld. Substituted Apatites as Sorbents for Heavy Metals. 2005.

34. **Vitali Syritski**. Study of Synthesis and Redox Switching of Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) by Using *in-situ* Techniques. 2004.

35. Lee Põllumaa. Evaluation of Ecotoxicological Effects Related to Oil Shale Industry. 2004.

36. Riina Aav. Synthesis of 9,11-Secosterols Intermediates. 2005.

37. Andres Braunbrück. Wave Interaction in Weakly Inhomogeneous Materials. 2005.

38. Robert Kitt. Generalised Scale-Invariance in Financial Time Series. 2005.

39. **Juss Pavelson**. Mesoscale Physical Processes and the Related Impact on the Summer Nutrient Fields and Phytoplankton Blooms in the Western Gulf of Finland. 2005.

40. **Olari Ilison**. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Media with Higher Order Dispersive and Nonlinear Effects. 2005.

41. Maksim Säkki. Intermittency and Long-Range Structurization of Heart Rate. 2005.

42. Enli Kiipli. Modelling Seawater Chemistry of the East Baltic Basin in the Late Ordovician–Early Silurian. 2005.

43. **Igor Golovtsov**. Modification of Conductive Properties and Processability of Polyparaphenylene, Polypyrrole and polyaniline. 2005.

44. **Katrin Laos**. Interaction Between Furcellaran and the Globular Proteins (Bovine Serum Albumin β -Lactoglobulin). 2005.

45. **Arvo Mere**. Structural and Electrical Properties of Spray Deposited Copper Indium Disulphide Films for Solar Cells. 2006.

46. **Sille Ehala**. Development and Application of Various On- and Off-Line Analytical Methods for the Analysis of Bioactive Compounds. 2006.

47. **Maria Kulp**. Capillary Electrophoretic Monitoring of Biochemical Reaction Kinetics. 2006.

48. Anu Aaspõllu. Proteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom Affecting Hemostasis. 2006.

49. Lyudmila Chekulayeva. Photosensitized Inactivation of Tumor Cells by Porphyrins and Chlorins. 2006.

50. **Merle Uudsemaa**. Quantum-Chemical Modeling of Solvated First Row Transition Metal Ions. 2006.

51. **Tagli Pitsi**. Nutrition Situation of Pre-School Children in Estonia from 1995 to 2004. 2006.

52. **Angela Ivask**. Luminescent Recombinant Sensor Bacteria for the Analysis of Bioavailable Heavy Metals. 2006.

53. **Tiina Lõugas**. Study on Physico-Chemical Properties and Some Bioactive Compounds of Sea Buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.). 2006.

54. **Kaja Kasemets**. Effect of Changing Environmental Conditions on the Fermentative Growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisae* S288C: Auxo-accelerostat Study. 2006.

55. **Ildar Nisamedtinov**. Application of ¹³C and Fluorescence Labeling in Metabolic Studies of *Saccharomyces* spp. 2006.

56. Alar Leibak. On Additive Generalisation of Voronoï's Theory of Perfect Forms over Algebraic Number Fields. 2006.

57. Andri Jagomägi. Photoluminescence of Chalcopyrite Tellurides. 2006.

58. **Tõnu Martma**. Application of Carbon Isotopes to the Study of the Ordovician and Silurian of the Baltic. 2006.

59. Marit Kauk. Chemical Composition of CuInSe₂ Monograin Powders for Solar Cell Application. 2006.

60. **Julia Kois**. Electrochemical Deposition of CuInSe₂ Thin Films for Photovoltaic Applications. 2006.

61. Ilona Oja Açık. Sol-Gel Deposition of Titanium Dioxide Films. 2007.

62. **Tiia Anmann**. Integrated and Organized Cellular Bioenergetic Systems in Heart and Brain. 2007.

63. **Katrin Trummal**. Purification, Characterization and Specificity Studies of Metalloproteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom. 2007.

64. **Gennadi Lessin**. Biochemical Definition of Coastal Zone Using Numerical Modeling and Measurement Data. 2007.

65. **Enno Pais**. Inverse problems to determine non-homogeneous degenerate memory kernels in heat flow. 2007.

66. Maria Borissova. Capillary Electrophoresis on Alkylimidazolium Salts. 2007.

67. Karin Valmsen. Prostaglandin Synthesis in the Coral *Plexaura homomalla*: Control of Prostaglandin Stereochemistry at Carbon 15 by Cyclooxygenases. 2007.

68. **Kristjan Piirimäe**. Long-Term Changes of Nutrient Fluxes in the Drainage Basin of the Gulf of Finland – Application of the PolFlow Model. 2007.

69. **Tatjana Dedova**. Chemical Spray Pyrolysis Deposition of Zinc Sulfide Thin Films and Zinc Oxide Nanostructured Layers. 2007.

70. Katrin Tomson. Production of Labelled Recombinant Proteins in Fed-Batch Systems in *Escherichia coli*. 2007.

71. Cecilia Sarmiento. Suppressors of RNA Silencing in Plants. 2008.

72. Vilja Mardla. Inhibition of Platelet Aggregation with Combination of Antiplatelet Agents. 2008.

73. **Maie Bachmann**. Effect of Modulated Microwave Radiation on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2008.

74. **Dan Hüvonen**. Terahertz Spectroscopy of Low-Dimensional Spin Systems. 2008.

75. Ly Villo. Stereoselective Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of Deoxy Sugar Esters Involving *Candida antarctica* Lipase B. 2008.

76. **Johan Anton**. Technology of Integrated Photoelasticity for Residual Stress Measurement in Glass Articles of Axisymmetric Shape. 2008.

77. **Olga Volobujeva**. SEM Study of Selenization of Different Thin Metallic Films. 2008.

78. Artur Jõgi. Synthesis of 4'-Substituted 2,3'-dideoxynucleoside Analogues. 2008.

79. **Mario Kadastik**. Doubly Charged Higgs Boson Decays and Implications on Neutrino Physics. 2008.

80. **Fernando Pérez-Caballero**. Carbon Aerogels from 5-Methylresorcinol-Formaldehyde Gels. 2008.

81. **Sirje Vaask**. The Comparability, Reproducibility and Validity of Estonian Food Consumption Surveys. 2008.

82. **Anna Menaker**. Electrosynthesized Conducting Polymers, Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene), for Molecular Imprinting. 2009.

83. Lauri Ilison. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Hierarchical Korteweg-de Vries Type Systems. 2009.

84. **Kaia Ernits**. Study of In₂S₃ and ZnS Thin Films Deposited by Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolysis and Chemical Deposition. 2009.

85. **Veljo Sinivee**. Portable Spectrometer for Ionizing Radiation "Gammamapper". 2009.

86. **Jüri Virkepu**. On Lagrange Formalism for Lie Theory and Operadic Harmonic Oscillator in Low Dimensions. 2009.

87. Marko Piirsoo. Deciphering Molecular Basis of Schwann Cell Development. 2009.

88. **Kati Helmja**. Determination of Phenolic Compounds and Their Antioxidative Capability in Plant Extracts. 2010.

89. **Merike Sõmera**. Sobemoviruses: Genomic Organization, Potential for Recombination and Necessity of P1 in Systemic Infection. 2010.

90. Kristjan Laes. Preparation and Impedance Spectroscopy of Hybrid Structures Based on CuIn₃Se₅ Photoabsorber. 2010.

91. **Kristin Lippur**. Asymmetric Synthesis of 2,2'-Bimorpholine and its 5,5'-Substituted Derivatives. 2010.

92. **Merike Luman**. Dialysis Dose and Nutrition Assessment by an Optical Method. 2010.

93. **Mihhail Berezovski**. Numerical Simulation of Wave Propagation in Heterogeneous and Microstructured Materials. 2010.

94. Tamara Aid-Pavlidis. Structure and Regulation of BDNF Gene. 2010.

95. Olga Bragina. The Role of Sonic Hedgehog Pathway in Neuro- and Tumorigenesis. 2010.

96. Merle Randrüüt. Wave Propagation in Microstructured Solids: Solitary and Periodic Waves. 2010.

97. **Marju Laars**. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Michael and Aldol Reactions Mediated by Cyclic Amines. 2010.

98. **Maarja Grossberg**. Optical Properties of Multinary Semiconductor Compounds for Photovoltaic Applications. 2010.

99. **Alla Maloverjan**. Vertebrate Homologues of Drosophila Fused Kinase and Their Role in Sonic Hedgehog Signalling Pathway. 2010.

100. **Priit Pruunsild**. Neuronal Activity-Dependent Transcription Factors and Regulation of Human *BDNF* Gene. 2010.

101. **Tatjana Knjazeva**. New Approaches in Capillary Electrophoresis for Separation and Study of Proteins. 2011.

102. Atanas Katerski. Chemical Composition of Sprayed Copper Indium Disulfide Films for Nanostructured Solar Cells. 2011.

103. **Kristi Timmo.** Formation of Properties of CuInSe₂ and Cu₂ZnSn(S,Se)₄ Monograin Powders Synthesized in Molten KI. 2011.

104. **Kert Tamm**. Wave Propagation and Interaction in Mindlin-Type Microstructured Solids: Numerical Simulation. 2011.

105. Adrian Popp. Ordovician Proetid Trilobites in Baltoscandia and Germany. 2011.

106. **Ove Pärn**. Sea Ice Deformation Events in the Gulf of Finland and This Impact on Shipping. 2011.

107. Germo Väli. Numerical Experiments on Matter Transport in the Baltic Sea. 2011.

108. Andrus Seiman. Point-of-Care Analyser Based on Capillary Electrophoresis. 2011.

109. **Olga Katargina**. Tick-Borne Pathogens Circulating in Estonia (Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus, *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, *Babesia* Species): Their Prevalence and Genetic Characterization. 2011.

110. **Ingrid Sumeri**. The Study of Probiotic Bacteria in Human Gastrointestinal Tract Simulator. 2011.

111. Kairit Zovo. Functional Characterization of Cellular Copper Proteome. 2011.

112. **Natalja Makarytsheva**. Analysis of Organic Species in Sediments and Soil by High Performance Separation Methods. 2011.

113. **Monika Mortimer**. Evaluation of the Biological Effects of Engineered Nanoparticles on Unicellular Pro- and Eukaryotic Organisms. 2011.

114. **Kersti Tepp**. Molecular System Bioenergetics of Cardiac Cells: Quantitative Analysis of Structure-Function Relationship. 2011.

115. Anna-Liisa Peikolainen. Organic Aerogels Based on 5-Methylresorcinol. 2011.

116. Leeli Amon. Palaeoecological Reconstruction of Late-Glacial Vegetation Dynamics in Eastern Baltic Area: A View Based on Plant Macrofossil Analysis. 2011.

117. **Tanel Peets**. Dispersion Analysis of Wave Motion in Microstructured Solids. 2011.

118. Liina Kaupmees. Selenization of Molybdenum as Contact Material in Solar Cells. 2011.

119. Allan Olspert. Properties of VPg and Coat Protein of Sobemoviruses. 2011.

120. Kadri Koppel. Food Category Appraisal Using Sensory Methods. 2011.

121. **Jelena Gorbatšova**. Development of Methods for CE Analysis of Plant Phenolics and Vitamins. 2011.

122. **Karin Viipsi**. Impact of EDTA and Humic Substances on the Removal of Cd and Zn from Aqueous Solutions by Apatite. 2012.

123. **David Schryer**. Metabolic Flux Analysis of Compartmentalized Systems Using Dynamic Isotopologue Modeling. 2012.

124. Ardo Illaste. Analysis of Molecular Movements in Cardiac Myocytes. 2012.

125. **Indrek Reile**. 3-Alkylcyclopentane-1,2-Diones in Asymmetric Oxidation and Alkylation Reactions. 2012.

126. **Tatjana Tamberg**. Some Classes of Finite 2-Groups and Their Endomorphism Semigroups. 2012.

127. **Taavi Liblik**. Variability of Thermohaline Structure in the Gulf of Finland in Summer. 2012.

128. Priidik Lagemaa. Operational Forecasting in Estonian Marine Waters. 2012.

129. Andrei Errapart. Photoelastic Tomography in Linear and Non-linear Approximation. 2012.

130. **Külliki Krabbi**. Biochemical Diagnosis of Classical Galactosemia and Mucopolysaccharidoses in Estonia. 2012.

131. **Kristel Kaseleht**. Identification of Aroma Compounds in Food using SPME-GC/MS and GC-Olfactometry. 2012.

132. **Kristel Kodar**. Immunoglobulin G Glycosylation Profiling in Patients with Gastric Cancer. 2012.

133. Kai Rosin. Solar Radiation and Wind as Agents of the Formation of the Radiation Regime in Water Bodies. 2012.

134. Ann Tiiman. Interactions of Alzheimer's Amyloid-Beta Peptides with Zn(II) and Cu(II) Ions. 2012.

135. **Olga Gavrilova**. Application and Elaboration of Accounting Approaches for Sustainable Development. 2012.

136. **Olesja Bondarenko**. Development of Bacterial Biosensors and Human Stem Cell-Based *In Vitro* Assays for the Toxicological Profiling of Synthetic Nanoparticles. 2012.

137. **Katri Muska**. Study of Composition and Thermal Treatments of Quaternary Compounds for Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2012.

138. **Ranno Nahku**. Validation of Critical Factors for the Quantitative Characterization of Bacterial Physiology in Accelerostat Cultures. 2012.

139. **Petri-Jaan Lahtvee**. Quantitative Omics-level Analysis of Growth Rate Dependent Energy Metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis*. 2012.

140. **Kerti Orumets**. Molecular Mechanisms Controlling Intracellular Glutathione Levels in Baker's Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and its Random Mutagenized Glutathione Over-Accumulating Isolate. 2012.

141. Loreida Timberg. Spice-Cured Sprats Ripening, Sensory Parameters Development, and Quality Indicators. 2012.

142. Anna Mihhalevski. Rye Sourdough Fermentation and Bread Stability. 2012.

143. Liisa Arike. Quantitative Proteomics of *Escherichia coli*: From Relative to Absolute Scale. 2012.

144. Kairi Otto. Deposition of In_2S_3 Thin Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2012.

145. **Mari Sepp**. Functions of the Basic Helix-Loop-Helix Transcription Factor TCF4 in Health and Disease. 2012.

146. **Anna Suhhova**. Detection of the Effect of Weak Stressors on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2012.

147. **Aram Kazarjan**. Development and Production of Extruded Food and Feed Products Containing Probiotic Microorganisms. 2012.

148. **Rivo Uiboupin**. Application of Remote Sensing Methods for the Investigation of Spatio-Temporal Variability of Sea Surface Temperature and Chlorophyll Fields in the Gulf of Finland. 2013.

149. Tiina Kriščiunaite. A Study of Milk Coagulability. 2013.

150. **Tuuli Levandi**. Comparative Study of Cereal Varieties by Analytical Separation Methods and Chemometrics. 2013.

151. **Natalja Kabanova**. Development of a Microcalorimetric Method for the Study of Fermentation Processes. 2013.

152. Himani Khanduri. Magnetic Properties of Functional Oxides. 2013.

153. **Julia Smirnova**. Investigation of Properties and Reaction Mechanisms of Redox-Active Proteins by ESI MS. 2013.

154. Mervi Sepp. Estimation of Diffusion Restrictions in Cardiomyocytes Using Kinetic Measurements. 2013.

155. **Kersti Jääger**. Differentiation and Heterogeneity of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. 2013.

156. Victor Alari. Multi-Scale Wind Wave Modeling in the Baltic Sea. 2013.

157. **Taavi Päll**. Studies of CD44 Hyaluronan Binding Domain as Novel Angiogenesis Inhibitor. 2013.

158. Allan Niidu. Synthesis of Cyclopentane and Tetrahydrofuran Derivatives. 2013.

159. Julia Geller. Detection and Genetic Characterization of *Borrelia* Species Circulating in Tick Population in Estonia. 2013.

160. **Irina Stulova**. The Effects of Milk Composition and Treatment on the Growth of Lactic Acid Bacteria. 2013.

161. Jana Holmar. Optical Method for Uric Acid Removal Assessment During Dialysis. 2013.

162. **Kerti Ausmees**. Synthesis of Heterobicyclo[3.2.0]heptane Derivatives *via* Multicomponent Cascade Reaction. 2013.

163. **Minna Varikmaa**. Structural and Functional Studies of Mitochondrial Respiration Regulation in Muscle Cells. 2013.

164. Indrek Koppel. Transcriptional Mechanisms of BDNF Gene Regulation. 2014.

165. **Kristjan Pilt**. Optical Pulse Wave Signal Analysis for Determination of Early Arterial Ageing in Diabetic Patients. 2014.

166. **Andres Anier**. Estimation of the Complexity of the Electroencephalogram for Brain Monitoring in Intensive Care. 2014.

167. **Toivo Kallaste**. Pyroclastic Sanidine in the Lower Palaeozoic Bentonites – A Tool for Regional Geological Correlations. 2014.

168. **Erki Kärber**. Properties of ZnO-nanorod/In₂S₃/CuInS₂ Solar Cell and the Constituent Layers Deposited by Chemical Spray Method. 2014.

169. Julia Lehner. Formation of Cu₂ZnSnS₄ and Cu₂ZnSnSe₄ by Chalcogenisation of Electrochemically Deposited Precursor Layers. 2014.

170. **Peep Pitk**. Protein- and Lipid-rich Solid Slaughterhouse Waste Anaerobic Codigestion: Resource Analysis and Process Optimization. 2014.

171. **Kaspar Valgepea**. Absolute Quantitative Multi-omics Characterization of Specific Growth Rate-dependent Metabolism of *Escherichia coli*. 2014.

172. Artur Noole. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Synthesis of 3,3'-Disubstituted Oxindoles. 2014.

173. **Robert Tsanev**. Identification and Structure-Functional Characterisation of the Gene Transcriptional Repressor Domain of Human Gli Proteins. 2014.

174. **Dmitri Kartofelev**. Nonlinear Sound Generation Mechanisms in Musical Acoustic. 2014.

175. **Sigrid Hade**. GIS Applications in the Studies of the Palaeozoic Graptolite Argillite and Landscape Change. 2014.

176. **Agne Velthut-Meikas**. Ovarian Follicle as the Environment of Oocyte Maturation: The Role of Granulosa Cells and Follicular Fluid at Pre-Ovulatory Development. 2014.

177. **Kristel Hälvin**. Determination of B-group Vitamins in Food Using an LC-MS Stable Isotope Dilution Assay. 2014.

178. **Mailis Päri**. Characterization of the Oligoadenylate Synthetase Subgroup from Phylum Porifera. 2014.

179. Jekaterina Kazantseva. Alternative Splicing of *TAF4*: A Dynamic Switch between Distinct Cell Functions. 2014.

180. **Jaanus Suurväli**. Regulator of G Protein Signalling 16 (RGS16): Functions in Immunity and Genomic Location in an Ancient MHC-Related Evolutionarily Conserved Synteny Group. 2014.

181. **Ene Viiard**. Diversity and Stability of Lactic Acid Bacteria During Rye Sourdough Propagation. 2014.

182. Kristella Hansen. Prostaglandin Synthesis in Marine Arthropods and Red Algae. 2014.

183. **Helike Lõhelaid**. Allene Oxide Synthase-lipoxygenase Pathway in Coral Stress Response. 2015.

184. **Normunds Stivrinš**. Postglacial Environmental Conditions, Vegetation Succession and Human Impact in Latvia. 2015.

185. **Mary-Liis Kütt**. Identification and Characterization of Bioactive Peptides with Antimicrobial and Immunoregulating Properties Derived from Bovine Colostrum and Milk. 2015.

186. **Kazbulat Šogenov**. Petrophysical Models of the CO₂ Plume at Prospective Storage Sites in the Baltic Basin. 2015.

187. **Taavi Raadik**. Application of Modulation Spectroscopy Methods in Photovoltaic Materials Research. 2015.

188. **Reio Põder**. Study of Oxygen Vacancy Dynamics in Sc-doped Ceria with NMR Techniques. 2015.

189. **Sven Siir**. Internal Geochemical Stratification of Bentonites (Altered Volcanic Ash Beds) and its Interpretation. 2015.

190. **Kaur Jaanson**. Novel Transgenic Models Based on Bacterial Artificial Chromosomes for Studying BDNF Gene Regulation. 2015.